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Chairman’s Statement
FEERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
The net profit for the year was approximately HK$33.6 million
(2024: net loss of approximately HK$70.7 million).

During the year under review, the hotel hospitality business
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$25.4 million (2024:
approximately HK$22.5 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$3.1 million (2024: approximately HK$1.8
million).

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had loans receivable with gross
principal amount of approximately HK$146.9 million (2024
approximately HK$146.9 million) with related gross interest
receivables of approximately HK$95.4 million for the year
ended 30 June 2025 (2024: approximately HK$82.2 million).
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Chairman’s Statement
FEERE

The money lending business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$1.2 million (2024: approximately HK$1.0
million). The segment loss was mainly resulted from the
impairment 10ss on loans receivable.

The revenue of the liquor and wine business for the year
ended 30 June 2025 was approximately HK$0.3 million
(2024 approximately HK$2.2 million) and a segment loss
of approximately HK$0.2 million was recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2025 (2024: segment gain of approximately
HK$1.2 million). The Group had continually source the
customers to sell the inventories during the year.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere appreciation to our staff
for their dedication and commitment as well as to our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers and other business
partners for their support and encouragement to the Group
in the past year.

WONG Siu Keung Joe
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 September 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S Hh

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group was engaged in four business
segments, (i) hotel hospitality business; (ii) provision of money
lending services; (iii) trading and distribution of liquor and
wine; and (iv) investments in listed securities.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s operations recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$34.0 million (2024:
approximately HK$31.3 million). The net profit for the
year ended 30 June 2025 was approximately HK$33.6
million (2024: net loss of approximately HK$70.7 million)
while the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$33.6 million (2024: loss of
approximately HK$70.7 million). Basic earnings per share was
approximately 6.42 HK cent (2024: Adjusted basic loss per
share of approximately 13.53 HK cent). The net profit for the
year was mainly attributable to: (i) The absence of loss on
derecognition of other receivables of approximately HK$23.0
million; (ii) the absence of the net deficit on revaluation of
investment properties of approximately HK$1.4 million; and
(iii) the fair value gain of approximately HK$35.1 million as
compared with the fair value loss of approximately HK$41.5
million reported for the financial year 2024 in respect of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Hotel hospitality business

During the year, the hotel hospitality business recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$25.4 million (2024:
approximately HK$22.5 million) and a segment loss of
approximately HK$3.1 million (2024: approximately HK$1.8
million).

Hotel hospitality business is the core business of the Group
which contributed approximately 75% of the Group's revenue
for the year ended 30 June 2025. The hotel, One Niseko
Resort Towers (the “Resort Towers”), is located in the famous
Japanese skiing destination of Niseko, Hokkaido, Japan.
Niseko is one of the famous ski resort areas in Japan and is
well known for its heavy light powder snow and spectacular
backcountry. The Resort Towers consists of 110 units of high-
end accommodation and has an onsen with an indoor and
outdoor bath. It attracts many tourists from world-wide for
skiing in the winter time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWE S Hh

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the
management had engaged an independent qualified valuer
(the “"Hotel Valuer”) to determine the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit of the hotel hospitality business (the
“Hotel Hospitality Business CGU"). For the sake of prudence,
the management had further engaged another independent
qualified valuer to conduct an independent review of the
valuation report issued by the Hotel Valuer on the valuation
methodology and key valuation parameters. Both valuers are
members of Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and with
extensive experience in valuation of properties. In assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit of the
hotel hospitality business as at 30 June 2025, the fair value
less cost of disposal method was adopted, in which is higher
than the result of value-in-use calculation and is based on
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
sales of similar transactions in the market.

Based on the assessment result, no impairment 10ss on
property, plant and equipment was recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2025.

As at the end of each financial year, the Company was
required to assess any indication that its assets and/or cash
generating unit may be impaired (i.e. the carrying amount
may be higher than the recoverable amount). Recoverable
amount is the higher of the assets’ or the cash generating
unit’s value-in-use and fair value less cost of disposal. The
value-in-use is developed under the income approach while
the fair value less cost of disposal is developed based on
direct comparison approach with reference to the recent
sales transaction evidences for similar premises in the
proximity. Comparable transactions vary along the change in
valuation date.

Direct comparison method under market approach is
considered to be the most popular and common valuation
approach in valuing the property. Moreover, income
approach has been indirectly adopted from the business
perspective in the calculation of the value-in-use of the Hotel
Hospitality Business CGU. Thus, direct comparison method is
adopted for valuing the fair value of property.

RRETBEHRRE  EEEZE 2B
BERMGEER (DB GER]) B EEE K
FEBRELBML (NEERGEBRS
ELEBM]) 2 T KREBERE - REEHER -
BEEE-—FZEZ—RBUSERMEE
B BA B 5 (AR L 2 RERS S kb
BIERTEBHELZ2BETHILES - &
EHEMAREBERFFTIEMSZSS
B EVERGHESTEEAEELR - N
BMBERFEEREELAEMNR_F_A
FRAZTHEZAKODEEE  ERARQ
FEBOERARTE  ZHE/ERBNE
REBTEER  AUEELBUERER -
WHEMS FREUR S 2T RHEE -

REFHEER BERBEE_FT_AFRX
AZTHLFERRME BFERKRER
BEE-

REVRFER NARARANEHEEE
R,/ B & B & B ] e R E A
PR EVEEEANESRAIKREEEE) < 7
W ecHeREXRCELEMNERE
BEAFERLERKAME LRSS - &
REEAEAEFERL - M2 FER G
EXRARAB R LBOEL 2 Z T EUD
EHOHEER S BERFERL - A&
B FEZGERREB Mk -

MISE TN ERLBOARR /YW EMEEN
REBFRMEETE U RAEBE
REXBREELBEMNEREER K
NEIEHES AERERAWACE - Bt -
HYMENRAFEETHERCRBERLL
BOE

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF 7



Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S Hh

The key assumption adopted in the fair value less cost of
disposal approach for 30 June 2025 and 2024 was the cost of
disposal which was 3.5% of the market value of the property.
It included the average market rate of brokerage fee and
other miscellaneous administrative and legal costs.

The Company has consistently applied the same methodology
to determine the recoverable amount and the fair value less
cost of disposal was adopted for impairment assessment as
at 30 June 2025 and 2024.

The value-in-use calculation was the estimated future
cash flows discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflected current market assessment
of time value of money and the risk specific to the hotel
hospitality business. The calculation used in cash flow
projections was based on latest financial budgets covering
a period of 5 years with compound average annual growth
rate of revenue of approximately 2% (2024: 2%). The
compound annual growth rate of revenue was determined
with reference to historical revenue in the current year and
the 5-year forecasted revenue taking into account of the
expected number of tourists who would visit Niseko. Due to
the Japanese Government implemented the planned gradual
reopening to inbound tourists in the year, Japan inbound
market has been active. As a result, there was a gradual
increase in the number of visitors to Japan in the year under
review. The revenue growth rate in 2025 was higher than
that in 2024 by approximately 12.8%. The gross profit ratio
of the forecasted period was expected to be approximately
94% (2024. 94%) with reference to the historical record. The
pre-tax discount rate of 21% (2024: 20%) was determined
with reference to the market conditions, such as company
specific risk premium and cost of debt of the hotel hospitality
business. The cash flow projections beyond the 5-year period
are extrapolated using a perpetual growth rate of 2% (2024
2%) which was referred to long-term growth rate of tourism
in Niseko and the long-term inflation rate in Japan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWE S Hh

As at the date of this report, the Group has engaged in
discussions with reputable architects based in both Tokyo
and Hong Kong, each with relevant project experience in
Japan. The Group is reviewing the design proposals, together
with indicative renovation cost estimates, prepared by such
architects and is committed to selecting and engaging the
architect for the Renovation Project by end of September
2025. To support the planned commencement of renovation
works in the second half of 2025, the Group appointed a
local engineering company to conduct a comprehensive
Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing (MEP) inspection,
with the final report scheduled for delivery by the end of
September 2025. Leveraging the findings of the inspection
and the selected design proposal, the Group intends to
engage the contractor, surveyor and engineer with the
objective of commencing renovation works as soon as
possible and well ahead of the next peak season beginning in
November 2025.

This major investment underscores the Group’s commitment
to proactively enhancing the quality and competitiveness of
its hotel assets which will be elevated to a superior standard
in order to compete directly with the premier hotels in its
class within the Niseko area. In parallel, the Group continues
to evaluate acquisition opportunities with sustainable
growth potential, with a view to broadening its portfolio and
strengthening its long-term earnings base.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S Hh

Money lending services

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had loans receivable with gross
principal amount of approximately HK$146.9 million (2024:
approximately HK$146.9 million) with related gross interest
receivables of approximately HK$95.4 million for the year
ended 30 June 2025 (2024: approximately HK$82.2 million).

The loan portfolio comprises loans to Independent Third Party
(as defined below) borrowers with term ranging from eight
months to twenty-four months and interest rate ranged from
8% 10 20% (2024: 8% to 20%) per annum.

The money lending business recorded a segment loss of
approximately HK$1.2 million (2024: approximately HK$1.0
million).

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the
management had engaged an independent qualified valuer
(the "1st ECL Valuer”) to determine the expected credit
losses (the "ECL") of the Group's loans receivable. For the
sake of prudence, the management had further engaged
another independent qualified valuer (“2nd ECL Valuer”)
to conduct an independent review of the valuation report
issued by the 1st ECL Valuer on the valuation methodology,
the underlying assumptions, the parameters and inputs used
in the valuation for accounting purpose. In assessing the
ECL of the Group’s loans receivable, a credit rating analysis
of the underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing the
historical accounting information to estimate the default
risk. The Group applied different expected loss rates to
different classes of receivables according to their respective
risk characteristics. In determining the default risk, factors
including but not limited to, the ageing analysis of the
receivables, the Group’s internal assessment of the debtors'’
credit worthiness, historical and forecast occurrence of event
of default, existence and valuation of the collaterals, the
relevant regulatory framework and government policies in
Hong Kong and global economic outlook in general and the
specific economic condition of Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC"), would be considered. The rate
of ECL ranged to 100% (2024: 100%) depending on the nature,
probability of default and loss given default of the loans
receivable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBFWE S Hh

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its
money lending business which includes compliance with
all applicable laws and regulations, credit assessment on
potential borrower and his/its assets, the credibility of the
potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining collaterals and
determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the risk level
of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed credit risk assessment before
granting the loans by (a) reviewing the financial information
of the potential borrower; and (b) performing an assessment
on the financial condition of the potential borrower and its
shareholder (for enterprises), such as the type and value of
assets owned by the potential borrower.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and
the value of security/collateral for granting of each loan,
whether to an individual or enterprise, on a case by case
basis considering factors, including but not limited to, the
repayment history, results of public search towards the
borrower, the value and location of the assets owned by the
borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

For loan collection/recovery, the Group issues overdue
payment reminder to the borrower, instructs its legal advisers
to issue demand letter for loans overdue for a longer period
of time, negotiates with the borrower for the repayment
or settlement of the loan and/or commences legal actions
against the borrower.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S Hh

Business Model of the Money Lending Service

The Group conducts its money lending business in Hong Kong
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, DeTai Finance Limited
(“DeTai Finance”) which holds a money lender’s licence under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the laws of
Hong Kong). The money lending business is mainly financed
by the internal resources of DeTai Finance.

DeTai Finance grants loans to both corporate and individual
borrowers in Hong Kong whom are person(s) or company(ies)
and their respective ultimate beneficial owner(s) that are third
parties independent of and not connected with the Group
and its connected persons in accordance with the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Independent
Third Party(ies)”). DeTai Finance does not grant loans to the
general consumer market. DeTai Finance has not solicited
new clients nor granted new loans as the management of the
Company, which were mainly in charge of the money lending
business, has changed in the recent few years. As such, the
current management and employees of the Group have been
focused on examining the existing loan portfolio of the Group
and in recovering the outstanding loans, instead of soliciting
new clients or granting new loans.

The Group, when engaging in the money lending service, has
built and maintained a diversified credit risk portfolio to avoid
credit risk concentration. It is the policy of DeTai Finance
that no loan should be made to one borrower or all related
parties of the said borrower where such loan and all loans
aggregated with all related parties would exceed 50% of the
entire loan portfolio of the Group.

BERE 2EBERX
AEEEBEZENBRARREMBAR
NE([RFEBB]) (BHEEREENIE163E
DB AN GDIRE BB AR BR) M & B ETT
HEEXK BEXKIEHERMBL
ABERRERES -

BRHBREBZARREAEEA (RE
FEMERSMAERARESLEMAR ([ L
MR ZFEALTHRARAREZENK
REGEBEADRBUNAEE R HEE
ATHEFEMERENE =77 ([BILF
=D REER - BRMBIEE KRB
EEMBRLER - BHRYBLEREH
EFZRLHEF REARETEREREE
EBARREERROLFERETE - I
- AEEEMZERENRESEEHEIN
AEASE 2 IRAERAS MRERER

s

B MIERERERPIR L ER -

AEBEREEERBE B2 MER
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SEE2MERESZ250% Al TEm— &
EEARLRBEAZHABEEREALR
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Loan Portfolio of the Money Lending Service

As set out above, the Group's loan portfolio includes
individual borrowers and corporate borrowers. The
individual borrowers of the Group were merchants. Whilst
the corporate borrowers of the Group include, but were not
limited to, companies that as at the date of granting the loans
were principally engaged in motor vehicle trading, the gaming
and resort business, investment holding and provision
of corporate supporting services, provision of financial
guarantee services and relevant consultancy services, and/
or were companies whose shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange. Clients were mainly referred to the Group by the
then management of Company.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group’s loan portfolio consisted of
four individual borrowers (2024: four individual borrowers)
and three corporate borrowers and the total outstanding
principal amount and interest receivables amounted to
approximately HK$242,263,000 (2024: HK$229,055,000). The
outstanding principal amount and interest receivables (before
impairment) amounted to approximately HK$76.3 million
(2024: approximately HK$74.8 million) and approximately
HK$216.7 million (2024: approximately HK$205.4 million) for
the top borrower and the top five borrowers respectively,
which represented approximately 31.5% (2024: approximately
32.7%) and approximately 89.4% (2024: approximately 89.7%)
of the total outstanding principal amounts and interest
receivables, respectively.

Amongst the seven loans in the Group’s loan portfolio as at
30 June 2025, (i) one of the loans was secured by collaterals
and a personal guarantee and had an interest rate of 10%; (ii)
two of the loans were secured by a personal guarantee only
and had interest rates of 8% and 20% respectively; and (iii)
the remaining four loans were unsecured and had interest
rates ranging from 10% to 16%. The interest rate of the
relevant loans were determined based on the commercial
interest of the Group as a whole, with reference to, amongst
others, (i) the risk level of the loan (including but not limited
to the availability of collaterals and/or personal guarantees),
(i) the principal amount of the loan; and (iii) the financial
condition of the borrower.

As at 30 June 2025, all outstanding gross loan and interest
receivables had been overdue for over one year.

BERBZERES

M EXFE AKRBEcERES BEE
ABEARRRMEEAN - AEBEZEAR
EARBA-AEEZRARRBEARREE
PERERLERARTERFIEEER -
BERERNES KREZBRRIEHRAT
SRR - 2 (B B 4 OR AR A5 A e 4 R R
FARTS 2 & B &S H IR REk B £
ZAF - BFEBHARAERENRE
REE -

R-B-_RFEANA=1RH KXEBZEXK
HERRUNEZEAAEBEA(ZZE_WMF :
MEBMAEEAN) R=ZZRAREEA > X
EEAR 25 & EIWF B 4 A& 242,263,000
BT (ZF Z P04 229,055,000 7T) ©
BEREEARARBEAZAEERSE
X e W R B CRERT) 9 Bl & 476,300,000
B (ZZE M F : 474,800,000 7% 7T)
N #9216,700,0008 7t (Z T — MM 4F : 4
205,400,000 7T) - HERKREER S B
N W F B D BI431.5% (ZF M4 : 4
32.7%) N #)89.4% (—Z — U4 : #789.7%) °

R-B-RAFERNA=1TH RAEEEXK
HEZEtBEEFRPR \—BEFHER®
NEABREDER  FIEE10E : (W
BEFEABABREDER  FIX55
BSER20E : KiiVgg THIEBEBERY AE
BR FMENTI0OEZ16E - HBEERZ
FMEDIRBEAEBNEEBHENZRLES
Z(HEh el () ERRARKE (BIFEETR
RERG R SREAERZABY (&
RASE L(NEEANTBARREBETE -

R-ZZE-_FAFNA=1+H FIEAEBEE
BB EI A S BB e —F -
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The details regarding the recovery status of the remaining AEBHNERAEAFTH T LHEAEEER
seven outstanding loans in the Group’s loan portfolio is set Y UREIAR R FEIB S A a0 -
out as follows:

Outstanding
principal
amount and
interest
receivables
as at Interest
30 June 2025 rate (per Collateral/

Borrower HK$ annum) security Recovery status as at the date of this report
R-B-EHF
ANA=tHZ
REELREE
REWRFE 4 BHEm/ REAREEHZ
BT BR WEMRR

A 15,808,357 20% Personal  The Group had commenced legal proceedings against
guarantee  borrower A in June 2021. As at the date of this report,
the amended writ has been filed with the High Court of
Hong Kong in July 2025. However, the Group was unable
to successfully serve the amended writ on borrower A
to the address provided by borrower A. After conducting
company search against borrower A, we have another
business address to arrange the service of the amended
writ. But the service of the amended writ to borrower A
has been unsuccessful as result. The Group will continue
to discuss with its legal advisers regarding a feasibility
issue against borrower A.
20E BAAER AEEERZZZ-—F AHBEEAARBEEFD -
RAREBH  BEITSHRERZZ_RFLARES
BEERIRR o A REBREKRNBEBITSARE
EBREAAMRHR 2 - KEEBEEAAETRAEM
& BMNEGS BMEMILARIXELET <M
REMAKDMEEAARELBIT M AEE G #
BEEBERIHEBEAARIEETH AT
EH-

B 10,094,149 16% N/A  The Group had commenced legal proceedings against
borrower B in November 2019 and judgment has been
entered into against borrower B for the outstanding
principal amount and interest accrued thereon. However,
no enforcement action or proceedings had been
commenced as of yet as a judgment handed down by a
Hong Kong court cannot be enforced in the PRC.

168 TEA AEEER-ZE-NFT—AHEEABREEEFL -
BEBEREREEABRREEAR SR LB SIEH
AR R BEB AW RERPETEXFD - RA
BABEREL R FIRTRER P BIEIT
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Outstanding
principal
amount and
interest
receivables
as at

30 June 2025
HK$
R-ZZE-HF
ANA=tHZ
REELXESHE
REWF S
BT

Interest
rate (per
annum)

Collateral/

Borrower security

BEm/
'R

C 76,318,380 8% Personal
guarantee
8 BAER

Recovery status as at the date of this report

REBERABZ
B R R

The Group had engaged legal advisers as to PRC laws
and had instructed them to commence legal proceedings
against borrower B in the PRC. The court of PRC issued
the Investigation Order to proceed checking the status of
the address of China provided by borrower B, which was
not registered by borrower B. This investigation result
has been reported to the Court of PRC and the Group is
pending further procedures.
AEECZREMATEEENEZER  YEBTEKE
R BEHEE ABREEERDL - PEERE B L AL
L EFREEEABRM 2 HBE MU AREE - Ziiut
AEEEABER WHASHERE2HHPEER - K
SEIFFERERFET -

Oon 15 April 2024, borrower C was ordered to be
wound up by the High Court of Hong Kong and the
Official Receiver by virtue of her office has become the
Provisional Liquidator of it. The Board had engaged legal
advisers to take necessary legal actions (i.e. filing a proof
of debts to the Official Receivers etc.) to exercise its rights
as a creditor of borrower C.

RZZE-_MFMA+THA  BEACKEAERZERE
QNER - MBEEEEZERBELBKAERRERA
EXEQCRRARERRDRLENEZETEH (BlRKE
ERZEREREBERAT)  UTEEEREEAC
I IN:OL

As of the date of this report, the bankruptcy is in progress
of judicial procedures.
RABERS  WERFERRADEEFETH -

SECREER « BEFHREEERAT 15



Management Discussion and Analysis

THBWE S Hh

Outstanding
principal
amount and
interest
receivables
as at

30 June 2025
HK$
R-ZZE-HF
ANA=tHZ
REELXESHE
REWF S
BT

Borrower

D 50,175,036

E 15,467,780

Interest
rate (per
annum)

Collateral/
security

BEm/
'R

10% Collaterals
anda
personal
guarantee
BRmR
BAER

102

10% N/A

102 NiE

Recovery status as at the date of this report

REBERABZ
B R R

The Group had commenced legal proceedings against
borrower D, amongst others, in January 2023.

AEEER-F-=F - AHBRAD(Xh o) e
R -

However, the Group had not received any
acknowledgements of service of the writ of summons
from borrower D nor the other defendants. The Group still
continue to discuss with its legal advisers regarding an
application for judgment against borrower D and the other
defendants.

AW AEERARKIEEADKEMBSHERBEA
THREH - AEEKEER L LB RAREHES
ADREMBEELFIANER -

The Group had commenced legal proceedings against
borrower E in November 2020 and as at the date of this
report, such proceedings are still ongoing pending the
provision of outstanding original documents as requested
by the High Court of Hong Kong.

AEEER_T_TF+ - AHBEAEREERFA
RAHERY  ZFDNEETT  UEEERFER
E IR R AR IR R R I8 3 M

The Group had engaged the legal advisers as to PRC laws
and had instructed them to commence legal proceedings
against borrower E in the PRC. As at the date of report,
notarization of documents have been provided to the
Court of PRC for further proceedings.
AEECZREEATEEENEZER  YEBTREE
PP BEHEEAEREERFA - RARSEEH - X
ZRBERFERRPBUERAETRERT o
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Outstanding

principal
amount and
interest
receivables
as at Interest
30 June 2025 rate (per Collateral/
Borrower HK$ annum) security
R-E-HE
AA=t+AZ
REELLE
REWFHE BH@m/
BT BR
F 17,142,658 10% N/A
102 TEA
G 57,256,187 12% N/A
122 NEH

Recovery status as at the date of this report

REBERABZ
B R R

The Group had commenced legal proceedings against
borrower F in November 2020 and an application had
been made for service out of the jurisdiction on borrower
F. However, the Group was unable to successfully serve
the writ of summons on borrower F to the address
provided by borrower F.

AEEECR-_Z_ZF+— HﬂPEAthﬁéﬁ“
I B R ET&aFE%ﬁ%%ALL%m 7S
SEREKNYBREEAFELOERARE f%
AFRRER ML o

The Group had engaged the legal advisers as to PRC laws
and had instructed them to commence legal proceedings
against borrower F in the PRC. As at the date of this report,
the borrower F has applied for a court-appointed judicial
authentication after hearing held in August 2025.

AEBCZREETEEZNEZER  YERTRS
#¢Iﬁ%EAFhi£¢ﬁ“ RARERE B8
}\ F E,E\ —= —ﬁi/\ﬁ E%nlfé&l ﬂﬁ/ilgﬂﬁ EZ T/fu/u ag °

The Group had commenced legal proceedings against
borrower G in November 2020 and an application had
been made for service out of the jurisdiction on borrower
G. However, the Group was unable to successfully serve
the writ of summons on borrower G to the address
provided by borrower G.
AEEER_T_TFE+-AHEEAGRRERY
DAYz Eﬂiaﬁ[%mFEAGLL@%O%ﬁ
AEEREKNBEAEEACELNEATREEERR
B AGRMtH I -

The Group had engaged the legal advisers as to PRC laws
and had instructed them to commence legal proceedings
against borrower G in the PRC. As at the date of this
report, notarization of documents have been provided to
the Court of PRC for further proceedings.

AEECZREATEEENERZER  YEBREE
F#Iﬁﬁ%AGhi%@ﬁﬂoﬁ$ﬁ%H%'ﬁﬁ

RBREFERIPBERIAETERERT ©
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, in respect of
the outstanding loan to borrower D which was secured by
collaterals and a personal guarantee, the collaterals may
have been realised by the joint lender to borrower D. The
Group is seeking advice from its legal advisers as to any
courses of actions to be taken by the Group to recover the
Group's respective share of the amount of the collaterals
realised from the joint lender.

As to the two outstanding loans which were secured by
personal guarantees, the Group is assessing the conditions
of the relevant guarantors and will seek advice from its legal
advisers regarding whether to commence legal proceedings
against the relevant guarantors.

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its
money lending business which includes compliance with
all applicable laws and regulations, credit assessment on
potential borrower and his/its assets, the credibility of the
potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining collaterals and
determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the risk level
of the provision of loan.

The Group has performed credit risk assessment before
granting the loans by (a) reviewing the financial information
of the potential borrower; and (b) performing an assessment
on the financial condition of the potential borrower and its
shareholder (for enterprises), such as the type and value of
assets owned by the potential borrower.

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and
the value of security/collateral for granting of each loan,
whether to an individual or enterprise, on a case by case
basis considering factors, including but not limited to, the
repayment history, results of public search towards the
borrower, the value and location of the assets owned by the
borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

For loan collection/recovery, the Group issues overdue
payment reminder to the borrower, instructs its legal advisers
to issue demand letter for loans overdue for a longer period
of time, negotiates with the borrower for the repayment
or settlement of the loan and/or commences legal actions
against the borrower.

BEEELUAEERRMAM 2%
KHE(S - s o S (@ AR IEH B R
MEEADMAREBEEERME BEEMR
AFIREE KRB RERTEEAD - AEE
IERRBUE T E) MBS ERA U B A&
BoREEERRERESREEZBEEER -

ERHEABREERORBEREZER
A& B IEERFEBBERAGR - I
ELHERERAREERFASRKE
ERERNER -

ARECRMNEERRERAEERTH
BRETHEERIERESR HEEE
BEAARHEE BEBEANAEREE
ETEEFE  ERERROLBEUR
ETa@i xR RREHEHEERNER
KF e

AEBRELERA D ETEERRE -
TERQBEMEBEEEEANPBHER:
EOVHBEEEARERR (EEME)
R IR E TR - Bl B E R B A
BRMEERE MEE-

AEBEZE (BEENRR) &R
HEBEANETAREANGER (EEAM
BEEENBERULEAREE AN
ARRFERER TR E RO EEF A
FORERDBZEER (ERETEASLDE)
B Z M R R A (B E -

REFKE WRME AEEREEA
BHBARMFBNE BREARBER
ERHEBAPERFLERBNE HER
AFERBIBFEETETHE R HEHE
EUNGIEVIESoEIK
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Credit Assessment Procedures of the Money Lending
Service

Before the granting of the loans, DeTai Finance would
perform credit assessment procedures to ensure that the
potential borrowers have good credit history, available assets
and strong repayment capabilities. DeTai Finance will conduct
the following credit assessment procedures:

(i) obtain identity documents such as identity cards or
passports from individuals and corporate documents
from corporate borrowers;

(i)  assess the financial condition of the potential borrower
by valuing their financial assets; and

(i)  perform internet and media searches on the potential
borrower.

Recovery Procedures of the Group for Overdue Loans
When dealing with overdue loans, the accounting staff, one
senior financing officer and the management level executive
of DeTai Finance are responsible for following up on overdue
sums owed by borrowers who have not made repayment
accordingly. Once a loan has been granted by DeTai
Finance, a designated officer of DeTai Finance will monitor
the repayment of the principal amount of the loan and the
interests accrued thereon in accordance with the terms of
the loan agreement. In the circumstances where a borrower
has defaulted on a loan and in line with the Group's loan
collection/recovery procedures, DeTai Finance and the Group
have promptly taken appropriate actions to recover the
outstanding principal amounts and interests, which include
but is not limited to:

(

) negotiating repayment terms and methods with the
borrowers;

(i) issuing payment reminders,;

(i) issuing demand letters from the Group’s legal advisers
from time to time; and

(iv) commencing legal proceedings.

BEBRE2EFEFERF

REHERA - BRMBHETEEN G
BF UEREBEEEAEARIEER

Bk A REEKRBAMNERES - EHRH
BHETA T EEFERER
0} BEMERXE  MEAABHDESR

‘s‘é/ﬁi’\»(& AfEE AR R

(ih BBAUEBEEEANEBREELTH
B FHEEMBIOR © &

(i) HBEBEAETEBME KBRS -

rEEAHERZKWERF

BIEBPERE ERUEZETAE
—ZERUBEAEREEERANOITHA
EBEREBEANRFETHEEZEDRNGE

HHE - —BRFWHKECRLER %
Bz —BEEAERERRBEENR K=
FREEEAET 2 ERAS B MEHE -
EEEABREFRNBER TLREAEE

VERWER W E R R EARE
= B 50 R BREUE E 17 B AR B R EE AR

SRENE  ERBREENRR

() BEEABERERHLITE:

(i) BBHEFIRTR:

(iii) TH¢§*ﬁ$E BUERER &
P R

2 A

(iv) FRZERRER -
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Loan Impairments

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has no further impairment
loss on loan receivables (2024: reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$0.2 million) and impairment
losses allowances of approximately HK$242.3 million
(2024: approximately HK$229.1 million), which represented
approximately 165% (2024: approximately 156%) of the loans
receivable and 100% (2024: approximately 100%) of the gross
loan and interest receivables. Such impairment loss and
impairment losses allowances were based on the valuation
reports issued by the 1st ECL Valuer and the 2nd ECL Valuer
and the works performed by the Group as set out herein. As
concluded by the 1st ECL Valuer in their valuation report, the
rate of ECL of the Group’s loan and interest receivables as
at 30 June 2025 ranged to 100% (2024: 100%) depending on
the nature, probability of default and loss given default of the
loans receivable.

Liquor and wine business

The revenue for the year ended 30 June 2025 of the liquor
and wine business was approximately HK$0.3 million
(2024 approximately HK$2.2 million) and a segment loss
of approximately HK$0.2 million was recorded for the year
ended 30 June 2025 (2024: segment gain of approximately
HK$1.2 million). The Group had continually source the
customers to sell the inventories during the year.

Investments in Listed Securities

Listed Securities

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group managed a
portfolio of listed securities. Details of the listed securities
investments are as below:

ERRE

RZZE_RAFRNRA=TH FAEBLE
HiBBSRKER (T _MF : RME
J& 18 # [0 4 200,000 78 7T) KR 18 & 18 B

% #49242,300,000 8 T (ZE WM F : 4
229,100,000 L) - HHEREKRE KD
165%(_?_E¢ #9156% ) LA K B W E
TR B AERI100% (=T ZMF : 4
100%) EAREBEBRREREBRE D
%EA$$I§¢FTT%Z§%Tﬁﬁlﬁﬁfﬂ@ﬁ@ﬁ@ﬁﬂﬁ
“XEHEESEGHEMEL 2 EE
&iLA&ZISE@FﬁL TZItE-HNER
%E,Hﬂﬁf)ﬂ@ﬂ@féfﬁﬁmﬁéfﬁ\fﬁfﬁ#&ﬁtqﬂﬁﬁ
ZJ—‘E@E/\ff ﬁﬂz/\ﬂ_ﬁLEZP&E
Hﬁsz KR F B IBEMEEE B R A 100% (=
T - 100%) - 18 F B E FGE L1
B NARRELNBEIEME -

BEERER
BHEEGRESENEBEZE_E_RAF A= +
BIEEE 2 W4 A300,0008 7T (=

— P04 : 492,200,000 7T) ﬁﬁ%zi_;
—HEANAZTHLEFERSRSESBERE
#9200,000 L (ZZE ZM4F : 58 /\ﬂiﬁ
1,200,000 7T) ° REBPRARFREEY)
EEFUHERE -

EHREFRE

EiES
BE-_T-_AFAAZ1+HLEFE &%
EEE mBESEE BB LLHELSRE
BT
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significant listed securities investments as at

30 June 2025

Stock Brief description of

Name of listed securities code

K

@5 EH s

CLP Holdings Limited 2
HEERBERAR
Shenzhen International 152
Holdings Limited

RYERERER AT

Hong Kong Exchangesand 388

Clearing Limited

BBRHLREERER LA

Shenzhen Expressway 548

Corporation Limited

RNERRERER
BRAA

Techtronic Industries 669
Company Limited
EREEERAR

Tencent Holdings Limited 700

Hén‘” Hiﬁ E

China Construction Bank 939
Corporation
FEERRITRHER

China Mobile Limited I

TEBHER AT

the business

3 i pe

Generation and supply of electricity
EERHEES

Toll roads and general-environmental
protection business; and Logistics
business

WERERRRRER
URIMRES

Principally engaged in the business of
provision of operates the only Stock
Exchange in Hong Kong

IERSEETRE-H
RER S

Construction, operation, management,

investment of toll highways and
environmental protection in China
HEWB AR RIRREBHER

BUEE RS
Power equipment business
ERREER

VAS; online advertising; fintech and
business services

BERYE: fRES  SRBER
rERS

Provision of banking and related
financial services
RIT RAEE 2 B R T

Provision of telecommunications and
information related services
RESHRESEBRE

HERE

Number of
shares held

ik
K& #E

218,000

648,000

88,000

640,000

10,000

4,800

3,000,000

330,000

—

=

As at 30 June 2025

R-ZE-HFXA=1H

Proportion of
shares held

Fris
gnlid]
(Note a)

0.009%

0.027%

0.007%

0.086%

0.001%

0.000%

0.001%

0.002%

hFFR « BRFEFREEERALT

Investment Market
cost value
RERA miE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL
17,023 14,410
5,020 5,016
30,386 36,854
5,037 4,384
927 863
1,653 2,414
16,946 23,760
16,898 28,743

R-—B-—F = "H=THEALH

Approximately
percentage

to total

assets value
of the Group
EERE
BE4E
BAEAL

2.59%

0.90%

6.63%

0.79%

0.16%

0.43%

4.28%

5.17%
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As at 30 June 2025
R-ZE-HFXA=1H

Approximately

percentage

to total

Stock Brief description of Number of  Proportion of  Investment Market  assets value

Name of listed securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value  ofthe Group
fhE&E
R 3 Fris Fifs BEAE
IHREER R EHES RHEE B4 bl RERA mE  BHESL
(Note ) HK$'000 HK$'000
GER) FAT THT

AIA Group Limited 1299 Writing of life insurance business, 32,000 0.000% 2517 2,253 0.41%
providing life insurance, accident and
health insurance and saving plans

RAREERERRA ERSRER REAS  BIK
BERBMEZ 2
USPACE Technology 1725  Electronics manufacturing services 9,930,000 1.970% 56,529 7944 1.43%
Group Limited business and aerospace business

NRERARHERERAR ETRERBEBIAREHS

BOC Hong Kong 2388 Provision of banking and related 950,000 0.009% 25291 32,395 5.83%
(Holdings) Limited financial services
REEEBR)ERAR REERTRIEESBRE
Tracker Fund of 2800 Funds management 238,000 0.004% 4,859 5,836 1.05%
Hong Kong
REES EeERE
Meituan 3690 Food delivery, In-store, hotel & travel 5,480 0.000% 782 687 0.12%
and new initiatives
e ZHONEREE - BIE Rk
PR
JD.com, Inc. 9618 Providing products and services to 6,500 0.000% 1,334 831 0.15%

consumers, third-party merchants,

suppliers and other business partner
PREERNERLTE MEEE F-AER HEAR

i EBAERHREER RS

185,202 166,390
Notes: B3
(@  The percentage of shareholdings is calculated with reference to the (@) &*ﬁﬁﬁth%é}%%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ% Uh E A ARER )
monthly return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the %Z:%;?;ﬁ@/_\ﬂ‘:j SHIREE A Sk 61
month ended 30 June 2025 of the issuers publicly available on the AEHZES AREF TG L -

website of the Stock Exchange.

(b)  The Group has the buy and hold strategies and diversify investment i~ ©® A% = " EX;%T )\\&ﬁf BEE WHBRERT
different industries in the listed securities investments. FITRM EMESRE
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Significant gains/(losses) for the yearended 30 EBZ_—_Z_HF A=+ HILFEEZ

June 2025 BEAWE(BE)
For the year ended
30 June 2025
BE-Z-5F%
AAZTHLEEE
Unrealised
gains/ Dividend
Name of listed securities (losses) received
RER
IThRHER W=/ (E58) EHRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET THEL
CLP Holdings Limited FEERAERAR 2 654 684
Shenzhen International Holdings Limited FIE R BB A A 152 979 386
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited ~ &#R 5 k& EFERAF 388 14,836 81
Shenzhen Expressway Corporation Limited  FYISERAKEERMH AR AT 548 (275) £
Techtronic Industries Company Limited BIRIEEXARAR 669 (29) 22
Tencent Holdings Limited BARZERARAR 700 626 22
China Construction Bank Corporation HEERRTROER QA 939 6,450 2,610
China Mobile Limited FEBEARAR 941 3,333 1,673
AIA Group Limited REHRBIZERER DA 1299 557 56
USPACE Technology Group Limited MEMAEHREERR AR 1725 (3,376) -
BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited AR (BER) BRAA 2388 9,548 1,897
Tracker Fund of Hong Kong REES 2800 1,523 199
Meituan % 3690 78 -
JD.com, Inc. REREERGARAR 9618 160 25
35,064 8,385
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PROSPECTS

The global economic outlook faces the inflationary pressures
and geopolitical uncertainty. The Group will continue to
monitor the global economic, financial environment and their
impact on our business, and prudently interpret and respond
to the market.

In the meanwhile, the Group will grasp investment
opportunities to diversify the Group’s business and, at the
same time, strive to control the costs to maintain stable
return to the shareholders of the Company.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
GEARING

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has in aggregate approximately
HK$114.5 million (2024: approximately HK$116.4 million) in
deposits in a financial institution, pledged bank balances,
and bank balances and cash. The net current assets value
was approximately HK$260.2 million (2024: approximately
HK$226.6 million).

The Group's gearing ratio as at 30 June 2025 was
approximately 0.04 (2024: approximately 0.06), being a
ratio of total interest bearing debts, including borrowings of
approximately HK$20.6 million (2024: approximately HK$24.3
million) to the total equity of approximately HK$490 million
(2024: approximately HK$434.0 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE
The Company completed a rights issue on 13 June 2018,
pursuant to which the Company issued 10,463,687,800
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.05 each as rights
shares at HK$0.052 per rights share on the basis of two rights
shares for every one existing share held on 18 May 2018.
The net proceeds from the rights issue (after deducting the
expenses) were approximately HK$523.6 million of which
an aggregate of HK$479 million has been utilised since the
completion of the rights issue up to the financial year ended
30 June 2025. The net subscription price per rights share
after deducting the related expenses of the rights issue was
approximately HK$0.050.
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As set out in the announcements of the Company dated
10 August 2018 and 17 January 2019, the Board resolved
to change its use of the net proceeds from the rights issue.
The proposed allocation of the net proceeds as stated in the
prospectus of the Company dated 21 May 2018 (the “Planned
Use of Net Proceeds”), the revised allocation of the net
proceeds (the “Revised Use of Net Proceeds”), the utilisation
of net proceeds as at 30 June 2025 (the “Utilisation of Net
Proceeds”) and the remaining balance of the net proceeds
are set out below:
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It is expected that the remaining balance would be utilised on or before 30
December 2025. The remaining balance of the net proceeds of approximately
HK$27.4 million allocated for repayment of outstanding borrowings would be
utilised for repayment of the remaining instalments of the outstanding bank
loan with the last instalment of the outstanding bank loan to be repaid in
December 2025.
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The amount was equivalent to JPY0.38 billion with reference
to an exchange rate of JPY: HK$0.072 being the exchange
rate used in the prospectus of the Company in relation to the
rights issue.

The unutilised net proceeds have been placed as the
interest bearing deposits with licensed banks and a financial
institution in Hong Kong.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, the Group pledged hotel land and building
in Japan with an aggregated carrying value of approximately
HK$262.4 million (2024: approximately HK$237.8 million),
bank deposits of approximately HK$0.7 million (2024
approximately HK$0.6 million) and the entire equity interest
of certain subsidiaries of the Company to secure borrowing
facilities of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company had no changes in capital structure during the
year ended 30 June 2025.

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or
Loss

As at 30 June 2025, the Group managed a portfolio of listed
securities with fair value of approximately HK$166.4 million.
Accordingly, the trading securities recorded a trading and
revaluation gain of approximately HK$35.1 million in current
year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There was no significant events occurred after the reporting
period.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2024 Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 30 June 2025, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2024 Nil).
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FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and Japanese Yen which are
the functional currencies of respective group companies. The
Group has not entered into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange
rate movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce
the exchange risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had approximately 28 (2024
37) employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan. The Group's
remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and determined
by reference to market terms, company performance, and
individual qualifications and performance. Other staff benefits
include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis and
medical schemes.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 30 June 2025.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as at the
date of this report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the "2025 AGM") is scheduled to be held on Tuesday,
2 December 2025, at 11:00 a.m. For determining the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
27 November 2025 to Tuesday, 2 December 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the
Company will be registered. In order for a shareholder of the
Company to be eligible to attend and vote at 2025 AGM, all
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited of 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 November 2025.
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Biographical information of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report
is set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (“Mr. Wong"), aged 60, has been
appointed as an executive Director since March 2022. Mr.
wong has been appointed as the company secretary, the
authorised representative and the chief financial officer of
the Company on 10 January 2022. He is also a member of the
investment committee. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of
Arts in International Accounting from City University of Hong
Kong and a Master’s Degree of Corporate Governance from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in taxation,
accounting, financing, audit field and public listed companies
for many years. Mr. Wong is currently an independent non-
executive director (the “INED") of China Water Industry Group
Limited (stock code: 1129), Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1536) and Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1466), all companies whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is also an
INED of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
8081) and an INED of Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (stock
code: 8292) from June 2016 to June 2023, both companies are
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana

Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana (“Ms. Chu”), aged 55, has been
appointed as a non-executive Director since March 2024. Ms.
Chu, is also the member of the investment committee. She
is an executive Director, Company Secretary and Financial
Controller as well as a member of Investment Committee of
the China Water Industry Group Limited (stock code: 1129)
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Ms. Chu is the company secretary and the authorised
representative of New Concepts Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2221) which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Chu holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Accounting
and a Master’s Degree of Corporate Governance. She is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Association of the Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Ms. Chu is a fellow member of both
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Chu has over 20 years’
extensive experience by working in an international audit firm
and other listed companies.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chiu Wai On

Mr. Chiu Wai On (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 55, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since June 2009.
Mr. Chiu is also the chairman of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr.
Chiu possesses over 10 years of professional experience
in accounting and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is also
an independent non-executive director of New Times
Corporation Limited (stock code: 166), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. Man Kwok Leung (“Mr. Man”), aged 78, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since
May 2009. Mr. Man is also a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. He is a solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong and a civil celebrant of marriages. Mr.
Man has extensive experience in the legal practice. He had
been appointed by Xinhua News Agency as a district advisor
from 1995 to 1997. He is currently appointed as a director of
Apleichau Kai Fong Primary School, a committee member
of Apleichau Kai Fong Welfare Association, the secretary
of Apleichau Promotion of Tourism Association and the
honorary legal advisor of Junior Police Officers’ Association.
Mr. Man is an independent non-executive director of Hong
Kong ChaoShang Group Limited (stock code: 2322) from
April 2011 to November 2023, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. To Chun Wai

Mr. To Chun Wai (“Mr. To"), aged 70, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
since April 2023. Mr. To is also a member of each of the
audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. He is currently the
chairman and chief executive officer of Gungho Consultancy
Company Limited. Mr. To is an independent non-executive
director of each of Auto Italia Holdings Limited (stock code:
720), Greenheart Group Limited (stock code: 94), and ISP
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340), all being listed on the
Main Board of Stock Exchange. He is an INED of NOVA
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1360), which is delisted
on the Main Board of Stock Exchange. He formerly served
as an executive director and a non-executive director of
Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 923), a company listed in the Main Board of Stock
Exchange. Mr. To spent most of his career, beginning in 1974,
with the Hong Kong Police, rising up the ranks to Assistant
Commissioner of Police (Crime) overseeing crime operations
and policies of the Hong Kong Police, until his retirement in
2011. He was awarded the Police Meritorious Service Medal
in recognition of his long years of service and contribution to
the Hong Kong society. Mr. To has wide administrative and
management experience. He holds a master degree of public
administration from The University of Hong Kong and also
tutored public administration on a part-time basis from 2011
to 2012 at The University of Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance. The Board believes that effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhance
the shareholders’ value and safeguard the interests of the
shareholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted sound
corporate governance principles that emphasize an effective
internal control and accountability to all shareholders.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules except for the following deviations:

Code provision C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Since
the resignation of Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth in March 2020,
the Company does not have any officer with the title of Chief
Executive Officer. The overall responsibility of supervising and
ensuring that the Group’s business in line with the order of
the Board in terms of day-to-day operations and execution is
vested in the Board itself. In view of the above, the Company
has failed to comply with Code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code. The Company has made endeavors however more
time is required to identify suitable candidate to be the CEO
in order to comply with the Code.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED
ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the full set of Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
as the code of the conduct for securities transactions
by directors. The prohibitions on securities dealing and
disclosure requirements in the Model Code apply to specified
individuals including the Group’s senior management and
also persons who are privy to price sensitive information
of the Group. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors
and senior management, the Board confirmed that they had
complied with the Model Code regarding directors’ securities
transactions during the year and up to the date of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
Directors, with one executive Director, Mr. Wong Siu Keung
Joe (Chairman); one non-executive Director, Ms. Chu Yin Yin
Georgiana; and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Chiu Wai On, Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. To Chun
Wai. Biographical information of the Directors is set out in
the section “Biographical Details of Directors” of this annual
report.

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and
functions is maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship between Board members.

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-
executive Directors. The Company is of the view that all the
independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines for
assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and considers them to be independent.
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The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performance. Directors take
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. Some
functions including, inter alia, monitor and approval of
material transactions, matters involving conflict of interest
for a substantial shareholder or Director, the approval of the
interim and annual results, other disclosures to the public or
regulators and the internal control system are reserved by
the Board and the decisions relating to such matters shall be
subject to the decision of the Board. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to the management under the
supervision of the respective Directors.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times throughout
the financial year. All Directors are given the opportunity
to put items on the agenda for regular Board meetings. All
Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure
that all Board procedures, rules and regulations are followed.
Full minutes of Board meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection on reasonable
notice. Any Director may, in furtherance of his duties, take
independent professional advice where necessary at the
expense of the Company.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and any director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

According to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws and the CG Code,
at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-third
of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every 3 years, and shall then be eligible for re-
election. Any further re-appointment of an independent
non-executive director, who has served the Board for more
than nine years, will be subject to separate resolution to be
approved by the shareholders.

In accordance with bye-law 86 of the Bye-laws, the
shareholders of the Company may by an ordinary resolution
remove any Director (but without prejudice to any claim for
damages under any contract) before the expiration of his
period of office, and may by an ordinary resolution appoint
another person in his stead.

E=RfRE R ARRYEEARE
B2 RERRERE -BEFELN
BARBNBZZEBRE - EFEREAY
REBBOERN SR (EREE ERK
BEREARS FPRIERRAEFMNEG
BReEE HEFHRE2FES HL
RUEERBRE CEMERN  ARAF
ERGE RS FTEMNARLARE
EERE -VIHEENEFEARATAEBA
NRAAREEMBET SR BE@ER
EECEBETZREEERE -

RMBREERN BEFSTHALELBTH
REZ - 2REFHARGRZHBNA
ERREEMTESFEER 2RESFHA
B amwE BREWMBEFSRERF -
BRAIRR - AEIWMERFEESSH
TR YN ELAEBMEAHEER -
EMEFHANERTERFRBEITEBIEER
BUEXER  BRAARAIKE-

ZE EBRREBRES

REBARFESIF  EEZTEHBERS
MERZERCER  ETBEARA TERK
RARERIE MENEZERARREES
THEKBZESR  TMETBEARARAT
ERFRBEFRERIL EEETEERR
g LEREEE-

RIEMAAFE7EREEERTA  RARQ
ABERRBEFAG L ER=0—2&
E(HMEFABA I = 2 E808 - BIFE
MERADR=0—2&F) ARERE M
BREFRAZVEB=FRERT X &
RGN ERERET - E—FEHZRME
THERBEESBBNF 2B IFNTT
BEX AHRBRRABIDRERTALLE -

R RIFE 8615 - NABI IR A A& BR
mEREREMETHARE N ZES (BRIEE
AENAREZEBERAIZUMTE) - I
AJAEBRBRZ T AR

SECREEH « BEFEREEERAT 33



Corporate Governance Report
EREGERE

Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana was appointed as the Non-
Executive Director on 1 March 2024. She confirmed prior to
her appointment that she has obtained the legal advice as
referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and also
understood her obligations, duties and responsibilities of a
director of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Training and Professional
Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with
comprehensive induction to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the operations and businesses of the
Group as well as the director’s duties, responsibilities, and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

During the Year, the Directors were provided with regular
updates on the Group’s business and operation and the
information which covered topics, including but not limited to,
the Code, disclosure and compliance of inside information,
updates and changes in relation to legislative and regulatory
requirements in which the Group conducts its business,
and reading materials which are relevant to their duties and
responsibilities for their study and reference. During the Year,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills pursuant to the Code Provision C.1.4 of the Code.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman is Mr. wWong
Siu Keung Joe. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership
of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of
its role for setting its agenda and taking into account any
matters proposed by other directors for inclusion in the
agenda.

The Chief Executive Officer was responsible for supervising
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Since
the resignation of Mr. Chi Chi Hung, Kenneth in March 2020,
the Company does not have any officer with the title of Chief
Executive Officer. The overall responsibility of supervising
and ensuring that the Group’s business in line with the order
of the Board in terms of day-to-day operations and execution
is vested in the Board itself. The Board considered that
this has the advantages of allowing contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and the Company
will review the current situation from time to time and shall
make necessary arrangements when the Board considers
appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, including the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the investment
committee (the “Investment Committee”) for overseeing
particular aspects of the Group's affairs. Details of which are
set out below. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference which
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the chairman of
the Audit Committee), Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. To Chun
Wai.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review
the Group’s financial reporting system, the nature and scope
of audit review; (ii) review the effectiveness of the system
of internal control procedures and risk management and
the Company’s internal audit function; and (iii) review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity.
In addition, the Audit Committee discusses matters raised
by the external auditor and regulatory bodies to ensure
that appropriate recommendations are implemented. The
Audit Committee meets as and when required to perform its
responsibilities and at least twice a year.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the interim
and annual results with the external auditor and made
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
the external auditor, reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems and the effectiveness of the internal
audit function of the Company in accordance with the
Audit Committee’s written terms of reference. The Audit
Committee also reviewed and approved the risk assessment
in relation to the hotel business in Japan.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 30 June 2025. The attendance record of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out in the sub-section
“Attendance Record of Directors and Committee Members”
below.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Man Kwok
Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for remuneration policy; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package of individual executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and
approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment. The Remuneration Committee meets at least
once a year.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and packages of the Directors and senior
management and made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration policy and packages of the Directors and
senior management in accordance with the Remuneration
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee also approved and recommended to the Board
the terms of letters of appointment and the Directors’ fee
payable to one newly appointed Director.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year ended 30 June 2025. The attendance record of each
member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in the
sub-section “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” below.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the
chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Man Kwok
Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai and one non-executive Director,
Ms. Chu Yin Yin, Georgiana.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members; (iii) to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for
directors. The Nomination Committee meets at least once a
year.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach by the Company to
achieve diversity on the Board. According to the Diversity
Policy, selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience and length of service.

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”). A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

1. Criteria
The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
consider the following criteria in evaluating and
selecting candidates for directorships:

Character and integrity.

Qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy.

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments.

Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity
on the Board.

Such other perspectives appropriate to the
company’s business.
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Nomination Process
2.1 Appointment of New Director
2.1.1 The Nomination Committee and/or the

Board shall, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out in section
1 to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

2.1.2 If the process yields one or more desirable

candidates, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each
candidate (where applicable).

2.1.3 The Nomination Committee shall make

recommendation to the Board in respect of
the appointment of appropriate candidate
for directorship.

2.1.4 For any person that is nominated by a

shareholder for election as a director at
the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in section 1 to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendation to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.

2
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2.2 Re-election of Director at General Meeting
2.2.1 The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring
director including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

2.2.2 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall also review and determine whether
the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out in section 1.

2.2.3The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall then make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed,
considered and approved the structure, size and diversity of
the Board and the Diversity Policy, the Nomination Policy, the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
the Directors in accordance with the Nomination Committee’s
written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee also
approved and recommended to the Board the appointment
of two newly appointed Directors.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the
year ended 30 June 2025. The attendance record of each
member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the sub-
section “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” below.
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee has been established by the
Board on 2 August 2021. The members of the Investment
Committee shall consist of not less than two members out
of the Directors and senior management of the Company
of which at least one shall be Director. The Investment
Committee currently comprises an executive Director,
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe (the chairman of the Investment
Committee) and the non-executive Director, Ms. Chu Yin Yin
Georgiana.

The Investment Committee is responsible for, among others,
to exercise delegated authority from the Board, to handle
any issues or affairs related to the investment aspects of the
Company, to review the investment performance from time
to time and advise the Board on how the Company’s funds
are to be used to enhance the Group’s investment returns, to
consider, approve and/or recommend the Board taking any
steps appropriate and necessary in relation to the investment
activities of the Company and preserve the value of the
Company'’s funds and/or achieving capital appreciation.

The Investment Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 30 June 2025. The Investment Committee considered,
approved and recommended to the Board, among others the
terms of reference of the Investment Committee and several
listed securities listed on the Stock Exchange for acquisitions
which the Investment Committee members considered
worthwhile for the Company to generate returns in fulfilling
its investment objective.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS EERZESRACHERLS
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Board held 9 Board HE_—_ZE_-_HAFENA=1tHIFE BF
meetings. GERITINESTSEH -

The attendance record of each Director at the Board JBEERAFARITzEETTEH T8
meetings, the committees’ meetings and the annual/special &&=z MAQARIKERAE BRI AKE 2 H
general meetings of the Company held during the year is set  fEC&&E 50T :

out below:

No. of meetings attended/held
BHE/BTEEAY

Annual/
Audit Remuneration Nomination Investment Special

Board Committee  Committee Committee Committee General

Directors Meeting  Meeting Meeting  Meeting  Meeting  Meeting
EnZEE HMZEE REZEE REZEE RREE/

Bz Ezged L EE ] EE 8%  BEHXE

Executive Directors YrES

Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe BkELE 99 - - - 17 22

Non-executive Director FunES

Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana KEHaL 99 - - - 17 22

Independent non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Mr. Chiu Wai On REZEE 919 22 N 22 - 2/2

Mr. Man Kwok Leung BERLE 919 22 n 22 - 2/2

Mr. To Chun Wai HkELE 919 22 n 22 - 2/2
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTOR

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors are provided with
comprehensive induction training to ensure that they have a
thorough understanding of the Group's operations, applicable
laws and rules as well as their role and responsibilities.
Every new Director also receives a Director’'s handbook
which contains guide on Directors’ duties and continuing
obligations, applicable Laws, Regulations and Governing
documents and information on other key governance
matters.

The Group continuously updates Directors on
developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional
development for directors will be arranged at the expenses of
the Company where necessary.

The Directors, participated in continuous professional
development during the year or their respective tenure of
office as follows:
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Reading
materials
relating to
directors’
development
and duties or

Attending
seminars
conducted by

professional

Directors parties relevant topics
RMEEHES
HESEME ZRRRBEX
E=x BIzWHE HBEXEZMH
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe =K@ E 4 4
Non-executive Director FHITES v v
Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana KA L v v
Independent non-executive Directors BN FHITES
Mr. Chiu Wai On REZEE v/ v
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEREE v v/
Mr. To Chun Wai MIRELE v v
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board has the following responsibilities:

(@ to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations from time to time;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors
and the employees of the Group; and

(e) toreview the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for each financial year to give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2025, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Company is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
covering the liabilities of the Directors that may arise out of
the corporate activities, which has been complied with the
CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe, is
responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for ensuring the Board is fully appraised of
the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, Mr. Wong has attended
relevant professional seminars to update his skills and
knowledge. He met the training requirement set out in Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services
for the year ended 30 June 2025 provided by the Company’s
auditor, BDO Limited, are as follows:

LFWE

REMERKBRELEANERGRE U
REREEGRERARURBRETE
EEED - AANETREARREREGS
BATRASEEMZANAL BER
CEERAFRER ABHHEEEBRR
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HK$'000
TAT
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). A summary of the Dividend Policy is disclosed as
below.

1.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company by way of cash or by
other means that the Board considers appropriate. It is
the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company
to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Company'’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends
in the future, and the amount of such dividends will
depend upon, among other things, the current and
future operations, financial condition, liquidity position
and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries
and associates, which in turn will depend on the ability
of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the shareholders. The
declaration and payment of dividends by the Company
is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of
Bermuda, the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s bye-
laws and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current
views on the financial and cash-flow position of the
Group, the Board will continue to review the Dividend
Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems
fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends
will be declared or paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no
way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company that any dividend will be paid in any particular
amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
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Convene a Special General Meeting
Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at the general meetings of the Company can at all
times submit a signed written requisition, specifying
the purpose, to the Board or the Company Secretary
to require the convening of a special general meeting
(“SGM"). If within 21 days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene the SGM, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one half of
the total voting rights of all of them, themselves may
convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from 21 days
of the deposit.

Send Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries of shareholders can be sent to the Company
either by email at info.dt@detai-group.com or by post
to the Company’s Hong Kong head office at Unit D2,
8/F., Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. Shareholders can also
make enquires with the Board directly at the general
meetings.

Make Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth
of the total voting rights of all shareholders having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting or who are no less than 100 shareholders
can submit a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to propose a resolution at a
general meeting. The written requisition must state
the resolution, accompanied by a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in the proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at the general meeting and contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists (which may be
contained in one document or in several documents
in like form). Such requisition must be deposited to the
Company'’s registered office at Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda not less than
6 weeks before the general meeting in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less
than 1 week before the general meeting in the case of
any other requisition and be accompanied by a sum of
money reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and
circulating the statement given by the requisitionists to
all shareholders in accordance with the requirements
under the applicable laws and rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business. The
Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meeting and other general meetings. The website of the
Company at www.detai-group.com has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, there has not been
any change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
A consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional
documents is available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board ensures the maintenance of sound and effective
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
and the assets of the Group. It has been an important duty of
the Directors to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control and risk management of the Group
on an on-going basis. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls,
as well as risk management functions. The systems of risk
management and internal control are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatements or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to the
Audit Committee and the management would assist the Audit
Committee to carry out the risk management procedures.
The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees the
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 30 June 2025.

A Risk Management Policy has been established for
formalizing the risk management system of the Group, so
as to ensure the Group is operating in a safety and steady
environment and the Group's operational strategy and target
could be achieved. The current practices will be reviewed and
updated regularly to follow the latest practices in corporate
governance.
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The risk management process of the Group will involve,
among others, (i) a periodical risk identification and analysis
exercise which involves assessment of the consequence
and likelihood of identified risk and the development of risk
management plans for mitigating such risks; and (i) an annual
risk management meeting for the review of the identified
risks, the implementation of the risk management plans and
enhancing the implementation plan when necessary.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management and
internal control systems, Executive Directors and the senior
management would meet regularly to review the financial
and operating performance of each segment. The operational
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also
required to keep senior management and Executive Directors
informed of material developments of the department’s
business and implementation of the strategies and policies
set by the Board on a regular basis. The processes used to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks by the Group
are summarized as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
e Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood
of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
Situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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During the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Group
engaged a professional advisory firm as internal control
reviewer (the “Internal Control Reviewer”) and to report
directly to the Audit Committee to conduct the annual
review for effectiveness the risk management and internal
control systems of the selected subsidiaries. The Internal
Control Reviewer adopted a risk-based approach and
independently reviewed and tested the controls. The scope
of review included fixed assets management process,
borrowing process, handling and dissemination of inside
information process and investment management process
for the headquarter and hotel hospitality business segments.
Findings and recommendations are reported to the Audit
Committee. In addition, progress on audit recommendations
implementation will be followed up on a regular basis and
discussed with the Audit Committee.

During annual review, the Audit Committee also considers
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group, accounting and financial reporting
function and their training programs and budgets. Based on
the results of evaluations, the Audit Committee was satisfied
that there was an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks faced by the Group that
would threaten the achievement of its business objectives;
and an appropriate, effective and adequate system of internal
control and risk management had been in place during the
financial year ended 30 June 2025.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and for compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a series of disclosure procedures of price
sensitive information on reporting and dissemination of inside
information and preservation of confidentiality. Under the
current practice, the directors aware any potential/suspected
inside information event as soon as practicable when it
materializes for determining the nature of developments,
and if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required
to observe the code of ethical standards to keep non-public
information confidential.
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The Directors present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2025.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Unit D2, 8/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2025
are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 115 and 116.

The Board resolved not to pay any final dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2025 is set out in the “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT" and
“"MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” on pages 4 to 5
and pages 6 to 27 respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the five largest customers
of the Group together accounted for approximately 66% (2024
approximately 42%), with the largest customer accounted for
approximately 21% (2024: approximately 18%) of the Group’s
total turnover. The five largest suppliers of the Group together
accounted for approximately 37% (2024: approximately 44%),
with the largest supplier accounted for approximately 10%
(2024 approximately 10%) of the Group’s total purchases
during the year.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, at no time during
the year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or
customers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company is set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

At 30 June 2025, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2024: Nil).

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group had not made charitable or other donation during
the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the past five financial years are set out on
pages 201 and 202.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There was no significant events occurred after the reporting
period.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Director:
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Chu Yin Yin Georgiana

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chiu Wai On

Mr. Man Kwok Leung

Mr. To Chun Wai

According to bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, any Director
appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and any Director appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.
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Pursuant to the code provision set out in paragraph A.4.3 of
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, any further appointment
of independent non-executive director serving more than
nine years should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by shareholders. The Nomination Committee
considered the independence of each of the independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Chiu has served the Company
as an independent non-executive Director for more than
nine years during which period of Mr. Chiu has provided
professional advice and insight to the Board with his
respective extensive experience and knowledge in the
accounting and legal aspects. Mr. Chiu has in-depth
understanding of the Group’s business and operation and
have also demonstrated strong independence by providing
comments at Board and Board committee meetings during
his tenure of office. In addition, none of Mr. Chiu has any
financial or family relationships with any other Directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders or controlling
shareholders of the Company, which could give rise to a
conflict of interests situation or otherwise affect his exercise
of independent judgement. In view of the aforesaid factors,
the Nomination Committee considered that long service
of Mr. Chiu would not affect his exercise of independent
judgment and was satisfied that Mr. Chiu has the required
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of
an independent non-executive Director. The Nomination
Committee affirmed each of the independent non-executive
Directors remain independent and is of the view that the
Retiring Directors will continue to contribute to the Board with
their respective perspectives, skills and experience. In view
of the aforesaid factors and the experience and knowledge of
the relevant individuals in the business sectors in which the
Group operates.
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The independent non-executive Directors are not appointed
for a specific term and are subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Bye-laws.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2025, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
which would be required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
would be taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2025, so far as was known to the Directors
or chief executive of the Company based on the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had an interest or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and were
directly or indirectly interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on
all circumstances at general meeting of any other members
of the Group were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company

Name of Number of
substantial shareholder Capacity shares held
TERFRHE ES) mERGEA
Mr. Tong Liang Beneficial owner 146,821,712
((p it ERBEAA

Note: The percentage is calculated on the basis of 523,184,390 shares in
issue as at 30 June 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, so far as was
known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company
based on the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO, no person (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or to be
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme of the Company, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors and chief executives
of the Company (including their spouses and children under
18 years of age) to hold any interest or short positions in the
shares, or underlying shares, or debentures, of the Company
or its associated corporations (with the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO).

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As the Board is independent of the boards of the aforesaid
companies and maintains three independent non-executive
Directors, the Group operates its businesses independently
of, and at arm'’s length from, the businesses of the aforesaid
companies.

The Company has no Directors or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest
in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company, or existed during the year.

EERARONREENER

BRA R BB 8l AR B S EAL
ERAR - WEBARKRRNERARA
FAEMERBETZEMLZHREES
RARREBITRAB (BRERENEEBR
Rm185R 2 F ) AT A AN &) 3 K AR B

(E&REH MBI XVER) Ef IR
7~ MO SEEEF A EARRIRR -

EERBERGCHEHR

HREEFENBYN LB RARNESS -
WE=ZZ2BIFATES RAKERLE
M ER BRI EIS IR A EERRE RS o

ARAMBEEETHERAREEBEZHEA
(EERETRANAFAREERARS
B AR B 7K & (8] 5% 75 R B 3t 5 3k T BE AR K
BEEBEREE R ERS AR ES -

EERXH Rz

B R F AT FE E SN - A AR B
HFER AR B EMKE R F KE R B
NRAPEFVERNEEXHEER MES
EEEFHECERERAMEREE
ANBELEARS ~ RHFHEH -

B HE H1 899 160 5
RERN AR QR EFT AT 1%
MERTF < %8B -

56 DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2025



Directors’ Report
EHEEHRE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the Corporate
Governance Code set out under Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules and subject to the provisions of the Companies
Ordinance, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance cover for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any legal
actions brought against the directors and senior management
of the Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The
permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of
the directors as required by section 470 of the Companies
Ordinance.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme, at no time during the
year was the Company or its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole and any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or in existence during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other
connected transactions which were subject to the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 30 June 2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the vyear, as far as the Company is aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT
BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the
Company is set and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board on the basis of the employees’ merit,
gualifications and competence.
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The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board,
having regards to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance of the Directors and comparable market
statistics.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection.
The Company has adhered to the concepts of recycling
and reducing by implementing green office practices such
as double-sided printing and copying, using recycle papers
and reducing energy by switching off those idle lighting.
The Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities
from time to time.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
The Company recognises that employees are our valuable
assets. Thus the Group provides competitive remuneration
package to attract and motivate the employees. The Group
regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees
and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market
standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain
good relationship with business partners to achieve its long-
term goals. Accordingly, our senior management have kept
good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared
business update with them when appropriate. During the
year, there was no material and significant dispute between
the Group and its business partners.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition,
operations and prospects. The followings are the key risks
and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other
risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below
which are not known to the Group or which may not be
material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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Risks pertaining to hotel operation

The Group’s hotel hospitality business may be significantly
affected by outside factors such as the occurrence of
extreme climates, the changes of government regulations,
foreign exchange fluctuations, and other natural and
social factors which may affect the level of global travel
and business activities. The extreme climates such as
typhoon, earthquake, tsunami and avalanches may increase
maintenance costs, affect the daily operation and safety of
employees of hotel hospitality business.

As the Group’s hotel is located in Japan Hokkaido, the
revenue from this business is sensitive to changes in the
tourism industry in Japan, which is greatly influenced by
the attractiveness of Japan as a destination for tourists,
particularly welcomed by family groups and long-stay guests
for its spacious condominium rooms, which is the major
source of business for our hotels.

Risks pertaining to financing requirements and
access to capital

The amount and timing of the expenditures required to carry
out the product development/testing activities and potential
investments of the Group are uncertain and will depend on
numerous factors, some of which are outside the Group’s
control. Factors that could increase the Group’s funding
requirements including but not limited to higher costs and
slower progress than expected to develop products and
slower progress than expected in securing development of
the Group’s products/potential investments. Greater than
expected expenditure requirements may materially and
adversely affect the Group'’s financial results and their ability
to introduce new products/investments profitably.

Risks pertaining to exchange rate fluctuations
As a consequence of the international nature of the Group,
it will be exposed to risks associated with changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. The Group's future sales
operations will be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates
to the extent that its sales and purchases are denominated
in currencies other than its reporting currency. Movements
in exchange rates to translate foreign currencies may have
a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations,
financial position and cash flows from year to year.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as at the
date of this report.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the exercise of any pre-emptive
rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for
the year ended 30 June 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Full details on the Company'’s corporate governance practices
are set out on pages 31 to 49.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Chiu Wai On (the chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Man Kwok Leung and Mr. To Chun Wai. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review the
Group’s financial reporting system, the nature and scope
of audit review; (ii) review the effectiveness of the system
of internal control procedures and risk management and
the Company’s internal audit function; and (iii) review and
monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity.
In addition, the Audit Committee discusses matters raised
by the external auditor and regulatory bodies to ensure
that appropriate recommendations are implemented. The
Audit Committee meets as and when required to perform its
responsibilities and at least twice a year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 30 June 2025 with the management
of the Company and the external auditor, and was of the
opinion that the preparation of such results are in compliance
with the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations
and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”),
is pleased to present the 2025 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of
the Group’s management of significant issues affecting the
operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the
professional assistance of PRO-WIS Sustainability Advisory
Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2
(the “Appendix C2") to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) — “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Code” (the “ESG Reporting
Code”) and has complied with “comply or explain” provision
in the Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group
in respect of corporate social responsibility, covering its
operating activities which are considered as material by
the Group, (i) hotel hospitality business in Japan (“hotel
hospitality business”); (i) provision of money lending services
and investments in listed securities and funds in Hong Kong
(“money lending & investment business”); and (iii) trading and
distribution of liquor and wine business in the PRC. With the
aim to minimize and improve the disclosure requirements
in the Report, the Group has taken the initiative to formulate
policies, record relevant data as well as implement and
monitor measures. This Report shall be published both in
Chinese and English on the website of the Stock Exchange.
Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese
and the English versions, the English version shall prevail.
The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company confirmed that during the Reporting Period, the
Company complied with the applicable provisions contained
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Code” of the Listing Rules.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during
the reporting period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025 (the
“Reporting Period”).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who
(a) have invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the
ability to influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c)
are interested in or affected by or have the potential to be
affected by the impact of the Group’s activities, products,
services and relationships. This allows the Group to
understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue
to ensure effective communication and maintain good
relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

The company regularly re-evaluates the priority of its
stakeholders in light of its roles, responsibilities, strategic
plan, and business initiatives. The company engages with its
stakeholders to build mutually beneficial relationships, gather
their input on business proposals and initiatives, and promote
sustainability across the marketplace, workplace, community,
and environment.

The company recognizes the value of the insights, inquiries,
and ongoing interest that stakeholders provide regarding the
company'’s business activities. The company has identified
its key stakeholders and established various communication
channels to reach out to them, listen to their perspectives,
and respond accordingly.
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The table below provides an overview of the company’s key
stakeholders, as well as the platforms and methods used to

engage with them.

Stakeholders
BHE

Management
BB

Employees

o

(=

\

Shareholders and Investors

BREZEE

Hotel Guests

Suppliers

HIEm

Communities and
non-governmental organisations
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Engagement Channels

BHRE

Regular meetings
EHgE

Business meetings

Training programs

Regular performance appraisals
E A

1EIIET &
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General meetings
Annual reports

Direct communication
company'’s website
REXE

FERE

HEAER

PiN/NE]FE i

Customer hotlines
Website and social media
Online customer feedback
Guest satisfaction surveys
Day-to-day communication
company’s website
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ERmMEEAE
HEB®

NN FE R

Business communications
Meetings and discussions
Tender Notice
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Charitable and volunteering activities
Company'’s Website

ESG report
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the
Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedback obtained can allow the Group
to make more informed decisions, and better assess and
manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the
ESG reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are
important to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues
and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the
Report according to recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Code.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps:
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Step 1: Identification — Step 2: Prioritization — Step 3: Validation — Material
Industry Benchmarking Stakeholder Engagement Issues Determination
SB1 B — HETERE $W2: BERF — BipERHE 03 BE - EEEERE
e Relevant ESG areas were e The Group discussed with e Based on the discussion
identified through the review of key stakeholders on key ESG with key stakeholders and
relevant ESG reports of the local areas identified above to internal discussion among
and international industry peers. ensure all the key aspects the  management, the

were covered.

The materiality of each ESG area

and the recommendation of the
ESG Reporting Code.
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discussion of the management EFE@BREAmE - reported and in compliance

Group’s management
ensured all the key and

with the ESG Reporting
Code.
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As a result of this process carried out during the Reporting
Period, those important ESG areas to the Group were
discussed in this Report.
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In order to align the concerns of the stakeholders on ESG
issues related to the Group, the Group invited stakeholders
to score the degree of importance of every ESG issue to
them and to the Group from 0 to 6 marks (0 represented not
important and 6 represented the most important) for ranking
the 19 ESG issues.

RE—FOEHANEEBHERE HER
ERBRENET AREBRFERNENE
ARR -HekERZEHAE S MAKE
MEEUTD  A0ZE6H (ORKRTEE -
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Environmental Social Operating Practices
RE tE EEEK
1 Air Emissions 8  Staff Welfare 13 Ethically Responsible Sourcing
2 Waste Management 9  Equal Opportunity 14 Customer Service
3 Greenhouse Gas Emission and 10 Occupational Health and Safety 15 Anti-corruption
Energy Use 11 Staff Development and Training 16  Community Investment
4 Water Consumption 12 Employment Compliance 17 Data Protection and Cyber
5 Climate Change Risk Security
6 Green Procurement 18 Economic Performance
7 Supply Chain Environmental Risk 19 Business Growth
1 ERSEHERD 8 BIEF 13 aVTEREEZRE
2 BEYER 9 TEH#E 14 BPRE
3 RERBHRKEREA 10 BERERZE 15 R&EAR
4 FEK 1N BIZRKEI 16 (HREE
5 RIxE{cRER 12 EEERH 17 BERRERBELS
6 HERE 18 RERE
7 HERRERER 19 XBEK

The management aligned the opinions and expectations of
our key stakeholders with the development of the Group so
as to prioritize the ESG issues in two dimensions: “Importance
to Business” and “Importance to Stakeholders” as the below
materiality matrix. This materiality assessment enables
us to direct our attention to each ESG issues and enables
the Group to perform a more comprehensive sustainable
development plan in the future.
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The materiality analysis results are shown in the materiality
matrix which allows the Group to identify ESG issues that
are material to the Group so as to manage and adjust our
approach to sustainability. The issues located on the top
right-hand corner imply the most material issues and will
be emphasized in this ESG Report. This year, we identified 6
material topics: staff welfare, occupational health and safety,
employment compliance, ethically responsible sourcing,
customer service, and anti-corruption. Of these, staff welfare,
ethically responsible sourcing, customer service, and
employment compliance have become new important topics
this year.
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REPORTING STANDARDS AND HERERRA

PRINCIPLES

This Report is in compliance with the reporting principles AHREFEBBE A XS AR A RIE M
determined by the ESG Reporting Code of contained in  A) E MR BIBISXC2FR &R B - L& REA
Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules issued by of The Stock BRESTRIFTEEMREFRA o o HRE
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Besides, the reporting [REIFFaia0T

principles are detailed as follows:

Materiality

EEMN

Quantitative

Bt

Balance

¥4

Consistency

— Bt

Through conducting a materiality assessment and engaging stakeholders of the
Group, the Board reviews and prioritizes the ESG issues that are most relevant to
the Group. Details of the stakeholder engagement can be found in the “Materiality
Matrix” section.

FREENTHRAEERNEL2H  EFEHREAEEMES BB IIRE -
HEREREEIREXSEEZEERT AHEFHELAZFBALZMIE
Z B | —fp o

This Report discloses the relevant standards and methodologies in the calculation
of environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”) with the aim of
ensuring the data disclosed is measurable and comparable. Performance targets of
KPIs are set by the Group based on historical data and business development plan.
ARERBRAERRERESAREIEZ ((BREJUSIE]) BATRA 2 BT
ERFZE BUEBRABESEIFERTELR - AEEERBETER REB
BREASRTHERBERIEZECRBABZ -

This Report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG performance of the Group
during the Reporting Period by avoiding the selection, omission, or presentation
formats that may inappropriately influence the judgement of the readers.
ApEREEARREEEBEETERE 2GR BRI EWRAN  UAF
RBAEERBREMECIRE HERER/KRR -

The data calculation methodologies of this Report shall be consistent to facilitate
comparisons with historical data.
RBEFERACEBAER AR UFEEE L BIREITHE -

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG A& EERBE - He REAmETA G
Reporting Code and identified the key ESG issues that are  #RAEZEEZ MR B - I B #% B A £ B £ 7%
important to the business of the Group. All the key ESG areas, MEEBEEMETBIRE L@ NERERE o
aspects and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported  AIREDRIBERE HEREARES T
in this Report are according to recommendations of the ESG H#EEEZ  ERME T BRHF LR

Reporting Code.

BREE  EENMEREVIER -
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in
overseeing the management of the Group’s sustainability
issues. During the year, the Board and the ESG Working Group
spent significant time in evaluating the impact of ESG-related
risks on our operation and formulating relevant policy in
dealing with the risks. The oversight of the Board is to ensure
the management to have all the right tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy and long-
term value creation.

ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and
accountability, our Group has established an ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out
the powers delegated to it by the Board. We highly value
the opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as the
cornerstone for the development of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, the ESG Working Group mainly consisted of
executive directors, Chief Financial Officer (“CFQ"), Finance
Manager and Accountant.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management
of the Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the
Working Group at the meetings, which holds annually.
During the Reporting Period, the ESG Working Group and the
management reviewed the ESG governance and different ESG
iSSUes.

Board’'s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations
of different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality
assessment is conducted annually. We ensure various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group understands
the expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The
feedbacks obtained can allow the Group to make more
informed decisions, and better assess and manage the
resulting impacts.
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The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps: (1) material ESG
area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area
prioritisation with stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation
and determining material ESG issues based on the results of
communication among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and
change of attention of our stakeholders to each significant
ESG issue, and can enable us to plan our sustainable
development direction more comprehensively in the future.
Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
materiality assessment were discussed in this Report.

Board review progress against ESG-related
goals and targets

The progress of target implementation and the performance
of the goals and targets shall be closely reviewed from time
to time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls
short of expectation. Effective communication about the
goals and targets with key stakeholders such as employees
is essential, as this can enable them to be engaged in the
implementation process, and to feel that they are part of the
changes that the Company aspires to achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years
enables the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus
on results of achieving the visions.

Setting targets require the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which shall be
weighed against the Company’s ambitions and goals. During
the Reporting Period, our Group set targets on an absolute
basis.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

70

A1. Emissions

The Group believes in the importance of
sustainable development and environmental
protection and integrates environmental
protection into all aspects of our business
activities while supporting local sustainability
action plans. Our ESG Strategy and Policy provided
a guiding framework for the Group to develop
and implement relevant guidelines, operations
procedures and measures based on our business
nature, covering greenhouse gas emissions, air
emissions, energy use, water use, and waste
disposal.

Despite the fact that little environmental impact
can be caused by office-based operations in Hong
Kong, the Group is committed to operating its
business in an environmental-friendly manner,
fostering mindful resources consumption in
daily operations and arousing its employees’
environmental awareness. We constantly monitor
our environmental performance and strive hard to
reduce the negative impacts on the environment.

For the hotel hospitality business, the Group
is committed to driving sustainability among
the local community by regularly attending the
monthly meetings with Niseko Town & Hotel
Association to support the Niseko Eco-Model City
Action Plan and to discuss environmental issues
with the Niseko Environmental Division.

For the trading and distribution of liguor and
wine business in the PRC, the operation is office-
based and no manufacture activity is involved. As
the electricity expenses and water consumption
charges are included in office rental expense
paid to the landlord of the PRC office, the PRC
electricity usage data and water consumption data
cannot be recorded and available this year.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly
complied with all relevant environmental laws
and regulations in Hong Kong and was not aware
of any non-compliance of laws and regulations
that could have significant impacts on the Group
relating to air pollutants and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, or
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes, including but not limited to the followings:

o Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311
of the Laws of Hong Kong);

o Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

o The Basic Environmental Law (BEL) of Japan
(Law N0.91 of 1993);

e  The Air Pollution Control Act of Japan (Act
N0.97 of 1968);

e The Waste Management and Public
Cleansing Act of Japan (Law No. 137 of 1970),
and

o The Water Pollution Prevention Act of Japan
(Act N0.138 of 1970)

Air Pollutants Emission

Effective control of air pollutant emissions is
indispensable for minimizing ecological harm
and ensuring employee safety. The Group strictly
complied with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and The
Air Pollution Control Act of Japan during the year.
For money lending and investment business,
the operation is mainly office-based and it is not
involved in the combustion of stationary sources.
For the trading and distribution of liquor and wine
business in the PRC, there is no air pollution as
no vehicle use is involved in daily operation. For
the hotel hospitality business, the air pollutants
emitted are mainly generated from the diesel and
gasoline consumed by business vehicles, such as
tour buses and private cars, electricity purchased
from the grid, as well as heavy oil and kerosene
for the hot spring operation and bathroom water
heating in hotel guest rooms. Despite of it, the
Group encourages employees to adopt alternative
communication means, such as telephone
conferences and video conferences, in order
to reduce air pollutants emission arising from
additional traffic.
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The decrease in air pollutant emissions in 2025 —EREERS ’“«F@TﬁFEﬁ(;ﬁ%
was mainly attributable to the decreased fuel ’J‘TJ FEHRRBE T _NFH
usage in the hotel operation resulted from the BEER AT EURD éﬁ(
decrease in the number of hotel guest nights, as TE/@JE%@E’JJ@‘HFH BRI o
compared with 2024. Furthermore, the Group Sh AEEMNBRERR-ZE=C
targets to reduce the emission of air pollutants by FH] H%Eﬁﬁm%?#ﬁ&;/}ﬁk D H#)
around 5% by 2032, using 2022 as the base year. 5% (A —Z - —FEREEFE) o
During the Reporting Period, the air pollutants RBERRE - =R LN E
emission was as follows: R
Money
lending & Hotel
investment  hospitality
Air Pollutants i business business
BER
ERIEEN REXK BERGER
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) kg - 6,816.39 6,816.39 7,517.10
Z&{kHNO) TR
Sulphur dioxides (SO,) kg - 12,751.78 12,751.78 14,263.11
Z&1Hi(S0) TR
Particulate matter (PM) kg - 439.24 439.24 494.06
L) (PM) TR
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

The Group recognises that climate change
is gradually concerned by the community as
it affects our daily life and poses a risk to its
business. Hence, the Group is committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and
protecting the health of employees. For money
lending and investment business, electricity
accounts for their GHG indirect emission during
the office operation. For hotel hospitality business,
the diesel and gasoline consumed by business
vehicles, such as tour buses and private cars, as
well as heavy oil and kerosene for the hot spring
operation and bathroom water heating in hotel
guest rooms contribute to GHG scope 1 emission.
The electricity purchased from the grid for hotel
guest rooms accounts for the GHG scope 2
indirect emission in Japan. In an effort to minimise
the carbon footprint, the Group is devoted to
maintaining an efficient and effective use of
resources by adopting energy-saving initiatives
which will be further elaborated in the section
“Use of Resources” of this Report. The decrease
in GHG emissions in 2025 was mainly attributable
to the decreased fuel usage in the hotel operation
resulted from the decrease in the number of
hotel guest nights, as compared with 2024.
Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce the GHG
emission by around 5% by 2032, using 2022 as the
base year.
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During the Reporting Period, the GHG emission
was as follows:

R¥mEHE - B=E

REBEMEN

Money
lending &
investment  hospitality
GHG Emission’ business business
AR
BERBHNE REXK EERGER
Scope 12 tonnes of CO,-¢ S 684.26 684.26 755.41
/812 B-f(tHEE
Scope 28 tonnes of CO,-¢ 5.22 451.28 456.50 454.58
#E B-E(tHEE
Scope 3* tonnes of CO,-¢ - - - 13.93
#BE B-ftHEE
Emissions reduced by tonnes of CO,-¢ = (0.23) (0.23) 023
planting trees
BREERSCHNE WM_AREE
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO,-¢ 5.22 1,135.31 1,140.53 1,223.69
mEREHNEE WA=
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO,-¢/ N/A 0.08 N/A N/A
equivalent i@ A iE A TiE A
guest night ®
BERBHRRE B_Rf{iREE
ERXAERHEES
GHG emission intensity ~ tonnes of CO,-¢/ 0.75 N/A N/A N/A
HK employee il iE A i AR
BERBHRZE BBk EE
BAEEER

BEREHRENENEANAEREZEEN L
ES-E ik Ul

BET: BEVRERBINEEANSEREE LA
Rz BBEGRORRAER R

HE2: BEVRERBINEEAEBEERZCH

' The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the “Corporate '
Accounting and Reporting Standard” from GHG protocol.

2 Scope 1: Scope 1 GHG emissions include fuel used by the Group’s B
business vehicle fleet in Hong Kong and Japan, as well as the hot spring.

3 Scope 2: Scope 2 GHG emissions include purchased electricity consumed B

by the Group. BEN -
4 Scope 3: Scope 3 GHG emissions include business air travel, the ¢ #HEI: BEIAZREHFRNEEFERIELEIR - 48
relevant GHG emissions are calculated by the International Civil Aviation R EREBENE B RMAEL ([1CA0L) BRBEMR

e -
BEAE RS R IEAREHEEEALRIVEE
2 BB -

Organisation (“ICAQ") Carbon Emissions Calculator.
> Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in ~ *
our hotel during the Reporting Period.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group acknowledges that waste management
is among the material areas in environmental
protection, and it also recognizes the significance
of reducing waste. To keep the volume of waste
produced and its effect on the environment to a
minimum, relevant waste management measures
have been introduced and executed by the Group.
With our business nature, no hazardous waste is
generated or discharged during office and hotel
operations. The Group strictly complied with the
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and The Waste Management and Public Cleansing
Act of Japan during the year.

For money lending and investment business, the
major source of their non-hazardous waste is
the general office waste consisting of paper and
plastic waste, which is considered as insignificant
to the Group’s business. For the trading and
distribution of liquor and wine business in the
PRC, the office waste generated is considered
immaterial to the Group. No waste was recorded
during the year. The PRC office will try its best to
develop a proper waste data recording system in
the coming year. For hotel hospitality business,
the non-hazardous waste includes paper and
cardboard, plastics, metals, glass and disposable
room amenities and linens. The Group endeavours
to reduce the amount of waste and strengthen
the environmental awareness of the employees.
The Group ensures all the wastes generated are
properly collected and handled by the property
management company. The Group will plan to
establish an effective non-hazardous waste data
collection system to record the waste amount in
the future.
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To minimize waste production, we encourage
our employees to use reusable cups and bowls
in the workplace, to reduce the consumption
of disposable containers, ultimately decreasing
waste and mitigating harm to the environment. We
recycle every printer toner cartridge, rechargeable
battery, and CD-ROM disc, as well as encourage
proper sorting of recyclable materials including
waste paper, metals, and plastic. Moreover, we
encourage duplex printing for most of the printing
jobs in our office to avoid paper overuse. We pre-
set the fax machine to convert incoming messages
to electronic files and transfer them directly to the
server to avoid bulk printing of promotional copies.
Single-sided paper, envelopes, and the backside of
letter pads are also reused to the greatest extent.

Our hotel operation strictly complied with the
Water Pollution Prevention Act of Japan during
the year. Supporting the Niseko Eco-Model City
Action Plan, the Group has installed a sludge
circulation filtration system, which treats domestic
wastewater generated by the hotel operations by
sedimentation and filtration, before discharging
into the municipal sewage network of Niseko
Town. Sludge generated by the treatment system
is collected annually by the authorised vendor for
further treatment. During the Reporting Period,
38.4 m?® (2024: 36.1 m®) sludge was collected
through the system.
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The decrease in the amount of non-hazardous =% _ﬁiﬁﬁfkizﬁ%@%g
waste generated in 2025 was mainly due to the WA TDHERBE T —MF R
decreased hotel operation resulted from the b BEERAEBRERL B
decrease in the number of hotel guest nights, as FEREEERD - BN AEE
compared with 2024. Furthermore, the Group MEBEZEAR -_SE=Z_FRIBME
targets to reduce the non-hazardous waste EZEEREMBADA5% (AZE
generation by around 5% in 2032, using 2022 as “FEREEFE) o
the base year.
During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous RBERE  AEEEENES
wastes generated by the Group was as follows: BEMIIAT -
Money
lending & Hotel
Non-hazardous investment  hospitality
waste generated i business business
BER
FEEZEEEY Efy REXR BEERESER
Non-hazardous waste generated ~ Kg 11.00 29,600.00 ~ 29,611.00 30,974.00
FEEZ BEEY) T
Non-hazardous waste disposed  Kg - 2525000 ~ 25,250.00 26,350.00
FIRE 2 EEEY) T
Non-hazardous waste recycled Kg - 4,350.00 4,350.00 4,615.00
Bz EEREY) TR
Non-hazardous waste Kg/equivalent N/A 2.29 N/A N/A
generated intensity guest nightt TER ~ER MER
EEZBZEENEE Tr/BEAL
BHEE
Non-hazardous waste Kg/HK employee 1.57 N/A N/A N/A
generated intensity NEA ~ER MER
EAZBEENEE Tr/E%EE

¢ Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in =~ ¢ EEATBRHBEERA RS HBEZATHKIVEE
our hotel during the Reporting Period. L HRRREL o
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A2. Use of Resources A2. EREH

The Group strives to take all feasible measures
to incorporate sustainability into its business
operations and improve its environmental
performance. Realising that resource conservation
is crucial for maintaining environmental
sustainability, we promote green office
management and encourage our employees to
be aware of the need for resource conservation
in daily operations. We pledge to reduce resource
consumption and carbon footprint in all our
businesses and operations through the application
of several actions and practices. Energy and
water are our primary resources, and we strive to
minimize their usage. Notably, we do not use any
packaging materials during our operations.

Energy

The energy consumption of the Group mainly
comes from purchased electricity for our hotel
operation, the diesel, and gasoline consumed by
business vehicles, such as tour buses and private
cars, as well as heavy oil and kerosene for the hot
spring operation and bathroom water heating in
hotel guest rooms. The PRC electricity usage data
cannot be recorded and available this year as the
electricity expense is included in the office rental
expense paid to the landlord of the PRC office.
To reduce the energy consumption, the Group
advocated various energy conservation strategies
as follows:

o Installed hot water pipes for hotel guest
room heating purpose

o Double-glazed windows that reduce the
absorption of heat through the outer layers
of the building while still keeping high levels
of natural light
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o Chiller system that contains automatic
temperature management function to
improve energy efficiency

o Gradually replacing light bulbs with light-
emitting diode (“LED") bulbs

o Used daylight whenever possible to save
electricity used for lighting

o Switched off all electronic appliances when
they are not in use

o Used energy-saving light bulbs to reduce
power consumption

o Given a choice whether to change the bed
linen daily as a part of our environmental
responsibilities for energy saving from
washing machine uses

Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce total
energy consumption by 5% in 2032, using 2022 as
the base year.
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During the Reporting Period, the energy REEMME - ERBFENT :
consumption was as follows:

Money
lending & Hotel
investment  hospitality

Energy consumption business business
HER
RERE# E REXK BEERBEHR

Indirect energy

AR
Purchased electricity MWh 791 846.68 854.59 850.67
EREES KEL B
Direct energy
ERE#ER
Kerosene MWh - 357.21 357.21 359.16
jc8: KEE
Diesel MWh - 38.32 38.32 48.08
5 KEE
Heavy ol MWh - 1,779.60 1,779.60 2,022.63
=g KEE
Unleaded petrol MWh - 90.09 90.09 61.69
P K ELBE
Total energy consumption MWh 791 3,111.90 3,119.81 3,342.23
EREREAE KELBF
Energy consumption intensity MWh/equivalent N/A 0.24 N/A N/A
guest night’ NEA ~ER MER
EREREE kEE/ER
AEBREEE’
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK 1.13 N/A N/A N/A
employee NEFE TEH PEA
EREREE kEE
AEEE

7 Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in =~ 7 EBEEAETBRHEERRBEHHEZAEHRFEE
our hotel during the Reporting Period. L RRREN o
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In April 2025, the Group installed 10 air
conditioners at its hotel located in Japan. Notably,
Japan recorded a relatively higher average
temperature during the summer months of
2025 compared to the same period in 2024;
the temperature increase led to more frequent
use of air conditioners in the hotel’s day-to-day
operations. Despite a decrease in the total number
of hotel guest nights for the period, the hotel’s
purchased electricity consumption only recorded
a minor drop.

Throughout the Year, the hotel also installed 57
kerosene-burning stoves in its guest rooms. Each
room is equipped with an independent control
system for operating its respective stove and
adjusting the temperature, meaning the hotel
does not have direct oversight or control over the
extent of stove utilization by guests. Consequently,
similar to the electricity consumption trend, the
hotel’s kerosene consumption only experienced
a minor drop — even with fewer total hotel guest
nights. In addition, the Group increased the use
of unleaded petrol vehicles during the Year,
which directly resulted in a rise in unleaded petrol
consumption.
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Water

Water is another critical resource utilized by
the Group. The water supply for the Group’s
operations is provided by the Water Supplies
Department. However, for the money lending
and investment business, the office water supply
is solely controlled by the building management
company. In this case, it is not feasible to record
the water consumption data specifically for the
office operations, as there is no separate sub-
meter installed.

To reduce water consumption, the Group has
taken measures to strengthen water-saving
awareness among employees. The Group sends
out emails and posts signs to remind employees
to conserve water. Additionally, in the Group’s
hotel operations, the Group offers guests the
option to forgo daily bed linen changes as part
of its environmental responsibility efforts, which
helps reduce water consumption from laundry
operations.

Unfortunately, the water consumption data for the
Group's PRC offices cannot be recorded this year,
as the water charges are included in the overall
office rental expense paid to the landlord. Overall,
the Group did not encounter any water supply
issues during the Year, and we are committed to
responsible water management. We continues
to explore ways to optimize water consumption
across its various business operations.

The Group has installed a spring water circulation
system at its Niseko Moiwa-Mountain Natural Hot
Springs facility. This system utilizes natural spring
water to operate the spa center, reducing the
reliance on freshwater supplied by the local water
utility network. To maintain the water quality in
accordance with the Niseko Hygiene Management
Office Standards, the Group adds fresh water and
chlorine to the spring water circulating through
the system.
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The wastewater generated from the Group's
various operations is primarily municipal
wastewater. The effluent is promptly discharged
into the local sewage pipeline network, where
it undergoes further treatment by the local
drainage services department. As a result, the
Group’s wastewater discharge has a minimal
environmental impact.

By implementing the spring water circulation
system and properly managing the wastewater
discharge, the Group demonstrates its
commitment to sustainable water resource
management and minimizing the environmental
footprint of its operations.

The decrease in water consumption in 2025 was
mainly due to the decreased hotel operation for
the decrease in the number of hotel guest nights,
as compared with 2024. The Group targets to
reduce water consumption by around 5% by 2032,
using 2022 as the base year.

During the Reporting Period, the total water
consumption was as follows:

AEBBREBEL CBEBKEIER
WI57K o S5 AR ERBEAE 2
5/KE M I R B K AR AP
FIE—F R - Bt - XEBEZ
FEKBEIER 2 IRIBFEEIR -

ERERRKBREAGLZEE
BREEKEEN  ARERTTHS
ARERKEREEREERD
SEWRRTE 2

—E_RAERKERLTDIEE
HERBE-T - pOEMEE - BE
ERAEBREBR L BEEEE
ERL AEEBMNBEZEANR_-Z
= FRIBRERKEEINL 5% (LA
T FEREEFE) o

R - BT

Money
lending & Hotel
investment  hospitality 2025
Water Consumption business business Total
HER —EC-EE
¥kE E REER BEEREGER @t
Water Consumption ms3 N/A 18,383.60 18,383.60 23,112.71
FEKE TR NERA
Water consumption intensity md/equivalent N/A 142 1.42 1.45
guest night?
RKEE FTHR/EEANE TERA
BEUEE

& Equivalent guest night was the total number of nights that guests stayed in =~ ¢ BRAFBRHESENREFHBEZALEE 242
our hotel during the Reporting Period. M o
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A3.

A4.

The Environment and Natural
Resources

In terms of the Group’s business activities,
we have not observed any significant impact
on the environment or natural resources. By
implementing green office and hotel practices to
reduce air pollutants, greenhouse gas emissions,
waste generation, and resource consumption, the
Group is committed to improving environmental
sustainability and minimizing its impact on the
environment.

Climate Change

Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based
on the nature of the risk to our operations. The
physical impacts of climate change, including
extreme weather events, or damage to facilities
have immediate operational impacts and are
treated as operational risks. Long-term challenges,
such as emerging ESG issues and climate-related
risks and opportunities, may be discussed by the
ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly
during board meetings and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

In order to ensure that our Board stays abreast of
the latest trends in climate-related issues, we will
provide climate competence training to ensure
that they have the necessary expertise and skills
to oversee the management of such issues.
Our Board also seeks professional advice from
external experts when necessary to better support
the decision-making process.

A3.

A4.
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The company’s ESG Working Group provides
effective governance for integrating and
addressing ESG issues, including climate change,
across the business. The ESG Working Group
is responsible for approving the company’s
operational emissions reduction targets, and it also
commissions ESG benchmarking and gap analysis
exercises to identify areas for improvement in ESG
disclosure and policy, in comparison to industry
best practices. Moreover, the ESG Working
Group works closely with the company’s various
operational departments to develop consistent and
enhanced approaches for managing ESG-related
risks, and it regularly reports to the company’s
management on the progress and outcomes of
the ESG initiatives. By establishing this dedicated
ESG Working Group, the company has put in
place a structured governance framework to drive
the integration of sustainability considerations
throughout the organization. This helps ensure
the company is proactively identifying, addressing,
and continuously improving its ESG performance
in alignment with best practice standards.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk
profile through its role in increasing the frequency
and intensity of certain diseases, and the health
and mortality impacts resulting from natural
disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by
taking into consideration a range of diverse risk
factors across the many categories in our services
range. This diversity of risk is combined with our
business strategy and broad geographic footprint
helps us mitigate risk and provide protection
against the impacts of short-term climate change
effects.

Our services continue to provide protection for
people in our communities against weather and
heat-related diseases. Besides, we plan to explore
opportunities to engage our business partners
and encourage them to develop climate resilience
and reduce their operational carbon footprint by
taking into consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario”
through the following steps:
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Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is
a possibility that the industry will be exposed
to substantial changes, such as stricter policies
including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology
and changes in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on
the International Energy Agency (“IEA") scenarios
and others, we developed multiple future images
of 2025 as the external environment that will
surround our Group. With regard to the IEA
scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C scenario and
pictured future images in case where climate
change measures do not progress and where such
measures progress further Beyond 2°C scenario.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each
of the future images developed in Step 1. We
believe that in such a society, it will be possible to
expand carbon dioxide emission reduction effects.

With regard to the effects on our Group’'s
procurement, office operation, and hotel
operation, the introduction of an increase in
carbon pricing is anticipated following the global
advance of climate change measures, leading
to the possibility of higher procurement, office
operation, and hotel operation costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate
change measures are not adequate throughout
society, business operation interruptions and
supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as
a result of higher frequency and intensification of
natural disasters such as typhoon and flooding.
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Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Moving forward, our Group will initiate efforts
to promote less reliance on non-renewable
energy within our office and hotel operations.
This strategy will allow for flexible and strategic
responses to each demand for the regions where
the emission factors of purchased electricity
consumptions are high. By promoting real carbon
emissions reductions throughout the world
through comprehensive energy-saving policies
and introduction of renewable energy, we are
working to achieve zero carbon emission in our
business.

With respect to renewable energy in particular, we
have set a target; to achieve a 5% reduction rate
for purchased electricity and fuel consumption
by 2032, using 2022 as the base year. Concerning
the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group's strategies, we believe that
we will have opportunities for stable funding and
sustainable increases in corporate value through
appropriate information disclosure, and dialogue
with institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related
risks or to test the existing risk management
strategies under climate change with the aid of
risk assessment. Hence, the areas where new
strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information
and expert knowledge, which can identify how
climate change may compound existing risks
or create new ones. The risk assessment is
conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

o Objective/goal

o Scale

e  Time frame

o Climate change scenario for most climate
variables and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and

current)

o Identify the record of occurrence of climatic
hazard in the past in the area

o Risk management strategies in place to
tackle future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

o Explore climate change projections for
the selected time frame(s) and emission
scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

o Investigate whether any existing risk from
Step 2 may get worse under future projected
changes

o Identify new risks that can emerge under
future projected changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

o Identify a set of decision areas or systems
(i.e. geographical areas, business operation,
assets, ecosystems, etc.) that has the
potential to be at risk in future
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As outlined in the “Governance section of Section
A4. Climate Change” above, the Group has
robust risk management and business planning
processes that are overseen by the board of
directors in order to identify, assess and manage
climate-related risks. The Group engages with
government and other appropriate organizations
in order to keep abreast of expected and potential
regulatory and/or fiscal changes.

We continue to enhance awareness of climate
change, with a specific focus on monitoring
carbon and energy footprints in our day-to-
day operations. However, there remains gaps
in understanding how such climate risks and
opportunities may impact our operations, assets
and profits. Our Group assesses how the business
addresses climate change risks and opportunities
and takes the initiative to monitor and reduce their
environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the Reporting Period, the significant
climate-related physical risks and transition risks,
which have impacted and/or may impact our
Group’s business and strategy in (i) operations,
products and services, (ii) supply chain and value
chain, (i) adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv)
investment in research and development, and (v)
financial planning, as well as the steps taken to
manage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description

Financial impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

REEZZRERMRNNERE

RARAEEE R A MR E
Physical Risk

BRER

Acute physical risks

B B 1 B PR L B

e Climate change can lead to more
frequent extreme weather. Super
typhoon may be an extreme weather
in Hong Kong. It can cause serious
impacts on the office and hotel
infrastructure. Office and hotel
windows may be broken due to
heavy wind and rain. The Group'’s
equipment, documents, systems,
back up storage may be destroyed as
a result of typhoon.

e QOperating cost and
maintenance cost
increase.
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¢ Office and hotel will take sufficient
and necessary measures when
there is an announcement of
typhoon. All documents will be
stored in a proper manner and
kept away from the window.
Additionally, the electronic
version of the documents will
also be saved for backup. The
backup will be kept by the senior
management and stored in
centralised backup of internal
network.

e The Group will provide safety
training for employees to enhance
their safety awareness and
formulate contingency plan to
ensure a timely response during
an emergency.
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Climate-related risks description Financial impact Steps taken to manage the risks

SR A% A B8 B Y 3 MEIE REEZZRERMRNNERE

Chronic physical risks
18 1 B R E B
e Prolonged hot weather may e Operating costincrease. e The Group has implemented
increase the energy consumption. lighting zone control and adopted
As electricity supply is crucial for efficient lamps in the office and
running a business, a surge of hotel.
energy consumption may lead to fuel
shortage, resulting in shortage of e By posting energy-saving
electricity supply notices, employees are reminded
to switch off the electrical
appliances when they are not in
use.

e Room temperature is maintained
at an energy-efficient level of 25
degrees Celsius. The Group has
implemented lighting zone control
and adopted efficient lamps in the
office and hotel.

e By posting energy-saving
notices, employees are reminded
to switch off the electrical
appliances when they are not in
use.

e Room temperature is maintained
at an energy-efficient level of 25
degrees Celsius
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Climate-related risks description

Financial impact

SR A% A B8 B Y 3 MEE

Steps taken to manage the risks
REBZZERBMRNNEE

Transitional Risk

BERE

Policy risk

ﬁ%mﬁ
Mandates on and regulation e Operating costincreases
of existing services. If there for high compliance costs
is a restriction on logging for and increased insurance
environmental protection purposes premiums for the Group.
imposed by relevant governments,
the supply of wood will be affected,
hence, affecting the supply of paper
and other natural resources.

Furthermore, there may also be a
restriction on fossil fuel and electricity
use. As their supply may be limited and
controlled by the government.

Hotel guests and staff in our office will

be affected correspondingly.

e HRARBIWEERRE - WiEH o XEEARKESE IR
BRFHRERRERE OB ERKR S B2 BREENNE
BerERMER EMTEHRK e
REMBABIROEIE o

ghoh - R B R R E S R4 FE ]
BEXEHFORGI REE  ZFER
B {E AN AT REZ BIBR # o

HEER R

NEBTHIERE

ot
XA
o
R
IfE
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Monitor the updates of the
relevant climate-related
environmental policies, to avoid
the unnecessary increase in
cost and expenditure due to the
violation of the climate-related
environmental policies.

Monitor the regulatory trends
and ensure the Group's operation
complies with relevant ESG
requirements.

Identify areas of improvement
on ESG and implement relevant
measures if applicable.

B ARRIERBRRRERN X
B BREERRAGEEER
BEREMBHAVEXR R
0
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Climate-related risks description

RARAEEE R A
Legal risk
EERR

Exposure to litigation. We have to
adapt to the tightened laws and
regulations issued by the government
due to climate change. We may have
the risk of litigation once we fail to
comply with the new laws.

Stringent ESG reporting mandates
may necessitate a significant time
investment from the Group to meet
the heightened standards set forth by
the new requirements.

AR R o PR E BT AR
MM EED ROER  —BR

eETENAR - Rl EERFAARR -

BRORR HEREARERTE
AEFEAEERARNERE N

??é}%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%zﬂjEﬁ?irnir*f°

Technology risk
F 1l LB

More low carbon energy-saving
material and energy saving
technologies are developed, the
capital investment and research
and development expense increase
consequently.

More green building strategies
with low-carbon, energy-saving
technologies are adopted by industry
peers. Lagging behind may weaken
our competitive edges.

i 2% 5B 2R HRER RE A KL Sk B g i
EMTEESRASIEF S AREIEM -

[ 3% 5% BB % {8 PR (K Bik N 5 E Al
R AR B SRR IS - SRR AT RE & HI 55
B HEFES -

Financial impact
METE

Operating cost increases
for high compliance costs
and increased insurance
premiums for the Group.

AEEERRARREIE
e BEEERAEM -

Upgrading office and
hotel supplies with low-
carbon and energy-
saving technologies may
involve higher investment
costs and research and
development expense.

BN = RBE AR AR
150 B AR K B e B T 9
FAon AT BE B BN B AR |
BEE & R -

Steps taken to manage the risks

REEZZRERMRNNERE

e Monitor the updates of the
relevant climate-related
environmental laws by checking
against the service and
procurement agreement terms, as
well as reviewing internal policies
and procedures on climate
change issues. This aims to avoid
unnecessary and unexpected
increases in cost and expenditure
due to non-compliance.

o BT IR R 5% R A
K2 BE AR R 2 HEE K A AR
RN - BEREABRIKAH
REBABNEHER - WBEH
MERATERBRMER LR
KB IMO B AR B B S g 0 o

e Examined the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
low-carbon and energy-saving
technologies into our operation.

. %EEA%LQJJE}EHH—% AR fix K BB
BRI H AT 1T 1 R A o
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Climate-related risks description Financial impact Steps taken to manage the risks
1% 40 BA L B Y i ot g3 2 REEZEARMERNANER
Market risk
™ i5 B
e More customers are considering e Revenue decreases for e Tightened the control of the
climate-related risks and the change in customers’ climate-related environmental
opportunities, which may lead to preferences. pollution in daily business
changes in customers’ demand for operation.
services. e Procurement cost
increases as abrupt and e Planned to carry out study of the
e Loss of clients due to poor unexpected shifts in application of recycled materials
environmental condition of the hotel. market price of office and and lower-emission energy
hotel supplies. sources.
e Shift in consumer preference
jeopardizes the viability of certain
business models.
e Increased cost of office and hotel
supplies. More environmentally
friendly office and hotel supplies may
be much more expensive, which may
increase the operating cost.
s FLRPHARGHEERBLEKSE: o 8

FlRESBETRGER o AT SETMBHRRBHER

> BISRIER -

~

\S

AL HEPHRBNBRBARE -

e MBERBMAREMARES - o KERAARLAZREE o FERREEERMEREHER
AR MEERRARE BEIRIE FARTE o
e HEERUNEBESYELETEKE SNEEED T I AN ©
AT ITME o

o WNTE REIE A MBI ARE I - 8

i&ﬁ‘(ﬁ’]#ﬂ#/—\ﬁ JBIE A2 B
BEIEESD  HGWMEENRA -
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Climate-related risks description

ol

15 45 8 o B Y 48 2

Reputational risk

1‘%

EE R

Unable to fulfil the expectations of
the customers which may lead to
potential damage to the Group’s
reputation and image.

Stigmatisation of our business sector,
such as more stakeholder concern
or negative stakeholder feedback
on our business operation, in a less
environmentally friendly way.

Fail to meet the social expectation on
the Group's ESG performance may
negatively affect our reputation and
result in loss of potential customers.

BErmEEPNMER G EH AL
BEELRTRXE -

FEHEMNEKEHET LSS - flwn
BOHEUBRTRANEEIANE
BNESFHEHEHLENEER
[REELE N

BAMELEHARERE HE
RERKRROME - Al gt g ¥, M
MEBERBETENAREEERE
BEERK -

Financial impact
METE

Revenue decreases
from the drop in income
as a result of reduced
customers.

Operating cost increases
from negative impacts on
workforce management
and planning.

BAREFRLMAEMRT
B - BT D o

BANEERRENEE
FEGIBMNEEMRA -

Steps taken to manage the risks
REBZZERBMRNNEE

Planned to support and participate
in the activities that are related
to environmental protection, and
conservation.

Planned to select suppliers who
carry out relevant policies to
protect the environment.

Disclose ESG information through
the annual ESG report.

Planned to maintain a close
relationship with major
stakeholders to ensure timely
response to their inquiries
regarding the Group's ESG
performance.
FEXFR2ERRRERRE
HEEE -

At ELE BRITHBABCRARER
SRR o

BERFERE HENERRE
RERE G NREREM -

AEEIERNERBEEH
17 AHER KA [ R EH AL
BIRE - LB REARRNEN
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Furthermore, the significant climate-related o - R EHE - ARENE
opportunities and associated financial impacts on RRIGAEAKE KRR G2
our Group during the Reporting Period were as (N

follows:

Detailed description of

climate-related opportunities Financial Impact
FARAE BAHE 1B A9 =F A 4 g 32

Resource efficiency

e Reduce paper usage e Operating cost reduces through efficiency
gains and cost reductions

e Reduce water and energy consumption

BRME
o AR o HEBIRME K EIE K AEE EEX A

o B MKKREERIBRE

Energy source
e Use of lower-emission sources of energy e Operating cost is reduced through the use of
lowest-cost abatement
e Use of supportive policy incentives
e Returns on investment in low-emission

e Use of new technologies technology increases

R

o {ERAEBEMEEIR o 33 iR (5 PR S AR AN R Bk P K & B B AN
o IRAIREBUR ZENEIE o IEHMEHE BT 89 1% & B

o {EMF ;M

Products and services
e Development of climate adaptation and e Revenue increases through new solutions
insurance risk solutions to adaptation needs, such as insurance risk

transfer of products and services

o Ability to diversify business activities

EmkRE

o Il TE RUR I FE K AR B R B AR R T 2R o FEIAEEFTERMFTRRAT R (WE M MRE
R R ER) R A K

o b EKIEEHIBE

Markets

e Access to new markets e Revenue increases through access to new
and emerging markets

iE

o EAFTH IS o FEIRME AT E IS IE 1S

96 DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2025



Detailed description of

climate-related opportunities
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Financial Impact

SRR AR B3R A0 = A 4

Resilience

e Participation in renewable energy programs e

and adoption of energy-efficiency
measures

e Resource substitution or diversification

e

o 2MABARIRE KREENRERE .

s BERBERHZ T

Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and
manage climate-related risks and opportunities.
The energy consumption and greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions indicators are the key metrics
used to assess and manage relevant climate-
related risks where we consider such information
is material and crucial for evaluating the impact
of our operation on global climate change during
the year. Our group consistently monitors our
energy consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions indicators to evaluate the effectiveness
of emission reduction initiatives and establish
targets to minimize our impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target
applies and base year from which progress
is measured are described in the Section A1:
"Emissions” and Section A2: “Use of Resources”
of this Report. Our Group adopts absolute target
to manage climate-related risks, opportunities and
performance.

mBTE

Market valuation increases through
resilience planning, such as planning of the
research in the use of renewable energy
sources

Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increases

Revenue increases through new products
and services related to ensuring resiliency

FEEIERE (R FTER A BAERIR)
’AMISME

36 4 1 5 0 T M TR E T R4 T

FERE
125 18 5 I8 ) AR R ) T S am S AR 755 38 A0 Mk

EEREBRE
AREERABREZAFTERE
3 SR MR AR R LB B B o 11 T AP
RABEBEERMRFEBRAEZER
RERNH 2R IERBICOFZEM
SEEANER  BERERHE
FESOREREBHIMIE R BRI
F U REREARIREA
R o REBREERERER
R % RS E R R DA ST R BE
BiEn R YREBBEAEE
RS 2 REEACH R E -

BB RERNSRANGES
HERNEEFFBHAN KR
TEMEE  [HERY] REA2
BE G [EREMR]DE - NEE
RMEEEFRNEEREARR

b2 B LRI -
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR
PRACTICES

B1. Employment

The Group recognizes employees as important,
valuable assets that are integral to its success.
We strive to deliver a safe and healthy working
environment for our staff, protect their rights
and well-being, and provide them with optimal
pathways for development and training
support. The commitment is incorporated into
staff handbook and other human resources
management policies. Our staff handbook covers
the Group’s policies in respect of compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods and other benefits and
welfare.

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

The Group prioritises the rights and benefits of its
employees. We believe well-being of employees
is correlated to their productivity and sense of
belonging to the Company. We strive to move
forward with high labour standards, respect
human rights and minimise the staff turnover rate.

The Group strictly complies with applicable local
regulations, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485),
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480), the
Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602)
of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, the
Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the right and the
obligation to work (Art. 27 para.1) of Japan, a ban
on child labour (Art. 27 para. 3) of Japan, and the
freedom of workers’ association — the worker’s
right to organize, to bargain and to act collectively
(Art. 28) of Japan to ensure fair remuneration
and benefits for our employees. We provide
remuneration for our employees according to
their qualifications, experience, performance, job
duties, and service years as well as to the market
benchmark. We review performance appraisals
on an annual basis to ensure our remuneration
practices are competitive and aligned with market
rates. In addition to salary, we provide mandatory
provident funds, allowances, medical benefits,
and variable incentive-based remuneration such
as discretionary bonuses to our employees.
Employees are also entitled to various types of
leave including annual leave, paid sick leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, compassionate
leave, etc.
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Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-
discrimination

The Group strives to construct a diverse and
inclusive workplace where all our employees
are treated with dignity and respect. We strongly
oppose to all discriminatory behaviour against
any individual on their gender, age, nationality,
race, colour, disability, creed, religion, sexual
orientation, marital status or family status. The
principle of equal opportunities is applied in
all employment practices, including but not
limited to recruitment, promotion, and transfer,
work allocation, benefits and training and
development. During the Reporting Period, there
were no instances of non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to employment and labour

practices in Hong Kong, the PRC and Japan.

Employee Composition

The employee compositions by gender, age group
and geographical region, employment type and
employment mode at the end of the Reporting

Period were as follows:
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AR - RERLRERERN
E oz EEAKMT

Employee composition

By gender & B8l

e Male e %

e Female o It

By age group RERAERN S D
e Age 30 or below e 30BRIMAT
e Age31-40 o 31E40B%

e Age41-50 o A1E508%

e Age 51 orabove e S5TpREIA L
By geographical region ZinEE 5

e Hong Kong o HE

e Japan o HAR

e PRC o I

By employment type &Eﬂ%ﬁi_ﬂ

e Senior management SRERE
e Middle management s TREIRE
e General staff e E@WMET

e Contract/short-term staff o AKX /REET
By employment mode REREX &5
e Full-time staff e ZRET

e Part-time staff e FBET

24 25
12 16
15 12
6 8
5 8
10 13
7 8
27 32
2 1
9 8
5 5
12 15
12 13
24 28
12 13
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The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age
group, geographical region during the Reporting
Period was as follows:

Employee turnover rate EERAE

By gender M RIE o

e Male o S

e Female o Mt

By age group RERER & 2
e 30 years old or below e 30BRIIMAT
e 31-40vears old o 31ZE408%

e 41-50 years old o A ZES0BR

e 51 yearsold or above e S51BREIA L
By geographical region ZivEE 5

e Hong Kong o HE

e Japan e HAR

e PRC o
Overall “@Et

B2. Health and Safety

The Group provides its employees with a safe and
healthy working environment. We ensure that our
daily operations are compliant with all applicable
rules, to minimise and protect employees from any
occupational health and safety hazards that may
cause risks. We strictly comply with the rules and
guidelines stipulated in the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance by the Labour Department
in Hong Kong Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance (Cap. 509) in Hong Kong, the Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the
PRC, Industrial Safety and Health Act (Act No.
57 of 1972) of Japan and the Industrial Accident
Compensation Insurance Act (Act No. 50 of 1947)
of Japan.
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83% 132%
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0% 200%

40% 113%

10% 62%
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Safe and Hygienic Workplace

The Company furnishes its employees with
a comprehensive set of directives aimed at
cultivating a safe and nurturing work environment
for all staff members. Our commitment includes
offering medical benefits, enforcing no-smoking
policies in designated areas, and strictly
prohibiting the introduction of explosives or
illicit substances without prior authorization.
Additionally, we disseminate internal memos to
reinforce occupational health and safety protocols
among our workforce.

Demonstrating a genuine concern for both the
physical and mental well-being of our employees,
we engage in frequent interviews to identify and
address any employee apprehensions, alongside
conducting regular surveys to better understand
their needs. To further safeguard our employees,
we undertake daily disinfection in hotels and
maintain a schedule of regular disinfection in our
offices. Proactively, we arrange for pandemic
prevention supplies like masks, protective gear,
and disinfectants for our front-line staff.

During the Reporting Period, there was 0 employee
(2024: nil) injured and 0 lost days (2024: nil) due to
work-related injuries. There was no fatality case
during the last 3 years, including the Reporting
Period. Moreover, there was no violation of any
laws and regulations relating to occupational
health or safety in Hong Kong, the PRC or Japan.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group believes development and training
are essential to boosting employees’ capacity
for professional growth. We back our employees
in fulfilling their designated responsibilities, and
assist them in tapping into their potential during
their time of employment. To improve employees’
professional knowledge and skills in discharging
their duties, we provide on-job trainings to our
employees with contents covering occupational
health, corporate governance, etc. Our employees
are funded suitable seminars, aiming to encourage
and support them in pursuing professional
development and continuous learning through
external training.

To uphold our services quality, understand
different case scenario faced by the frontline
staff and timely respond to the views from our
staff, the Group always seeks for improvements
on the trainings by conducting assessment and
collecting feedback of participants. This can help
the Group continuously improve the training
programs covering various aspects offered to all
levels of employees so as to enhance their job
performance.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of
total trained employees was 58% (2024: 56%). The
percentage of employees trained and average
training hours by gender and employment type
was as follows’:

B3. & RiZF

AEBEEEREBIEES
BEEMBXZRENG/EE -
BMXKREREBITASGNEE
BE WHEEEIFFRERE
e RREREEBEITREMNER
AL iere > HPIREERRMGE
BIsdl AERERRER  ©
XBERE -RMEPEEZ2HEA
BRI E  AEBEFES
BBINEIF I ERKERER R
BAEE -

RTHRB-ENRBEER £
FIARE TEH W ARBER - L&
ROEETWER A&B—H
BB ERRELEENREER
FAS KRG DI B BOE © 1B BY
AREETNEHBOE RS R IEB R M
MEBEIEIRE - LNIRSEE
M TR -

RREHE - BXIEEEHLL
F58% (ZZ — VU4 1 56%) ° 1%
MR RERERESHZINEER
B RFHEIRFEM T :

Percentage of Average training hours
employees trained (hours/employee)
ZIHRERESLL FHENGE (DB ER)
2025 2024 2025 2024
Employment category “EZRf | ZEZINE C—E-RF | ZZ@EE
By gender b33 )
* Male o Bt 67% 61% 2.00 1.68
¢ Female o 33% 39% 1.67 1.63
By employment type RERERES
* Senior management s RRERE 24% 9% 2.33 0.63
o Middle management o FREEE 19% 22% 3.67 3.00
o General staff o ERET 57% 52% 3.00 2.40
o Contract/short-termstaff o A#4),/%2HET 0% 17% 0.00 092

¢ The data of last year have been restated to facilitate the comparison of ~ ?

data.
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B4. Labour Standards B4. % T %8|

The Group prohibits engagement of child and
forced labour in compliance with the relevant
laws, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57) of Hong Kong, the Labour
Contract Law of the PRC, the Labor Standards Act
of Japan (Act No. 49 of 1947), and the Employment
Security Act of Japan (Act No. 141 of 1947). We
have implemented a preventive recruitment
procedure with a thorough background check,
to ensure that no underaged or illegal persons
are employed. Furthermore, to prevent unlawful
recruitment of employees under the age of 15 as
child labour, employees are required to provide
identity proofs to Human Resources Department
to verify the age as part of the recruitment
process. All work should be voluntarily performed
and shall not involve forced labour. If any violation
against laws and regulations in relation to labour
standards is found, we will investigate the incident,
impose appropriate penalty to accountable staff
subject to the severity and review any defects in
the human resources system in place. Besides,
the Group does not in any way force its employees
to work overtime. Employees are compensated
in accordance with labour laws and company
practices on overtime compensation in cases
where working outside normal working hours is
inevitable.

During the Reporting Period, there was no
employment of child labour discovered, nor any
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to forced labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
B5. Supply Chain Management

To uphold effective supply chain management
within the Company, the Group has established
a set of guidelines governing the procurement of
goods and services. We expect our suppliers to
share the same values and operate business in
a responsible, fair and honest manner. For office
operation, the Group mainly works with third
party services providers which provide services
such as information technology services, property
management services, advertising service and
legal and consulting services. We also work with
suppliers that supply office equipment, printing
and stationery. For hotel operation, the Group
works closely with a number of suppliers in
providing a range of hospitality goods, including
guestroom consumables, tableware, furniture, and
electrical appliances.

Stringent procedures are applied in the selection
of suppliers. In addition, we maintain a well-
established system to monitor the quality of
suppliers, ensuring that the goods supplied and
services provided are of high standard. The Group
also emphasises on the selection of products
that cause minimal impacts on the environment,
for example, we purchase green cleaning
products and reusable items instead of single-
use disposable ones. To raise awareness and
engage our suppliers to contribute to sustainable
development, we welcome suppliers who
demonstrate their commitment to sustainability.
During the year, the Group had 37 suppliers (2024:
37 suppliers) in Hong Kong and 85 suppliers (2024:
85 suppliers) in Japan.
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B6. Product Responsibility B6. EmEE

Service levels are deemed essential by the Group
because quality service is indispensable factors in
remaining the market position of the Group in the
highly competitive market. Our employees fully
understand the obligation of delivering high quality
service to customers. Striving to achieve a high
standard of professionalism, we seek continuous
improvement in service quality by welcoming
comments and feedback from our customers.
To improve our service, the Group’s complaint
handling policy is strictly in accordance with
regulatory standards to ensure that customers’
opinions are heard and responded in a timely
manner. During the Reporting Period, no material
products and service-related complaints were
received, and no products sold or shipped
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Quality Management System

The Group recognizes that feedback from
customers drives our continuous improvement
and is vital to our commitment to excellence.
We welcome the opinions from customers by
establishing various communication channels
with customers, such as customer service hotline
and email. We have also established a customer
service survey form on our website to understand
the needs of our customers and improve our
service quality.

The Group has established procedures of guest
complaint handling, to clarify the responsible
departments and handling procedures for guest
complaints, and handle the complaints in a timely
and effective manner. The Group assigned specific
persons-in-charge to conduct complaint handling,
complaint supervision and tracking of hotel
Mmanagement issues.
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We have also partnered with Online Travel
Agencies (“OTA") and used their online platforms
for sales and marketing, as well as receiving
comments from guests. The information collected
will be reviewed regularly to identify key areas for
improvement on our hotel hospitality services.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any violation of relevant laws and
regulations that has a significant impact on the
Group relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress. During the
Reporting Period, the Group has no complaint
cases received (2024: 0 complaint cases) that
were related to our hotel hospitality services and
facilities, the cases were well documented and
reported to the hotel management, refunds and
compensations were provided to the clients,
where appropriate.

Personal Data Privacy and Protection

The Group protects its customers’ privacy by
confidentially processing and maintaining personal
data in compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486) of Hong Kong and the Act
on the Protection of Personal Information of Japan
(Act No. 57 of 2003). For all our businesses, we
handle customers’ personal data with extra care,
to ensure that the information is properly stored in
a locked room and is accessible only to authorised
staff to prevent from improper disclosure or
misuse.

During the Reporting Period, there was no non-
compliance of laws and regulations relating to
data privacy.
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B7.

it SR E GRS

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to maintaining and
safeguarding intellectual property rights to comply
with the relevant regulations and to protect our
employees and customers. Our Staff Handbook
strictly prohibits the use and installation of
unauthorised or illegal software on the Company’s
computers. During the Reporting Period, we are
strictly complying with the relevant regulations,
including but are not limited to, the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528) and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486) of Hong Kong as well as the
Copyright Law of Japan, the Group is not aware
of any incident on intellectual property rights
infringements.

Anti-Corruption

Integrity stands as a core value that the Group
holds in high regard. As a provider of financial
services, we recognize money laundering as a
critical risk — and we are duty-bound to uphold
high standards of transparency while combating
all forms of corrupt activities. We strictly comply
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter
201) of the Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the
PRC, the Unfair Competition Prevention Act (Act
No. 47 of 1993) (the UCPA) of the Japan and the
Penal Code (Act No. 45 of 1907) (the Penal Code)
of the Japan.

The Group expects employees at all levels to
share the value of integrity and honesty. The
Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations
on integrity and prevention of corruption, bribery,
fraud and extortion in regions where it operates,
such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in
Hong Kong. The Group explicitly states that any
form of corruption, bribery or kickback is strictly
prohibited in its employee manual. Employees
shall not solicit or accept any forms of bribing
benefits, including banquets, cash, gifts, rebates
and commissions. If any case of suspected
corruption or other criminal offence is discovered,
it will be reported to the Independent Commission
Against Corruption or other relevant authorities.
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The Group also has a well-established
whistleblowing policy to encourage our staff to
report any suspicious cases related to misconduct
or malpractices with a confidential platform in the
Company. The Board provides reporting channels
and guidance for the employees to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters in relation to
business ethics principles. During the Reporting
Period, the Company’s management team actively
participated in anti-corruption training, reinforcing
their awareness of integrity management and
compliance with anti-bribery regulations. The
Group plans to deliver more comprehensive anti-
corruption training — both external and internal —
to all employees and directors in the near future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any non-compliance of laws and
regulations relating to bribery, fraud, extortion and
money laundering.

COMMUNITY

B8. Community Investment

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group
stays responsive to community needs and
is committed to ensuring its own sustained
prosperity and development. Beyond making
contributions to charitable organizations, the
Group also proactively encourages employees to
participate in volunteer activities.

Throughout the year, the Group both attended and
hosted various corporate social responsibility (CSR)
events, with detailed summaries provided in the
table below:

Events

o In August 2024, a donation of JPY10,000 was
made to the Niseko Chamber of Commerce
for the Niseko Town Summer Festival 2024.

. In December 2024, a donation of JPY10,000
was made to the Annupuri Ski Resort for the
New Year's Eve countdown fireworks.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
I BEh R E

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP
LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to
200, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30 June 2025, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants”
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment for property, plant
and equipment in hotel hospitality business
Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and
notes 3.7 and 3.9 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had property, plant and
equipment with net carrying amount of HK$265,267,000
(before the current year impairment loss) arising in hotel
hospitality business.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, the directors of
the Company assessed the recoverable amount of the non-
current assets based on higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and value-in-use. The recoverable amount of
the non-current assets in the hotel hospitality business
cash generating units (“Hotel CGU") was determined by the
directors based on fair value less costs of disposal, which is
higher than its value-in-use.

The impairment assessment involves significant judgements
and assumptions by the directors of the Company underlying
the determination of the recoverable amount of the non-
current assets in the Hotel CGU.

The directors of the Company has engaged an independent
professional valuer to assist their determination of the fair
value less costs of disposal of the non-current assets in the
Hotel CGU. The determination of the fair value less costs of
disposal is based on the recent sales of similar transactions in
the market. Directors of the Company concluded that, based
on the assessment result, no impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment has been recognised for the year.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Audit response

Our audit included:

()  obtaining and reviewing the valuation report prepared
by the independent professional valuer engaged by the
Group;

(i) discussing with the independent professional valuer
and challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, including comparable market
transactions, and to assess the competence, objectivity
and capabilities of the independent professional valuer;

(i) assessing the valuation methodology adopted by the
independent professional valuer and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuation;
and

(iv) checking, on a sampling basis on the input data to
supporting evidences, such as the market comparables
used and assessing the relevance of these comparables.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RMBENER )
ot E e

B ES B

() BELEHN EEBEZBZBIEXE
HERrRE 2 EERS

(i BB HERMGEMTwARERARGE
PERACARGAARR(BEAE
HBMSRF) AR EBLIEEMG
ERh BERES EBEERNTS

(i) 574578 7 3 2 (A E AR AR 2 1 (8 7
R LB R AR 2 B R B
%R

(iv) FEmMENEREREZBHF28@A
BE - BIAnPTER M5 A B LB E
BERA AL SR B REE Z AR -

FHRZHEMBEH

EFAUEMENAEERT HMbERE
W BERARFEHMHEZERN ETERRER
BRI LRI EZBERSE -

BPEGEAMBRRFELZERALTRE
HER  HATF TR BEREAEAZ

DKy A
1:2 Ag 4 af ©

REMEFEEMBRER2ESAME - M
ZCEERMEREMER HEMEREME
HeEfifaBEmRARMERERTEE
FRENEMFEEANT  HBFEEK
$H AR PR o i H RPIERC e TER
AUEMERBRBARERERM - HPIA
BEEHEE - RFPIMABTMRESEE -

“TOREFR o BRHERKEARAT 111



Independent Auditor’s Report
I BEh R E

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting standards as
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group'’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR

THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the work performed
for the purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wing Yin
Practising Certificate Number P06946

Hong Kong, 24 September 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEZEBREE

For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_AFA=THIFE

2025 2024
—E-RE T HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue W 3 6
Hotel income B JE A 25,403 22,526
Trading income B 5WA 250 2,206
Interest income M EHA - —
Dividend income i B WA 8,385 6,534
34,038 31,266
Cost of sales SHE KA (18,270) (16,697)
Gross profit E A 15,768 14,569
Other income and gains E A K as Z 4,762 5,520
General and administrative expenses —#& & 17 5 % (22,448) (25,297)
Finance costs & B A 10 (324) (692)
Share of loss of associates DAL E R R E 1B 18 - (101
Net gain/(loss) on fair value change R AFEFAEBZFZ
of financial assets at fair value TREEZATFE
through profit or loss 2y (E518) F58 22 35,064 (41,547)
Loss on derecognition of other B2 ERERE M R W FRIE 2
receivables &5 - (23,002)
Reversal of impairment loss on FEWE SR BB ER D
loans receivable 21 - 200
Reversal of impairment loss on other £/t & I 3k 18 K
receivables and deposits BeRERERE 20(b) 10 157
Net deficit on revaluation of REMEEHBATFE
investment properties 16 - (1,415)
Profit/(loss) before income tax  Fr8HANER(E18) 8 32,832 (71,608)
Income tax credit FRiGHiE % 11 782 837
Profit/(loss) for the year, KATEE ANEM
attributable to owners RERZR(FE)
of the Company 33,614 (70,771)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEZEBRRE

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4

HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET

Other comprehensive income Ht2mEEA

Item that may be subsequently HEAfEER 7 E
reclassified to profit or loss EEmHE
Exchange differences arising MEBINET
on translation of foreign FREAEN Z5
operations 22,371 (21,334)

Other comprehensive income AERHMEEBA
for the year 22,371 (21,334)

Total comprehensive income KATEE ANEMN

for the year, attributable to AEREZEBRALE

owners of the Company 55,985 (92,105)
Earnings/(loss) per share BRERN(FHR)
— Basic and diluted — ERREE 13 HK6.42 cents HK(13.53) cents

A Bl
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBERRAE

Asat30une2025 MN-—E=—_HAFE~A=1+H

2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B K&iE 715 266,342 240,454
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 3,254 3,115
Trade receivables, other receivables, & 5 EUERTE -+ H {th & Uk
deposits and prepayments FIE RS RBAKE 20 5,274 9,815
Loans receivable U E X 21 = =
Financial assets at fair value through 2 A F{ET AEBZFZ
profit or loss STREE 22 166,390 131,326
Deposits in a financial institution R e B 2 73 23 101,825 89,780
Pledged bank balances B PIRITLHE R 30 652 582
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBR KRR E 23 11,996 26,075
Total current assets mEEERE 289,391 260,693
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables, other payables B 5 EMNERIE - Efh R
and accruals MIERETER 24 5,628 7,076
Contract liabilities aHaE 25 229 214
Borrowings BE 26 20,623 24,260
Lease liabilities HEEAE 27 276 349
Current tax payable FET BN EATR IR 2,402 2,147
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 29,158 34,046
Net current assets mENEEFE 260,233 226,647
Total assets less current EEHAERRBAE
liabilities 526,575 467,101
Non-current liabilities eIy =K
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 390 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTEEE 28 36,157 33,058
Total non-current liabilities ERBaEEE 36,547 33,058
Net assets EEFRE 490,028 434,043
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEMBERAER

ASaEeEilNe 2025 === B =i

2025 2024
—E-RE eShand Vit Fe S
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners ARREBAELER
of the Company
Share capital f& 7 29 26,159 784,776
Reserves i 463,869 (350,733)
Total equity R 490,028 434,043

These consolidated financial statements on pages 115 t0 1158200 B 2 Z S A MK RERE R =
200 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of ZE=2-HAF A A -+ WBEES=S & LK
directors on 24 September 2025 and are signed on its behalf  #E T3 Y H THESKEREE -

by:

Wwong Siu Keung Joe Chu Yin Yin Georgiana
EIKE R
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FERREDx

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

Share Share Contributed  Exchange Special Other Accumulated
capital premium* surplus* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses*
A BARK  HERE* BHEEE  HERE  RiER*
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FEL BT TiEx Ti#n TR Titn TR
@) (note (1)) (note (c)) (note (d)
) ( ) (Rit3E () )
At 1July 2023 R-Z2-=%th-A 784776 1,217,887 340932 (128,271) (43,246) (15990 (1,629,940) 526,143
Comprehensive income 2EKA
Loss for the year AERER = = = = = = (70,771) (70,771)

Other comprehensive income Hit2EKRA
Exchange differences arising on REENERRES
translation of foreign operations EREE - - - (21,334) - - - (21,33)

Total comprehensive income RERZEARALE
for the year - - - (21,334) ] e (70,771) (92,108)

At30June2024 and 1July 2024 R=-F-MEXE=+AK

ZB-mELA-A 784,776 1,217,887 340,932 (149,605) (43,246) (15,990)  (1,700,711) 434,043
Comprehensive income 2EKRA
Profit for the year RERERN - - - - - - 33,614 33,614

Other comprehensive income Hit2EKRA
Exchange differences arising on REFNERAES
translation of foreign operations EREE - - - 22,311 - - - 22,371

Total comprehensive income AERZAUNER

for the year - - - 22,37 - - 33,614 55,985
Capital reduction (note 29(b) TRANHI AL (33 29(0)) (758,617) 758,617 - - - - - -
At 30 June 2025 R-B-HERA=TA 26,159 1,976,504 340,932 (127,234) (43,246) (15990)  (1,667,097) 490,028
* These reserve accounts comprise of the consolidated reserves of — * ZEREEROEGAUBRARAZEE R

HK$463,869,000 (2024: deficit reserves of HK$350,733,000) in the # 463,869,000/ T (Z 2 W4 : FALFHE
consolidated statement of financial position. 350,733,000 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEREREDx

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

Notes:

120

In prior years, the Group undertook capital reorganisations resulting
in the elimination of: (i) the share premium account of the Company
with a balance of HK$260,881,000 as at 30 September 2005 against
accumulated losses of HK$88,157,000 as at that date with the
remaining balance of HK$172,724,000 credited to contributed
surplus of the Company; and (ii) share capital of the Company of
HK$168,208,000 which was credited to contributed surplus of the
Company.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
on the translation of financial statements of foreign operations.

Special reserve arose from the business combination carried out by the
Company in 2004, which was accounted for as a reverse acquisition.
Details of the transaction were set out in the circular of the Company
dated 14 June 2004.

Other reserve represents the effects of transactions with non-
controlling interests in the prior years.

fia

AEERBEFEBETZARAEH S5
WEARRR—_EERFNA=TRHZKRMDHEE
AR 4% £ 260,881,0008 T ¥ % B 2 25t B 8
88,157,000 7 T + #r%58 172,724,000 7T Bl 5+ A A
NRIBARER  RU)EHHEFTARRRBAR R
2 ANA BN 168,208,000 7T ©

SMNE B BIRREBINEBM TR MELM
BERZH -

FARBEDHENARARE-_SENFETER
BHMEL  ZBEXBAMHCIE—BAERAK
B-REABERARRBEHMAE_ZTTOER
RA+mBZ&EK -

HitFEENBEFEZHFERERRITE -
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GFEReRER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFNA=THIEFE

2025 2024
—E-RHE eShand Vit Fe S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash flows from operating REXEBKZHRERE
activities
Profit/(loss) before income tax TR anEF,/ (&E) 32,832 (71,608)
Adjustments for: B TFIIEE EHAE -
Depreciation of property, Y - BEREETE
plant and equipment 8 4,379 4,044
Net deficit on revaluation of HEMESHBAFRE
investment properties 16 - 1,415
Dividend from financial assets at BAVEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss PREEZRE 6 (8,385) (6,534)
Write-down of inventories FEMR 8 - 603
Reversal of impairment loss on H Y RIERIE S
other receivables and deposits A E B D 8 (10) (157)
Reversal of impairment loss on JEWE SR BB
loans receivable B [El 8 - (200)
Net (gain)/loss on fair value change 2 A F{ET AB#HZ
of financial assets at fair value EMEECLATE
through profit or loss 28 (Wam) EiEFE 2 (35,064) 41,547
Gain on disposal of interests in HERE AR R W
associates 7 - (82)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHB AR 2= 7 - (101)
Loss on derecognition of R E A FEURIE 2
other receivables E5 18 - 23,002
Loss on early termination of lease  RF KR IEHE 2 BB 8 7 -
Interest income from banks and RIT RS REE N S WA
a financial institution 7 (4,268) (4,791)
Finance costs A& B A 10 324 692
Share of loss of associates paN (kiR RN R =] 18 - 101
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FeBeRER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

2025 2024
—E-RE eShand Vit Fe S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Operating loss before working LEE BRI LK EEE
capital changes (10,185) (12,069)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 17 & (3 n), 4 (71) 94
Decrease/(increase) in trade B 5 EARIE - B
receivables, other receivables, FIA -~ e RIEFFIE
deposits and prepayments B, (3 hn) 3,926 (2,737)
Decrease in loans receivable JE W E SRRk A — 1,400
Decrease in trade payables, B EMNIRIE - Bt ER
other payables and accruals REREGERARD (1,923) (172)
Cash used in from operations REEKFARS (8,253) (13,484)
Income tax paid EATER (6) 7)
Net cash used in operating REXERMARSEHE
activities (8,259) (13,491)
Investing activities RETH
Proceeds from disposal of HEZRAFERTA
financial assets at fair value BRsemEEL
through profit or loss FriS 58 - 1,841
Proceeds from disposal of HE—HWBARZ
a subsidiary FriS3kI18 14 = 1,700
Proceeds from disposal of HE—EBER AR
interest in an associate Fri5 5038 18 - 1,900
Purchases of property, BEWE  WMERLHE
plant and equipment (1,268) (1,548)
Interest income received from BUIRTT R & miik s
banks and a financial institution FEWA 4,268 4,791
Dividend received 2R E 8,385 6,534
Net cash generated from REZEBME
investing activities REeFH 11,385 15,218
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consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FREHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFNA=THIEFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —TOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Financing activities b SE B
Proceeds from borrowings B E S RIA 34 - 340
Repayments of borrowings BEEE 34 (6,284) (6,269)
Repayments of principal portion of BiEHEA BN ARSI D
lease liabilities 34 (351) (330)
Repayment of interest portion of EEHEBENNEHD
lease liabilities 34 (48) (30)
Interest paid BT B 34 (276) (662)
Net cash used in financing METBMARSEE
activities (6,959) (6,951)
Net decrease in cash and ReRkBAELEEER
cash equivalents WA FEEE (3,833) (5,224)
Effect of foreign exchange EXSHHRAER
rate changes on cash and ReSEEAZRE
cash equivalents 1,799 (2,558)
cash and cash equivalents at FHNEREREASEHEER
beginning of the year 115,855 123,637
cash and cash equivalents at FHRESRESLESEEB
end of the year 113,821 115,855
Analysis of the balances of ReRkHELEEEE
cash and cash equivalents R
Deposits in a financial institution R e BTS2~ 17 3K 23 101,825 89,780
Bank balances and cash MITHEB LIRS 23 11,996 26,075
113,821 115,855
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

124

GENERAL INFORMATION 1.

DeTai New Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the Company’s registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business was Unit
D2, 8/F, Kingston International Centre, 19 Wang Chiu
Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
business of (i) hotel hospitality business; (i) provision of
money lending services, (iii) trading and distribution of
liguor and wine; and (iv) investments in listed securities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(a) Adoption of new or amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards from 1
July 2024
In the current year, the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
has applied for the first time the following new
standards, amendments and interpretations
(“the new or amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), which
are effective for the Group's consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1
July 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to HK Presentation of Financial Statements —
Interpretation 5 (Revised)  Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
Amendmentsto HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

None of these new or amendments to HKFRS
Accounting standards has a material impact on
the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior period. The Group has not early
applied any new or amendments to standards
that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

8 M RERMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) New or amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective
The following new or amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards have been issued, but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted
by the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
and HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent

and HKFRS 7 Electricity?
Amendments to HKFRS 1, Annual Improvements to HKFRS
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, Accounting Standards — Volume 112
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosure?
Amendments to Hong Kong  Presentation of Financial Statements —
Interpretation 5 Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

! Effective date to be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

126

(Continued)

(b) New or amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards that have

been issued but are not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. HKFRS 18 introduces
new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations
and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note
and introduces enhanced requirements on the
grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and
the location of information in both the primary
financial statements and the notes. The new
requirements are expected to impact the Group's
presentation of the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income and disclosures of the
Group's financial performance.

Except for HKFRS 18, the Group is in the process of
making an assessment of the potential impact of
these new or amendments to HKFRS Accounting
standards upon application.

DETAI NEW ENERGY GROUP LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2025

2. BHBERZER®)

(b) SHEMEERERZHET X

RETERMBREEAS
sHEER ()

&8 W %5 S 2RI 5185 5 BX
REB G ERE 15 [ 5 W
RZEY] - BEME RS ER
F18HRIARBRERAZII
HMRE BREEBEEEBERNG -
ERAKBERAZMEEAR
AXDBAATRERRNZ—
e B -BE -FBHREE
AR RS - 02 51 R fE T SR
ER/NEHIARB - R R RAEE —
B R R R B TR B SR AR R
132 W T B HRR LTS
MERFR (ERRDHF) RIIHK
NESIAEBRNBRTE - HRE
BB EARERGARERLZ
EINRAEEHBERRZBE -

BR & 8 B 15 R 22 BI S5 18 8R4
A B B IEST (8 A XS HTET
RETBEEVMBREER G
BB 2 BE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

3.2

3.3

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules™).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis, except
for certain financial instruments and investment
properties, which are measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$'000")
except when otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

128

3.4

3.5

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income up to the dates of
disposal.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. Amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The Company
controls an investee if all three of the following
elements are present. power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee, and the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed
whenever facts and circumstances indicate that
there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

3. MEUBRERERIHE =2

3.4

3.5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Revenue recognition and contract

liability
@M
@
(b)

Revenue from contract with customers

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is
recognised at a point in time as when
the control of the goods has been
transferred to the customers and there
is no unfulfilled performance obligation
after the acceptance of the goods. The
Group allows a credit period of not
more than 365 days to its customers.

Hotel income

Hotel income from room rental is
recognised overtime as the customers
simultaneously receives and consume
the benefits of the Group's services.
The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on period of
stay, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of
goods or services. The Group allows
an average credit period of not more
than 90 days to travel agents. Hotel
revenue from food and beverage sales
are recognised at a point in time when
the relevant goods or services are
provided to the customers and there is
no unfulfilled performance obligation
after the provision of goods or services.

All sales of goods and hotel income is for
periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) contracts is not disclosed
and the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of any significant financing
component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

130

3.6 Revenue recognition and contract
liability (continued)
Revenue from other sources

(ii)

(iii)

@

®)

©

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost, and is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the
financial assets, when the asset is not
credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have become credit-impaired,
interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial
asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when
the right to receive the dividend is
established.

Rental income from investment
properties

Rental income under operating leases
is recognised on straight-line method
over the term of the relevant lease.

Contract liability

A contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration
is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 3. REBEERSHEBE®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7 Property, plant and equipment 3.7 ¥ BERREE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The cost of property, plant and
equipment includes its purchase price and the
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost
of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

Right-of-use assets Over the lease terms

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings Over the shorter of

the term of the related

lease or at 2%

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the

remaining terms of the

related lease or at 5%

Equipment, furniture 16.60%—-33.33%
and fixtures

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

20.00%-33.33%
12.50%-33.33%

The assets’ estimated useful lives, estimated
residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.7

3.8

3.9

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 10ss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property
is measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is stated at fair
value.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the
fair value or the sale of an investment property
are included in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,
property, plant and equipment and interests in
subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested
for impairment whenever there are indications
that the asset’s carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

3.7

3.8

3.9
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 3. REBEERSHEBE®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 39 k¥EemEERME#E)

(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent from those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is
allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related
business combination and represent the lowest
level within the Group at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units, to which goodwill has been allocated,
are credited initially to the carrying amount
of goodwill. Any remaining impairment 0SS is
charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal, if measurable, or
value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods. In respect of other
non-financial assets, an impairment 10ss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount and only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if
no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 &= —

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

134

3.10 Inventories

3N

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost, is calculated using the
weighted average cost formula. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise of current tax
and deferred tax. Income taxes are recognised
in profit or loss except when they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income in
which case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences. Except for goodwill and initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
which is not a business combination and at the
time of the transaction affect neither accounting
nor taxable profits and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences,
deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences and tax losses
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in
which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3. WEUBERERIHE =2

3.12 Leasing 312 fHE

All leases are capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, except for (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for
which the underlying asset is of low-value that
the Group choose not to capitalise. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liabilities (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liabilities); (i) any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories. The Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under
the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-
use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

136

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.12 Leasing (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can
be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the
Group measures the lease liabilities by: (i)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liabilities; (i) reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made; and
(iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect
any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g.
a change in future lease payments arising from
change in an index or rate, a change in the lease
term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.

3.13 Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in
currencies other than functional currency are
recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions
occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND 3. REBEERSHEBE®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13 Foreign currencies (Continued) 313 B (&)

Exchange differences arising from the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised as profit or
loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items
of foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case,
the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.
Exchange differences recognised in profit or loss
of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’s net investment in the
foreign operation concerned are reclassified to
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity as exchange reserve.
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

138

3.14 Financial instruments

Trade receivables are initially recognised when
they are originated. All regular way purchases and
sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date. All other financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

(@

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value
plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at
the transaction price.

Financial assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

All financial assets not classified as
measured at amortised cost as described
above are measured at fair value through
profit or 10ss. These assets are subsequently
measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
including any interest or dividend income are
recognised in profit or 10ss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 &= —

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“ECL") on financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

ECL is probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is
then discounted at an approximation to the
assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets at amortised
cost, the ECL are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 &= —

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

140

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For loans receivable, ECL is determined by
reference to the estimation of the exposure
at default (‘EAD"), probability of default (“PD")
as well as a loss given default (“LGD"). The
12-months and lifetime PDs represent the
probability of default occurring over the next
12 months and the remaining maturity of the
instrument respectively. The EAD represents
the expected balance at default, taking
into account the repayment of principal
and interest from the reporting date to the
default event together with any expected
drawdowns of committed facilities. The LGD
represents expected losses on the EAD given
the event of default, taking into account,
among other attributes, the mitigating effect
of collateral value at the time it is expected
to be realised and the time value of money.

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group'’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or (2) the financial asset is more than
90 days past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 &= —

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.14 Financial instruments (Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities
at amortised costs. These liabilities are
initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the amortisation process.

Derecoghition

The Group generally derecognises a financial
asset when the contractual rights to the
future cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expires.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when
the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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3.

142

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.15 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes judgements, estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of competitors’ actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management reassess the estimations at the
end of each reporting period.
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
after taking into account the estimated residual values,
if any. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives,
depreciation method and the estimated residual values,
of the assets at least at the end of each reporting
period in order to determine the amount of depreciation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period.
The depreciation method, useful lives and residual
values are based on the Group’s historical experience

4.
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with similar assets and taking into account anticipated MERNEE  BIEHRKRBAR I E
physical wear and tear as well as obsolescence of the X IEL A% -

asset. The depreciation expense for future periods is
adjusted if there are significant changes from previous
estimates.

Estimated impairment of trade receivables,
loans receivable and other receivables

The Group’'s management determines the provision
for impairment of receivables on a forward-looking
basis. In making the judgement, management
considers reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information that is available such as actual or expected
significant changes in the operating results of debtors,
actual or expected significant adverse changes in
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business and financial position of the debtors. At every SERENEK - WEHTATE G
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are BE o

updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed by the Group’s management.

“TOREFR o BRHERKEARAT 143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

144

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment and reversal for all non-financial assets
at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment or reversal when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable or impairment loss recognised in prior
periods (other than goodwill) may no longer exist or
have decreased. An impairment (a reversal) exists when
the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount (vice versa), which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value-in-use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk management objectives
and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits,
loans receivable, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances, bank balances
and cash, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, borrowings and lease liabilities.

The main risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBRBRER 2

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@ BEEAKBEEBEEREKE

and policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Japan with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HKS, Renminbi (“RMB”)
and Japanese Yen (“JPY"), which are the functional
currencies of respective group companies. The
Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk primarily
arise from certain financial instruments which
are denominated in United States Dollar (“USD"),
which are currencies other than the functional
currency. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rate between the HK$ and the USD would
be not materially affected by any changes in
movement in value of the USD against HKS.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy.

Credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
policies in place for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual debtor
at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk of the Group is primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits, loans receivable, deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances and bank
balance and cash.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the assets as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the
date of initial recognition.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

146

(Continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

It considers reasonable and supportable forward
looking information that is available. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

o external credit rating (as far as available)

o actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the counterparty

e significant expected changes in the
performance and behaviour of the
counterparty, including changes in the
payment status of counterparties in the
group and changes in the operating results
of the counterparty

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation
of ECL are unbiased and probability-weighted,
and incorporate all available information that is
relevant to the assessment including information
about past events, current conditions and
reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
events and economic conditions at the reporting
date. In addition, the estimation of ECL would take
into account the time value of money.

The credit risk of deposits in a financial institution,
pledged bank balances and bank balances is
limited because the majority of the counterparties
are institutions with good reputation. No
impairment had been provided under 12-month
expected credit loss assessment.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBRBRER 2

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@ BEEAKBEEBEEREKE

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group presumes that the credit risk of loans
receivable has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise. The Group considers
that default has occurred when the instrument
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more backward default
criterion is more appropriate.

The credit risk of loans receivable is determined
based on the combination of the internal and
external credit rating, the average debt recovery,
peer review information and comparison with
public available data. The Group calculates ECL
using three main components: a probability of
default ('PD’), a loss given default (‘'LGD’) and the
exposure at default (‘'EAD’). The 12-month ECL is
calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD, LGD
and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated using the
lifetime PD instead. The 12-month and lifetime
PDs represent the probability of default occurring
over the next 12 months and the remaining
maturity of the instrument respectively. The
EAD represents the expected balance at default,
taking into account the repayment of principal
and interest from the reporting date to the default
event together with any expected drawdowns of
committed facilities. The LGD represents expected
losses on the EAD given the event of default,
taking into account, among other attributes, the
mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it
is expected to be realised and the time value of
money. The total impairment allowance on the
loans receivable as at 30 June 2025 amounted to
HK$242,263,000 (2024: HK$229,055,000) has been
provided under expected credit loss assessment,
of which no further expected credit losses (2024:
reversal of expected credit losses of HK$200,000)
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2025.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. BERRBRER &)
(Continued)
(@) Financial risk management objectives (@) BXEEAKBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (&)
credit risk (Continued) FER (&)

An analysis of the gross carrying amount and
impairment allowances of loans receivable as at
30 June 2025 and 2024 is as follow:

Stage 1
F1RR

HK$'000
TEr

EWESRABERERER_-Z
ChER=E=ExE=FH
2O

Stage 2
E2MEER
HK$'000

TERT

Stage 3
EIPEER
HK$'000

TET

#iE
HK$'000
TER

At 30 June 2025 R-ZBE-REXA=TH

Loans receivable U E X - - 242,263 242,263

Impairment allowances REERE = - (242,263) (242,263)
Net amounts R - - - -

Stage 1
E1EER

HK$'000
TR

Stage 2
F 2R
HK$'000
THET

At 30 June 2024 R-ZBE-WEXA=1H

Loans receivable EWRE R - & 229,055 229,055
Impairment allowances HERE - - (299,055)  (299,055)
Net amounts e - - - -

For the trade receivables, the Group carries out
regular review on these balances and follow-
up action on any overdue amounts to minimise
exposures to credit risk. The Group measures
the lifetime expected credit loss based on the
outstanding balances and historical credit loss
experience adjusted to reflect the Group’s view
of current and forecast economic conditions
that may affect the ability of the debtors to
settle receivables. As at 30 June 2025, the total
impairment allowance amounted to HK$119,000
(2024: HK$117,000) had been provided under
expected credit loss assessment by using
simplified approach according to the ageing by
due date. No further expected credit loss was
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June
2025 and 2024.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFNA=THIEFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2025 and 2024

was determined for trade receivables as follows:

5. HERBEH»)

SR LLLEEE LS
)

RZEBE_RAFR_ZFE_NFRA
—tEHREZERKRBETE ZE

BEEET

Expected
credit loss
rate —
weighted
average

Gross
carrying Net

amount

Loss
allowance

(%) amount
BHEE

Bl =
— il
15
% EEAE
HK$'000
T

BERRME
HK$'000
TR

HE
HK$'000
T#n

At 30 June 2025 RZEZHEAA=1H

Not yet past due 18] A< 18 A N/A T B 504 - 504
Overdue within 90 days BMEI0 AR N/A FiEF - -

Overdue 91 to 180 days BHTEE180H N/A REA = = =
Overdue over 365 days HHIRE R 365 B 100% 119 119

Total e 623 119 504

Expected
credit loss
rate —
weighted
average

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss Net
allowance amount
BHEEE

Bt
— g
4
% FELE
HK$'000
T

BB
HK$'000
TAT

At 30 June 2024 RIZEZWEAA=1H

Not yet past due 1 7K 280 N/A i A 974 - 974

Overdue within 90 days BHARN N/A i@ F - - -

Overdue 91 to 180 days BHETEE180H N/A i@ F 2,751 - 2,757

Overdue over 365 days B AR R 365 A 100% 117 117 -

Total M 3,842 17 3,725
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

150

(Continued)

(a) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For the other debts instruments, given the short
term nature of these assets, the ECL had been
provided under 12-month expected credit loss
assessment. The total impairment allowance
amounted to HK$231,000 (2024: HK$235,000)
has been provided under expected credit l0ss
assessment.

The Group has concentration risk on trade
receivables.

At the end of reporting period, the Group has
concentration of credit risk on trade receivables as
HK$112,000 (2024: HK$2,650,000) and HK$393,000
(2024: HK$3,141,000) of total trade receivables
after considering the impairment loss due from
the Group’s largest trade debtor and the five
largest trade debtors respectively.

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
deposits in a financial institution, bank balances
and borrowings with a floating interest rate.
Management closely monitors cash flow interest
rate risk and will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

As at 30 June 2025, it is estimated that a general
increase/(decrease) of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
increase/(decrease) the Group’s profit for the year
(2024: (decrease)/increase the Group’s loss for the
year) and (decrease)/increase the accumulated
losses by approximately HK$725,000 (2024
HK$946,000) respectively.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. MBRBRER 2

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@ BEEAKBEEBEEREKE

and policies (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above was determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the reporting date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100
basis points increase or decrease represents
management’'s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period
until the next annual reporting date. The analysis
was performed on the same basis for 2024.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the
Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

(%)

FEER ()

PSR E ST TR R FIE R &,
S HEREES AR ARE
BEEZOTERFETESRT
AR RR B IED o 1205k
100EESEEEEBHEET —
B4 E S B H L EHAR A & m] gk
ijﬁz/\fﬁi*‘%bﬁﬁf’ﬁuﬂa B
Tﬁﬂﬁz/\_?_mii‘ﬁﬂzﬁ
AEHETT o

AEBERNSREANCEEREER

HAGReEE ETBEESE
BERANENERReEE - i
BEERNE THEERBEKERY
BHRANRIESTEHE - A&E
Zﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂggﬁmiﬂﬁi

KRBTEERGE  UBRESE
Tﬁﬁifﬁiﬁﬁ I[?%Eg/i\ﬁﬂ*i
MERETERMER 2EHE M
ENREHZRBESTFR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. HERBRER &)

(Continued)

(@) Financial risk management objectives (@) BXEREAKBEEBEEREKE
and policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continuead) RBESER (&)
The following table details the remaining TREIANEBEFITEECREE
contractual maturities at the end of reporting RBEHRZHTELEIAF
period of the Group’s non-derivative financial 1B DIRBEFTARMBIBRS R
liabilities, which are based on contractual E(BRERAEFTONERS (A
undiscounted cash flows (including interest FENFR) IR EHAR AT
payments computed using contractual rates, or MEFEZMEZL) REAEE
if floating, based on rates current at the end of AgEANRe xR BHEE -

reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

Total After After

contractual Within ~ oneyear  two years

Carrying undiscounted 1yearor  butwithin  but within
amount cashflow ondemand twoyears three years

EHEES: ] —£R —F#& MER

REE HernB4E FAREX  ERFR E=ERA
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
Thn Thn Tén Tén TER

2025 “E-nf
Borrowings B8 20,623 20,972 20,972 - -
Trade payables, other EHENERE
payables and accruals A EMNHIE
REFBR 3,552 3,552 3,552 - -
Lease liabilities REEE 666 712 310 372 30
24,841 25,236 24,834 372 30
2024 —ECQmE
Borrowings fEE 24,260 24,466 24,466 - -
Trade payables, other EIEMNERE
payables and accruals HiEMFIE
REHER 5397 5,397 5397 - -
Lease liabilities HEEE 349 360 360 - -
30,006 30,223 30,223 - -
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8 M RERMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Fair values
The fair value of listed securities is determined
by reference to their quoted market prices at the
reporting date.

HKFRS 13 requires disclosure for financial
instruments that are measured at fair value by
level of the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 — Quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level2 — Inputs other than quoted price

included within Level 1 that are

observable for the assets or liabilities,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that

are not based on observable market

data.

At 30 June 2025 R-ZBE-REXA=TH
Assets BE
Investments in listed securities  _EmEHIRE

5. HERBEH»)

(b) 2¥E
EHR@H A FEDZEERR
ERHZMEREETE °

BEMBRELERE1BHRHE -
BRATRFHESED B RER
ANPEAEZEHIA:

F1H — HRABEXEEBR
AR5 2 WE R

BREIRBEZE
BN AT EEKE
BEBRZEESLRA
B AR

F2/ —

WIRBEAERD
BREBFECEE
B EHABIE -

FE3/ —

Total
g
HK$'000
TERT

Level 3
B3
HK$'000
FEx

Level 2
E2R
HK$'000
TET

Level 1
E1K

HK$'000
TRT

166,390 = - 166,390

At 30 June 2024 RIE-WNEXA=TH
Assets BE
Investments in listed securities  FmEHRE

Total
H(E
HK$'000
FET

Level 3
ERE
HK$'000
THT

Level 2
F2
HK$'000
THT

Level 1
F18

HK$'000
TAET

131,326 - - 131,326

The methods and valuation techniques used
for the purpose of measuring fair value are
unchanged compared to the previous reporting
periods. There were no significant transfers of
financial assets and liabilities between Level 1,
Level 2 and Level 3 fair value hierarchy.

FAERFEMAIAREERT
BB EREHREAR - 14
F2REEIRAFESFSRZHE
VESHEENABEZERERE -
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. @RS ERE
Revenue represents consideration expected to be WaREARFAAREBETBRAERELSH
entitled by the Group for goods sold and services BREHEFMZHBERBIIRES S

ERmEREREEREZRE  EBR
ERZHNBBAR EHEFRE 2K

provided to outside customers, net of sales related
taxes, interest income from loans receivable and

154

dividend income from investments in listed securities

IS

during the year.
2025 2024
—E_RE —ZE 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue from contracts with EFAHWE
customers
Hotel income: EIEWA ¢
Room rental B LA 22,932 20,626
Food and beverage sales BEHE 2,471 1,900
25,403 22,526
Trading income: B5WA
Sales of liquor and wine HEEMEE 250 2,206
25,653 24,732
Revenue from other sources H i RR =z W
Interest income: F B A -
Money lending services BER® - -
Dividend income: f% B
Investments in listed securities EHRESFEE 8,385 6,534
Total et 34,038 31,266
Disaggregation of revenue from BEFEHNWEDIF
contracts with customers
At a point in time RE—FEE 2,721 4,106
Overtime BE — EX B R 22,932 20,626
Total FEE 25,653 24,732
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

Segment reporting

(a)

Reportable segments

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker that are used to make
strategic decisions. The chief operating decision-
maker has been identified as the Company’s
executive director.

The Group currently has four reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services
and requires different business strategies as
follows:

(i) hotel hospitality business;

(i) money lending services;

(i) liguor and wine; and

(iv) investments in listed securities

There were no inter-segment transactions
between different operating segments for the
year (2024: Nil). Central revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they
are not included in the measure of the segments’
results that is used by the chief operating decision-
maker for assessment of segment performance.

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF

6. BRRHSBMWE @)

Pk

(a)

®E

A 3R E 7
AEBRETELERRERMN
RARRERR L REEELED
B-IBLERRECHEEARR
NEIATES -

AEBEREFUENREDRER -
R E XGRS R E @ &R
B R ERRBER  WAE
BEREEZFOME - ZEDH
(NN

() BIERFES:
(ih BER

&

(i) EBEMR: K&
(v, EHEFKRE

TEEE DR AFRNIL ESHE
MRZG(ZE_MF : 8) c AR
PR RALWESAFTES
BERRERETIGHEIERBEZS
HEENE HEAEBRRKEERAX
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 &= —

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

156

Segment reporting (Continued)

(a)

Reportable segments (Continued)
The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its financial statements
prepared under HKFRSS, except that:

— fair value change on investment properties
— share of result of associates
— finance costs

— corporate income and expenses which are
not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment

are not included in arriving at the operating results
of the operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except
corporate assets, bank balances and cash and
deposits in a financial institution which are not
directly attributable to the business activities of
any operating segment are not allocated to a
segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s
headquarter.

Segment liabilities include all liabilities but
current tax payable and deferred tax liabilities. In
addition, corporate liabilities which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.

T_EEAASHALEE

6. BRRHSBMWE @)

(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. @RS iEEE &)
(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) TEBRE#E)

(b) Segment revenue and results (b) PEWERES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue RO mELEE D 2 A AEE K
and results by reportable segments: NEBDWTWAT :

BE-Z_RAF~A=1+HLHF

For the year ended 30 June 2025

E
Hotel Money Investments
hospitality lending Liquor in listed
business services  andwine  securities Total
BEFG EhE%
% REERE  EEER RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TARL TARL TARL TARL
Segment revenue BN 25,403 - 250 8,385 34,038
Segment (loss)/profit 28 (BR)/af (3,141) (1,249) (210) 43,299 38,699
Unallocated corporate incomeand &2 EL A Al A R Uz
gaing 4273
Unallocated corporate expenses AP AR (F3)
(note) (9,816)
Finance costs BENK (324)
Profit before income tax FEHATRAN 32,832

Note: &k -
BE_Z-_AFNAZ+HLEEFE X5
RARFIEEREAREIN: &=
AR ERREEER -

Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included corporate staff
salaries, directors’ remuneration and legal and professional fee
for the year ended 30 June 2025.
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e M RERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZE—_ZF_RAF A=+ HILF

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)
(b) Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2024

3

6. RRFBWWE »)

DREBE (&)
(b) PEKBREE(E)
BE T _NFA=1THItF

E

Hotel Money Investments

hospitality lending Liquor in listed
business services and wine securities Total

BESE ik
2% BERB  BEER RE @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL
Segment revenue PR 225% - 2206 6,53 31,26
Segment (oss)/profi AR (BR)/ &7 (1,752 (1027) 1210 (58,680) (60.249)

Unallocated corporate income and R A& 2 AU Rz

gaing 4,743
Unallocated cororate expenses  AAE AR (Hi)

(note) (13.894)
Finance costs BEKK (692)
Share of loss of associates AMEBERAEE (107)
Net deficit on revaluation of RAMEEREMFR

investment properties (1.415)
Loss before income tax FEHAES (71,608)
Note: ek -

Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included corporate staff
salaries, directors’ remuneration and legal and professional fee
for the year ended 30 June 2024.

HE_Z-_MFENAZFTHLEFE x5
BERARAXEIEREAFEIH EF
Bl A REREREESBR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. I R72MEBE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) TEBRE#E)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (c) PEEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets RO mENEE D 2 AEEEE
and liabilities by reportable segments: RaEI>THT :
2024
—EZF
HK$'000
FHET
Segment assets PTHEE
Hotel hospitality business B IE KT 269,203 246,994
Money lending services BEERE 940 516
Liquor and wine T E M 12,200 16,212
Investments in listed securities LB HERE 166,607 131,845
Total segment assets NEEERE 448,950 395,567
Deposits in a financial institution A& REIE 2 175 101,825 89,780
Unallocated bank balances and & EsR1T4 62 MRS
cash 3,203 14,485
Unallocated corporate assets KoL REIEE 1,755 1,315
Consolidated total assets HEEEME 555,733 501,147
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. W@ R7ZMEE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) TEBRE#E)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (c) 2BEEREE(E)
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Segment liabilities PEEE
Hotel hospitality business B JE AT T 23,648 28,747
Money lending services EERE 827 349
Liquor and wine L E fh 135 133
Investments in listed securities LB HRE 25 25
Total segment liabilities NEAEERE 24,635 29,254
Current tax payable FETBNEARH IR 2,402 2,147
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIBEEE 36,157 33,058
Unallocated corporate liabilities RO BARIAE 2,511 2,645
Consolidated total liabilities meEBEESE 65,705 67,104
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. @RS iEEE &)
(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) TEBRE#E)

(d) Other segment information (d HthoEEHR
For the year ended 30 June 2025 BE_Z_HFX<A=1THLHF
E
Hotel Money Investments
hospitality lending Liquor inlisted
business services and wine securities Unallocated Total
BERHER EERE BEER LHB%RE AR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn Thn Thn TiEx TR
Amounts included in the measure ;T A ERFIAFER
of segment profit or loss or PEEENEZSE:
segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets REFTBEE 684 904 - 584 - 2172
Depreciation of property, % BEREENE
plant and equipment (3,861) (372) - (146) - (4,379)
Reversal of impairment losses on o ENTER
other receivables and deposits EeREEERR - - - 10 - 10
Interest income from banks and BAIRSBEENERA
a financial institution 2 1 1 75 4179 4,268
Net gain on fair value change of BRATEFAERL
financial assets at fair value SREELATEERY
through profit or loss LT - - - 35,064 - 35,064
Loss on early termination of lease RASLAERE - ) = = = )l
Amounts regularly provided to the EH BT ELERFS
chief operating decision-maker REBEYEGTALE
but not included in the measure ~ EANGFRFE2EE
of segment profit or loss;
Finance costs REMK (276) (48) - = - (324)
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6. W@ R7ZMEE &)

(Continued)
Segment reporting (Continued) DERE#E)
(d) oOther segment information (Continued) (d) HthpEEH (&)
For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-_ZT-_NWFA=1+HILHF

i3

Hotel Money Investments
hospitality lending Liquor in listed
and wine Securities Unallocated

ERER  LWEERA AR
HK$'000 HKS 000
TAL AT TAT

Amounts included in the measure A2 EENZFES

of segment profit or loss or NEEEHEZEE:

segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets REFTBEE 1,535 13 - - - 1,58
Depreciation of property, % BEREERE

plant and equipment (3702) (342) - - - (4,044)
Reversal of impairment losses on o ENTER

other receivables and deposits EeREEEER - - - 157 = 157
Reversal of impairment losses on EREFREEERE

loans receivable - 200 - - - 200
Interest income from banks and RORERBHENSHA

afinancial institution 1 2 40 1 4,386 4791
Net loss on fair value change of BRATEFABRL

financial assets at fair value ¢REEZATEEY

through profit or loss LERFE = = S (11,547) S (41,547)

Amounts regularly provided to the  EHEIZEERRS
chief operating decision-maker REBYRAADE
but not included in the measure ~ ERABEFEZEE:
of segment profit or loss:
Finance costs BEKAK (246) (30) - - (116) (692)
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFNA=THIEFE

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 6.
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

(e)

)

Geographic information
The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong (place of domicile), the PRC and Japan.

The Group’s revenue from external customers
and information about its non-current assets by
geographical markets are detailed as below:

Bk 3EREE @)

DERE (&)

(e) HWEEHR
REBZLEWBTEMAED
(REHE) - PEKRAK -

AR EEIE TSRS R AR
BF 7 WS RAMEFRDEE
2 BRIFEOT :

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REIREE 2 W FRBEE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E_RE —EHE —ES-RF = _HF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T FET FHBIT
Hong Kong 5 8,385 6,534 1,075 11
The PRC H 250 2,206 - -
Japan H R 25,403 22,526 265,267 240,443
34,038 31,266 266,342 240,454

The geographical location of customers is based
on the location at which the goods and services
are delivered. The geographical location of non-
current assets is based on the physical location of
the assets.

Major customers

There is no external customer whose revenue is
more than 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF

BEPZHBMNENIZXNEm &R
RIGAAEMEME ° IFRBDEE
ZHEBNEDNIREEZERVE
MiE e

fH FEERF
BHE_Z_ARAFR_ZT_NF
NAZTHIEEE - WELMAIN
ARPRZBBAER DS Z
10% °
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFAA=THIEFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. HEtuk ARG
2024
—EZF
HK$'000
FHT
Interest income from banks and RIT R REEN B WA
a financial institution 4,268 4,791
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHB ARz - 101
Gain on disposal of interest in HERBE AR 2R Z
associates W= - 82
Rental income from investment wEMEZHESBA
properties - 170
Other sundry income H A HMIEIA 494 376

4,762 5,520
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8 M RERMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. FifE#u:a% (&i8)

Profit/(loss) before income tax is arrived at after FREBETRM/ (B18) &g /(5
charging/(crediting): A) T5|&18 :

Auditor's remuneration ZE BN 2 1,520 1,600
Depreciation expense in respect of: ERATHSEZIERY !
Owned assets (note (a)) BBEEE (H:E@) 4,007 3,704
Right-of-use assets (note (a)) FAEEE (M3E@) 372 340
4,379 4,044
Cost of inventories recognised as BRBRAIZFERA -
expense, including: BIE 1,018 1,272
— Write-down of inventories — FE MU - 603
Reversal of impairment loss of loans JEWE FOR BB E R E
receivable (note 21) (BF3E21) - (200)
Reversal of impairment loss on other — H b & U 2118 & 3% & 8 (B
receivables and deposits (note 20(b)) EsE# 0l (B sE20(b)) (10) (157)
Loss on early termination of lease AR IEHERE 7 -
Employee benefit expense (including EE®RAMY (BEES
directors’ remuneration) (note (b)): ) (KIsE b)) :
Salaries and allowances e ik 9,431 9,476
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFIFT S
schemes 428 459
Short term lease expenses HEHERY 511 414
Exchange losses, net M H B F 5 16 668
Notes: B 5E -
(@)  Depreciation expense of HK$3,647,000 (2024: HK$3,501,000) (@ WERMX3,647,0008 T (ZF ZM4F :

has been included in cost of sales from hotel hospitality
business, and HK$732,000 (2024: HK$543,000) in general and
administrative expenses.

[(9)] Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration) (b)
of HK$4,418,000 (2024: HK$4,979,000) has been included in cost
of sales from hotel hospitality business, and HK$5,441,000 (2024:
HK$4,956,000) in general and administrative expenses.

3,501,000/ 7T) B et ABIE RIFE T 2 8
ERA - 732,000 0 (ZF Z P4 -
543,000/ 7T) Bt A— R RITHAX °

EBERAAS (BIEEEMS) 4,418,000
BT (ZF Z P04 4,979,000 7T) B &
NBE R ER 2 &K A + M 5,441,000
BT (ZZ P4 1 4,956,000 7T) 2 &
A—BRITHRHAY -
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166

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
(Continued)

Defined contribution pension obligations
The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The Scheme is responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to the retired employees
and the Group has no further obligations for the actual
pension payments or other post-retirement benefits
beyond the employer contributions. Contributions
under the Scheme are charged to profit or l0ss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
PRC.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in Japan are required to participate in
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans.
Contributions are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

FRsRaas (HHR) @

EREMRBRARESER

REBREREIERBE ST BEOIR
BEBRETAH ERTESRIKENF
g ([afESarall) - HRREBENR
FE-EAOLEL RRERES
ArEVR AN EREINNG - 2ES
AEIEEEAEBEENF BB
BERESHA AKRBZEREHRR
B Es EELERKRERMA -

AEERPEARAMBE ((HE]) K
EEBCHBARCEBERAZ2EbM
HHRAERE 2P RERGTE - %F
MBARIARTIEKAETADLLA
RGBT EIE R - T EIAEER DR
KEEXNZREREZEE  KIE
THRON - REEBAERRKK
AR HEMERARRENE PE-SEE -
AR RN RIEPBEDER BN R ES
R

AEERBALERK ZMBRRZ
I8 B 7R A 7 RR SR KA IR - 1t
RREERURBHEREBERZARRAR
P
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

9. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND 9. EEHFMLRAEABREHFAL
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and UTAAFREERAE R T AL
the five highest paid individuals for the year were as ZHEER
follows:
Year ended 30 June 2025 BE-_ZE-_RAFA~A=1THLEE

Salaries and Contributions
allowances to retirement

and benefit benefit
Fees and kind schemes Total
Hek
AR BAREA
e FEREY AR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Executive director HTEE
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe Bk EE - 845 18 863
Non-executive director FHTES
Ms. CHU Yin Yin Georgiana REFEL L (M)
(note ii) 180 - - 180
Independent non-executive BIFHUTEES
directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BELZEE 180 - - 180
Mr. Man Kwok Leung BEREE 180 - - 180
Mr. To Chun Wai HRELE 180 - - 180
Total @t 720 845 18 1,583
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND 9. EEFMLURAEBREREHFAL

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 30 June 2024 BHE_T_W&EA=THLFE

Salariesand  Contributions
allowances  to retirement

and benefit benefit
Fees and kind schemes Total
Hek
AR RIRER
e F@EREY BES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT TAET
Executive directors BITESE
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (note ) B 754 (B aED) - 367 12 379
Mr. Wong Siu Keung Joe BREAE - 845 18 863
Non-executive director FETES
Ms. CHU Yin Yin Georgiana FEF L (T
(note ii) 60 - - 60
Independent non-executive BIFHUTEES
directors
Mr. Chiu Wai On BELZEE 180 - - 180
Mr. Man Kwok Leung EERLE 180 - - 180
Mr. To Chun Wai HIRELE 180 = - 180
Total @t 600 1,212 30 1,842
Notes: BisE -
(i) Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was resigned as executive director with (i) HFREEG T _NF=H—BEH
effect from 1 March 2024. EHRITES -
(i) Ms. CHU Yin Yin Georgiana was appointed as non-executive (i) AEBMLITE-_ZT_NF=ZA—BRLE
director with effect from 1 March 2024. ZRERINTES -
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9. DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration for the
years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

Disclosures required by Section 383 of the Companies

Ordinance (Cap. 622),

Companies (Disclosure of

information about benefits of directors) regulation (Cap.
622G) and Listing Rules:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The executive directors’ remuneration shown
above was mainly for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group during the years ended
30 June 2025 and 2024.

The non-executive and independent non-executive
directors’ remuneration shown above were mainly
for their services as directors of the Company and
the Group during the years ended 30 June 2025
and 2024.

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 30
June 2025 and 2024.

During the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024,
there were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected entities
of such directors.

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year (2024:
Nil).

T_nEsA=HALEE

9.

EEFMLUREGRESHFAL
(&)
BEEVERBEE _ZE_HAERK_FT

“HENRAZTHEFEELREME
HMEXRERETANE -

58 UNGIL =30 J(%622E>%3831H<‘ N

A (RBREENR

s Bk BB (56226

B)RETRABREMBREZEH

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

FXFATRBITESZHMER Y
FREE—Z _EEE&_%E_@
FRA=ZTHLEFERAR
$%E$%%ﬁ%ﬁz%%°

FXFRIEITRIB U IEITE
ECHFMEESLRREBEZ
THERZZTZNFEAA=1+AH
HEEBERARTRASEES
R 2R -

MEESRNEBE_FT_AFNI=
Z_MFEARA=THIFEEK
HR gl i W B AT 4% LE BR A5 AR ) ©

BHE_ST-_AFR_FT_OFX
A=Z+HIFE #MEREER
XEBESZEH 2 EBAE R
FRESEHE ERBELEE
K BEUBRKREMR S -

REFREARFRERERE - HE
FEAARR R ZEFMEARRF
EBMEBERAARAERER
E#%ﬁﬁ&iﬁ&ﬁﬁ%\z

Ro Rk (ZFE_MEF:
&) o
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFAA=THIEFE

9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION AND 9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

The five highest paid individuals of the Group include
one (2024: one) executive director of the Company. The
emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for the
year ended 30 June 2025 were as follows:

(i)%ﬁﬂlll&&ﬁ%iﬁﬁk:l:

AEEREREHFALH  Ebh—F

(ZF-_WF: —R) REARFANTE
F-hEBREHFAIREBE_T_A

FEXRA=T EIJJ:EFE‘Z@)H@ZZD—F :

2025 2024
—E-FRE —E_NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances %tr/i\ N EBL 1,909 2,909
Contributions to retirement RIREFFT B 5X
benefit schemes 36 54
1,945 2,963
Their emoluments fell within the following bands: EATZME N FLATAER -

HK$0-HK$1,000,000 07 7T & 1,000,000 7 7T

Number of individuals
AE

2025
—®_hF

2024
—EF_mEF

5 3)

No share options were granted to non-director, highest
paid individuals in respect of their services to the Group
for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

There were no arrangement under which the above
non-director, highest paid individuals waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 30 June
2025 and 2024. No compensation for loss of office has
been paid by the Group for any individual for the years
ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_-_AFA=THIFE

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. IR &

2024
—E_E
HK$'000
FHET
Interest on bank loans RITERFE 276 246
Interest on other loans H b E A8 - 416
Interest on lease liabilities HEGERNE 48 30
324 692

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. Fhii§NIER

Hong Kong profits tax was provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profit arising in Hong
Kong for both years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. No
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made
for the current and prior periods as the Group has no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong.

The subsidiary established in the PRC is subject to
enterprise income tax (“EIT") at tax rates of 25% for
both years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. No provision
for PRC EIT has been made for the current and prior
periods as the Group has no assessable profits arising
in the PRC.

The Group is also subject to PRC withholding tax at the
rate of 10% in respect of dividend income derived from
PRC incorporated companies for the years ended 30
June 2025 and 2024.

Under the relevant Japan tax regulations, the profits of
the business under tokumei kumiai arrangement (“TK
Arrangement”) which is distributed to a tokumei kumiai
investor after deducting any accumulated losses in prior
years is subject to the tax rate 20.42%. There is no tax
paid or payable for the both years ended 30 June 2025
and 2024 as there are no distributable reserves.

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF

BE_Z_AFK_ZF_WNF~H
“THILEMEFE REBELZME
BT B SR B s IR T XK 16.5% 1E 2 BB
FEREE HRAEER B R
BAEARSETEBEERRNEN -
B B B RS B B o

BE_Z_-_AFK_F_WNF~H
=T BIEMEFE - RH B2 K
BARI BRI E2%HMEEMER
(TEEMED] - AR AREE R A
MBI EERRELERRY
wA IR B RS
A o

BHE-_ZT-_AFKE_ZF-_WNF~H
“TBHLEFE AEENERAPE
A B R EFTE A 2 IR B AR
T 10% @A B FE 0 F -

BRIBEEBERARTRERO EREHT
H((EBBHZH]) BETEB 2R
MRAMBBTFEEMNRGFEER
DIKE—XERZRRBHRESE) BEY
F20.42% #Fn o BB D IR

WEE—_ZE-_hAFE_F-_NF A
=T HIEMEFEY&ESNRENT
I8 o
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFAA=THIEFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The subsidiary established in Japan is subject to
prefectural and municipal inhabitant taxes on a per
capita basis in accordance with the relevant Japan tax
regulations for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

11.

FisRIESR @)

BHE_ZT_AFKk_ZE_NNFEA

=tELEEE RABEAKIZHEA
BIZRMRIEAE R B AR AR A&

/’E%Z%WWZ&EE%R ©

2024
—E-puF
HK$'000
AT
Current tax BN ER%R 18
— Japan — B 6 7
Deferred tax EEF IR (788) (844)
Total income tax credit FriS i /e ss (782) (837)
Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the profit/ AERNMEHELGES 2B KSR
(loss) before income tax per the consolidated statement BRI (BR)HENT :

of comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024
—EC-fHE “E-MEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Profit/(loss) before income tax FremianaF,/ (BE) 32,832 (71,608)
Tax on loss before income tax, HERRN BT B AR
calculated at the rates applicable to MEGEOMEH A EBENIE
the tax jurisdictions concerned 4,488 (11,802)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A 1% 5 L M) i T 2/ 28
for tax purposes 2,607 11,408
Tax effect of income not taxable BEMHBRANTETE
for tax purposes (7,877) (2,297)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised A HERHIBERENF BT E - 1,854
Total income tax credit PSR o 5 (782) (837)
12. DIVIDEND 12. B2
The Board does not recommend the payment of any EFeTEEMRBE_ZT= ﬁ FR

dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: Nil).
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. BERERF (HR)
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) BRERNRBERT (BB HIEAK
per share is based on the profit/(loss) for the year ANEER ANBEAFERNEF(E8)
attributable to owners of the Company and the RAFEANEBITERRINET S
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue Ho
during the year.

2024
—ZNF

HK$'000
TAET

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable FB{Est & G E R K
to owners of the Company for the #5EZ&F)(E18) 2
purpose of calculating basicand AR &% A AL
diluted earnings/(loss) per share AERNEF(EIE) 33,614 (70,771)

Number of shares
%0 &0 B
2025 2024
—E_RE —E UL

‘000 ‘000

TR T
(Adjusted)
(R AE)

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FB{Est EFREKR K
shares for the purpose of calculating ~ #&E&F)(E18) 2
basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per BN T

share 523,184 523,184
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share amount for the years MARTEEEEARR W_ZT_h
of 2025 and 2024 is the same as basic earnings/(loss) FERZZE-_NEFE2SRESR
per share because there is no potential ordinary shares. MAEBR) eEEATREART (B

1B) AR o
The weighted average number of ordinary shares REstEEE T -_WFA=1H
for the year ended 30 June 2024 has been adjusted IFTFEBRERREEEE 2 EEBR
retrospectively for the purpose of calculating basic and MEFHIHEEPRALE - ZAETIIR
diluted loss per share. The adjustment is arising from RIRMDE O FBEHENEE W BHRE
the share consolidation, in which the details are set out B 5 29(a) °

in note 29(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFAA=THIEFE

14. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Disposal of Goldkeen Limited (“Goldkeen”)
On 4 December 2023, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to
dispose of its entire equity interests of Goldkeen at
a consideration of HK$1,700,000. Gain on disposal
amounted to HK$101,000 for the year ended 30 June
2024 was analysed as follows:

14. HE—RHRE LT

HESRERAR(S®E)
R-_ZE_=F+_AMWA A5EH
—ZBAE=ZFEIAHE ULEH
Rz 2 5Bk - {8 &1,700,000
/%E %z%é_—\,_ﬂi/\ﬂ ‘T‘EIJJ:
FE - HEREA101,00087T - 247
W

2024
—TF
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: EHEEESFE:
Investment properties (note 16) BEME (H5E16) 14,485
Deposits and other receivables & NCH M e B IE 131
Other payables B b FE T RRIE 97)
Borrowings B (12,920)
1,599
Less: Proceeds from disposal B ST IR (1,700)
Gain on disposal & W (101)
Net cash inflows arising on disposal HEEE RS RAFE 1,700

Cash consideration of HK$1,700,000 from the disposal
of Goldkeen had been fully received by the Group
during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. IR - BE R W

Equipment,
Right-of-use Freehold Leasehold  furniture and Plant and Motor
assets land Buildings improvements fixtures  machinery vehicles
RRE XA - BAR HER
- EL i B BERE B hE
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§/000 HKS'000 HK§/000
Titn Thn Tin i T Thr
COST: HA:
At 1July 2023 RZB-Z%tA-H 653 151761 22080 2707 2,588 1826 133 382,948
Additions RE = = = 688 628 - 22 1,548
Lease modification HEEY 679 - - - - - - 679
Written off s (653) = 5 = 0 5 (707) (1.369)
Exchange realignment EiHE = (15905) (23274) (333) (299 (191) (83 (40079)
At30June 2024and 1)uly 2024 R=B-BEXA=TAR
“R-PELA-R 679 135,856 198806 3062 291 1635 775 77
Additions RE 904 s = 906 362 = = 2172
Early termination of lease: RELIRE (678) - - - - - - (678)
Written off s = = = = 2) = (707) 729)
Exchange realignment EiAE - 16099 23559 375 333 194 2 10652
At 30 June 2025 RZB-EERA=TA 905 151,955 222,365 4383 3987 1829 160 385,144
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION B3t EREEHE:
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1July 2023 WZE-Z£+f-A 653 3262 nan 1754 2,32 1826 133 12,489
Provided for the year REREE 340 - 3405 7 137 - 50 4,044
Written off s (653) S = S ] = (707) (1.369)
Exchange realignment EEE S (3419) (7,789) (190) (22) (191) (70 (11,89
At30June 2024 and 1July 2024 R-B-BEXRA=THR
“E-MmELR-R 300 203 67,633 1,636 220 1,635 606 103,273
Provided for the year AEREE 3n - 3453 W1 %6 - 5 4379
Early termination of lease: RERIRE (435) = . = B B - (435)
Written off i - - - - 2) - (707) 729)
Exchange realignment EiAE - 3461 8141 197 Au7 19 74 1231
At30 June 2025 RZQZRERAZTA m 66 1.2 207 2701 189 % 11830
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BERE:
At 30 June 2025 R-E-EEAB=TR 628 11991 143138 2269 886 - 130 266,342
At 30 June 2024 R-S-mEXB=TR 39 106,653 131173 1426 694 - 169 200454
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15.

176

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Right-of-use assets

As at 1 July 2023

15. MR - BE R (@)

EHEEE

Land and
buildings
leased for
own use
=Pz

HE i
kEF
HK$'000
FHET

R-—ZE-_=5+H—H -

Lease modification HE &% 679
Depreciation e (340)
As at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R-ZZB-WMEXA=+HR

—E_MFEtLHA—H 339
Additions NE 904
Depreciation e (372
Early termination of lease REHKILAE (243)
As at 30 June 2025 R-ZB-HFXA=1+AH 628
The freehold land is situated in Japan. KAFERLHARAR -

Property, plant and equipment with the net carrying
amount HK$265,267,000 (2024: HK$240,104,000) (before
the current year impairment 10ss) is attributable to
the cash-generating unit of hotel hospitality (“Hotel
Hospitality Business CGU") with which the goodwill
amount is recognised. As at 30 June 2025, the Directors
reviewed the recoverable amounts of property, plant
and equipment in Hotel Hospitality Business CGU as
the business incurred losses. Hotel Hospitality Business
CGU continuously faced the relatively low occupancy
rate. This had adverse impact on the estimation of the
recoverable amount. Based on the result of assessment,
no further impairment loss has been recognised for the
years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.

BR T /% B 5 265,267,000/ 7T (= F
~ PO4F : 240,104,00078 7T) (F0 %k A& F
ERERBER) 2ME  BEMXESR
BRBEERFzZHEeEESEM (DS
REEKREELEMN])  HEEsg
HOERR RZZE-_RAF A=+
H ARBERSEBELRSE &K
EECEMAEERSESReELS
ZWE BEERZETRLODESE-
BERFESReEAEUBERR
EHERAER Gl E & E G
EETHEE - BREFHER  PE
E_E_RAFR-_ZTE-_NESNAZT
BItFEMERRE— S REREIE -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Mk - MBE R ERR (&)

(Continued)

The recoverable amount of the Hotel Hospitality
Business CGU is determined by the Directors of the
Company with reference to a valuation report issued
by an independent professional valuer. The recoverable
amount of the Hotel Hospitality Business CGU has
been determined from fair value less cost of disposal,
which is higher than its value-in-use, in which fair value
is primarily making reference to the recent sales of
similar transactions in the market and cost of disposal
is estimated at 3.5% (2024: 3.5%) of assessed fair value.
It is Level 3 non-recurring fair value measurement. The
key significant unobservable input to determine is the
discount on age, location and condition. The higher
discount on these factors would result in the lower in
the fair value measurement of the fair value, and vice
versa.

As at 30 June 2025, property, plant and equipment
with the net carrying amount of HK$1,075,000 (2024
HK$350,000) (before the current year impairment 10ss)
is attributable to money lending business. As at 30
June 2025, the Directors reviewed the recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment in the
business segment of money lending business as the
business incurred losses. No interest income has been
recognised for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024
since there was no new loan for the year.

As at 30 June 2025, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment in the business segment of money
lending business is based on value-in-use calculations.
That calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management of
the Group covering a five-year period, followed by an
extrapolation of expected cash flow at zero growth
rate which do not exceed the long-term growth rate
for the business in which the money lending business
operates. Based on the result of the assessment,
the management of the Group determined that no
impairment loss has been recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2025 (2024 Nil).

BERGEGERSELEM 2T KD
CRVAARAREELLERFHIUER
HEMMBERGERSEMETE - B/E
AFXEBREELELZATKRE S
BRAVERLERAMEE (X2
BERNEEAEER)  ATFEIEZ
EmG I MBALURZHE MHE
A TSR G A FEB35% (ZF
M5 35%) mE o WRIEBE IR
FREUERAFEAE -BEMANE
EEANABERBAREBERFY i
B RBEIRE - ZFEENIE
EBA AFENAFEFELE -
RZIFR

R-ZE-_RFNA=+1H" £HE®
SF18 /41,075,0008 70 (ZF — P04 -
350,000/ 7T) (FkR A F R E B8 AT)
Z2UE BERRERBNEEER -
R-ZE-_RFENA=1+H HREE
E¥BELERR HESEMZESD
B2WE BERRBEZAIKESE -
MAARFEIWENE R W ERE
EZE-AFRZTENEASA=T
HIEFEERFBUWA -

RZZE-_HFRNA=1+H BEEH
DRBZME  BER&EZAWEE
BOREREEAERSL - L5t ER
P AN 5 (85 32 & P it R 2 T 4F 1
ZUBRESER RS RERA -
HMATBEBEEREAREXBEN
REERENTEEXEERNRS
ME -REFEER  AEEEEE
RENBE-_T-_AFA=1THL
FEMERDMEBE (T _M4F
) o
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16.

178

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. EME
2024
—EZF
HK$'000
FHET
At beginning of the year REF] 15,900

Net deficit on revaluation of investment KEMESHBAFRE

properties (1,415)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 14) HE—EHB AR (H:E14) (14,485)

At end of the year RER

The fair value of the Company’s investment
properties at the disposal date has been assessed
by an independent professional valuer using direct
comparison method. Net deficit on revaluation of
HK$1,415,000 had been recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended
30 June 2024.

In December 2023, the Company had completed the
disposal of investment properties through disposal of
a subsidiary at a consideration of HK$1,700,000. The
details of the disposal were set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

REEBH ARARREDEZATF
BETHBYEXGHEMEREEL
ERETHGE - ARBEREBE-T
“HEXRAZTHLEFEEZEAEE
U 25 3% P RE 52 2 1 B AL VF 811,415,000
BT °

RZBE_=F+_F XRFREEB
# (B 1,700,000% 7T & — R B A
AN EREME - HEFBER
RE SRR 14 -
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17. GOODWILL 17. 58
HK$'000
FET
COST: A
At 1 July 2023 NR=-ZZBE=-=5+H—8 42,801
Exchange realignment bE W, (4,485)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R-ZE_NMFEAA=+HRK
—E-_ME+LHA—H 38,316
Exchange realignment bE H, B 4,541
At 30 June 2025 R-ZE-_HEA~A=1H 42,857
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: 2 BEERE :
At 1 July 2023 R=-BE-=%+tHA—H 42,801
Exchange realignment ME W R (4,485)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R-B-NEXRA=+THR
—E-_NME+HA—H 38,316
Exchange realignment M 5 3 B 4,541
At 30 June 2025 R-ZE-_HEFXA=1+H 42,857

NET CARRYING AMOUNT:
At 30 June 2025

BREEE
R-ZE-HREX~A=+H

At 30 June 2024

R-E-WWEXA=1+H

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to the cash generating units (“CGU") identified

as follows:

AETHENR  BEOREEATA
MR ReEE B (REELEM])

HK$'000

Year ended 30 June 2025
Hotel hospitality business

BE-ZE-HEXA=1+HLEE
BIERFER

FTERT

42,857

HK$'000

Year ended 30 June 2024
Hotel hospitality business

BE-_Z-_MNEANA=1THLEE
BIERFE

THETT

38,316

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of hotel
hospitality business and was fully impaired in the

previous years.

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REAEATFIZCHES

2024
—T_PUF
HK$'000
FHET
At beginning of the year REF] 1,919
Share of loss for the year DIERFERNER (101)
Disposal e (1,818)
At end of the year RER -

Details of the Group's associates are as follows: AEEZEERRFBEOT :

Particulars of Place of Percentage of
Name of company issued capital  incorporation interest held Principal activities
NGIEE ERITRAFE ZTMRLBE FiEREr DL ETEEK

2025 2024
“E-RE | T _NF

Ming Fong Group Limited HK$10,000 Hong Kong - - Dormant
("Ming Fong")
REEEERARADA 10,0007 7T BE WIS EET
(TR )
On 11 December 2023, the Group entered into an R-ZE-_=F+_-_A+—H8 K&H
agreement with an independent third party to dispose BH—RBTE=FF A AHE
of the equity interests of Ming Fong at a consideration 75A ek % R (& & 1,900,000 7
of HK$1,900,000. Gain on disposal amounted to o HE W A820008 TE RERE
HK$82,000 had been recognised in the consolidated “ENFERAZTRHIEFEZES
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended PHYERPER BE_T_MF
30 June 2024. Cash consideration of HK$1,900,000 NAZTRHILEFE  A&EEE28E
from the disposal had been fully received by the Group & P15 3R £ K8 1,900,000% 7T °

during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—TE_RAFNA=THIEFE

19. INVENTORIES 19. &8
2025 2024
—E_RE —ZE 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Consumables JHE 264 165
Merchandise Gl 2,990 2,950
3,254 3,115
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 20. B EUIRIE - HAhFEUL R
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND H-RERTAFMRIE
PREPAYMENTS
—E-RE —E U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Trade receivables B S rEIERE 623 3,842
Less: Provision for impairment B ORI EBERE
losses (119) (117)
Trade receivables, net (note (a)) B S EWERIEFEE (k@) 504 3,725
Other tax recoverable H {th AT Uk [B1 718 1,815 1,642
Other receivables (note (b)) H b & 5B (M E (b)) 2,726 2,994
Other deposits Hiniz e 155 10
Prepayments A FRIB 74 1,444
5,274 9,815
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e M RERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—ZE_RAFAA=THIEFE

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER 20. EHEUIRIA - HAhFEU =R
R -BReERAMR

RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a) The Group allows credit period of 0 to 365 days (2024: 0 to 365
days) to its customers.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of provision for
impairment losses, based on invoice date, is as follows:

Wi

(@ AEELRTEEFEESNT0OEISH
“ZT PN :0F365H) °

REZAHEHNRREBRBEFRZE
SR ARRRE AT

2024
—EMF

HK$'000

Within 30 days 30BA 457 925
31-60 days 31E60R a7 49
Over 90 days 90 B LA E - 2,751

504 3,725

There is no collateral for trade receivables as at 30 June 2025
and 2024.

The movements in the expected credit loss for trade receivables
for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

At 1 July REB—8
Exchange realignment FE 3

R RAFR-ZE_MFA=+H"
B 5 EWRIRTE EIK G o

HE-_E-_RAFR-_Z-_WMFEA=+
ALFEBESRKERBEBHEESE
gehm

2024
—EMF

HK$'000
TET

117 116
2 1

As at 30 June RAA=+H

119 117

(b) The movements in the expected credit loss for the other
receivables and deposits for the years ended 30 June 2025 and
2024 are as follows:

b BHEZFE-_AFERZZTE-WFSA=+
BIEFEHMBRFERIEZSHBEEE
EEBEHET

2025 2024

—E-RF —E - F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHET

At 1 July AtA—H 235 393
Reversal of expected credit loss for RERBEHEEBERD

the year (10) (157)

Exchange realignment b H 752 6 (1)

As at 30 June RAA=+H 231 235
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_-_AFA=THIEE

21. LOANS RECEIVABLE 21. BB

Gross loan and interest receivables & Ut & 2% & Kl B 4258
Less: impairment losses allowances J& : J8 (B &5 18 B &

2024
—EF_mEF

HK$'000
TAT

242,263 229,055
(242,263) (229,055)

As at 30 June 2025, the loans receivable with
gross principal amount of HK$146,894,000 (2024:
HK$146,894,000) in aggregate and related gross interest
receivables of HK$95,369,000 (2024: HK$82,161,000)
were due from seven (2024: seven) independent third
parties. These loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging
from 8% to 20% (2024: 8% to 20%) per annum. All the
loan receivables were repayable within twelve months
from the end of the reporting period and therefore were
classified as current assets.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group held collateral over loans
receivable with gross principal amount of HK$33,511,000
(2024: HK$33,511,000).

No further impairment loss (2024: reversal of
impairment loss of HK$200,000) has been recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2025.

R-_ZE_RAFNA=1+8 BEKLE
FZ(ZE-_MEFE:+R)BILFE=H
ANE 48584 $£146,894,0008 T (&
— VO£ : 146,894,000 T) 2 FEKE
X K+ R e R A B 48 5E 95,369,000 78
ﬁ(:y:mﬁ 82,161,000 JT) °
Z% FIEFRENTEEE20E (=
—mi BEENE)FTE-FTBE
H&z%*hi,ﬂ#&iﬁzﬁﬂi&JrJlﬂw

CARESRBARBDEE

RZEBE_RFA=TH ' ~5EH
K& #%E 533,511,000 (=M
# :33511,000087T) ZIEWERIFE
Tﬁﬁuu"

BEEARERSE (ZZT ZMF R
{EE’E’%%{EZOOOOO}%T_E)EEA%E

—RERNAZ= —f—EIJJ:iF“E’Ji?{:.\i\
ﬁﬂﬁl 52 P HERR
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FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued) 21. BB 2

184

The movements in the impairment losses allowances
for loans receivable for the years ended 30 June 2025
and 2024 are as follows:

BE_Z_AFK_ZFT _WNFH
TRLEFERKERZ BERER
BRBHIT

2025 2024
—E-REF —TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At 1 July HntHA—H 229,055 229,489
Reversal of impairment loss for RE AN REEERE D
the year - (200)
Written off ! - (16,515)
Unwinding of discount on BREEREERZITE
the credit-impaired loans 13,208 16,281
At 30 June RA<A=1+H 242,263 229,055

Reconciliation of gross carrying amount of loan
receivables for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024
are as follows:

B2 _RAFN_ZF_NFERA
—t+HRLELFERKEFREARE
BRIAT -

Stage1  Stage2  Stage3 Total

EIRE E22RR FIER et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TR TERT TERT
Balance at 1 July 2023 R-ZE-=F+B-RAz&& - - 230,689 230,689
Unwinding of discount iR - - 16,281 16,281
Repayment R - - (1,400) (1,400)
Written off #ss - - (16,515)  (16,515)
Balance at 30 June 2024 and R=ZZE-_MEAA=1+HRK
1 July 2024 “E_NELA-H2EH = - 229,055 229,055

Unwinding of discount fRRRTiE - - 13,208 13,208
Balance at 30 June 2025 R-B-HEXB=THZ#&EH - - 242,263 242,263
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE-—Z-_AF A ~A=THILFE

21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued) 21. BUgER (@)
Movements in the expected credit loss in respect of BHE-_Z_NWEFER=-FT=_=F-A
loan receivables for the years ended 30 June 2024 and “+HLFE E@RRKERNTERS
2023 are as follows: EEEBEBEEHHT

Stage1 ~ Stage2  Stage3 Total
E1EE  2oER  HamE M

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TAL TAT TAT

229,489 229,489

(200) (200)
16,281 16,281

(16,515) (16,515)

Balance at 1 July 2023 R-E-=F+tB—-Hz&& -
Reversal of expected creditloss TEHiE & 5187 [ -
Unwinding of discount R iTE -
Written off s =

Balance at 30 June 2024 and R=ZF-MEXA=1+HR
1 July 2024 “ENELA-H2EH = - 229,055 229,055
Unwinding of discount R - 13,208 13,208

Balance at 30 June 2025 R-ZBE-RERAZTHZESHS

242,263 242,263

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22. FRFEGARZZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
TR hE B

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THETT

Listed securities in HongKongat  EMEFIE2E 5 &S

market value (note) (M3E) 166,390 131,326
Note: BT
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the fair value gain of listed securities BHE_Z-_AF~AA=1tHLEFE LtWmHEH
was HK$35,064,000 (2024: fair value loss of HK$41,547,000) which E’\J’D\$1ELISI§2%35,064,OOO§%?E (ZZ-4F:
has been dealt with in the consolidated statement of comprehensive N EEBIBA1,547,00087T)  ZeBEREE
income for the year ended 30 June 2025. ZERFRNAZHHLEFENGEEEKS

RPEE -

The fair value of the listed securities is Level 1 recurring fair value ITTESNATFEBE 1 REEERAFEE -
measurement.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

23.

186

BANK BALANCES AND CASH
AND DEPOSITS IN A FINANCIAL
INSTITUTION

Bank balances and cash

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods ranging from one day to three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy financial institutions with
no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
bank deposits and bank balances and cash approximate
to their fair values.

Time deposits comprised of short-term bank deposits
of HK$6,032,000 (2024: HK$10,576,000) with an original
maturity of three months or less held by the Group. The
amounts carried interest 2.9%—4.5% (2024: 3.1%—4.9%)
per annum.

Bank balances as at 30 June 2025 of HK$1,168,000 (2024
HK$1,584,000) are denominated in RMB, which are
placed with banks in the PRC.

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.
Under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Deposits in a financial institution

As at 30 June 2025, HK$101,825,000 (2024:
HK$89,780,000) was placed in a creditworthy licensed
financial institution with no recent history of default.

The carrying amounts of the deposits in a financial
institution are denominated in HK$ which are
approximate to their fair values.

23. SRITHER 5 B & LR 1 & R i

WMzER

RITEHRRES
RITBERBEARTERNEZFH
T REREA S - FEHE BTF R 2 T 3K
HNF—HE=BATE BFLE
B ANRReFRME  WIREREH
E R HAKRERFAE - RITERT
BREZBRIFAROIVELRCHE L
TR o RITHERARRITESR K
ReFmEREAFERS -

A9B)ET R o

MN-ZE-_RENA=1THWHETEL
1,168,00078 7L (ZZ = Y4 : 1,584,000
BI) TAARBEE WFERF
ZRIBIT o

ARBAAEmMABRSEMEE - 1R
EHRBEABEIMNEEHDER RAEE &
ENMEEERE AEREEEEB
EREETIINERB ZRTBARE
ABMREMEE -

REBMERE 2R
R-ZE-RFXA=+H ARAAM
58 R of BT HIS0 830 R R 8% 2 #5 12
T BB 7 72101,825,0008 7T (= F
— P4 : 89,780,000 7T)

REBMEEZFREREETAET
FHE - EEQFEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_-_AFA=THIEE

24. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 24. S EFRE « Rt EFHIE
AND ACCRUALS REER
2024
—E_RE —E N4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Trade payables (note (a)) B SR (M5 @) 704 1,684
Other tax payable H b fE A B IR 2,076 1,679
Other payables and accruals B e RIB R ERTE B
(note (b)) (MF5E (b)) 2,848 3,713
5,628 7,076
Notes: BisE -
(@)  The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, is () HEZAHZESEMNRERESITAOT
as follows:
2025 2024
—E_FRHE —ET_NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHIT
Within 30 days 0BRX 696 1,677
31-60 days 31260 H = =
61-90 days 61290 H - =
Over 90 days 90 B+ 8 7
704 1,684
(b)  As at 30 June 2025, other payables and accruals consist of b RKRZZEZHEFANA=1H HthEMNK
accrued audit fee of HK$1,520,000 (2024: HK$1,600,000). 18 ] eS8 A B 5 ERT % B A 1,520,000

BT (ZZ =94 : 1,600,000/87T) ©
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e M RERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 & Z=—

FoAFAASHALFE

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 25. e¥AR
The contract liabilities mainly represented the advance BHBBEIZEREBRBEFPHEAENR
consideration received from customers. The Group will {% o REBBNE Mk R R i

recognise the expected revenue in the future when or
as the goods or services is delivered. All balances are
expected to occur within the next 12 months.

Movement of contract liabilities

RARRIBHW S - FTA ERTAHIN K
RI2MEAANZEAE -

BRNEENED

2024
—Z
HK$'000
AT
Balance as at 1 July RtB—BH&EsH 214 2,378
Decrease in contract liabilities EAARFABERKELSFVEEL
balance at the beginning of the B EESHRR D
year as a result of recognising
revenue during the year (207) (2,203)
Increase in contract liabilities asa  FAFBWHIES S LA EE N
result of receipt in advance 197 72
Exchange realignment PE N2 25 (33)
Balance as at 30 June RAB=1THWEE 229 214

188
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_-_AFA=THIEE

26. BORROWINGS

Bank loans, secured BEMIETER

26. 68

2024
—EF_mEF

HK$'000
TAT

20,623 24,260

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment
on demand clause, borrowings are repayable as follows:

Within one year —F A

RIZ & R & P8 TRFHE R B Hﬂﬂji
Bt MEMREREEGRR 2T E
fe BE A LA T RIS ¢

2024
—EF_mEF

HK$'000
TABT

20,623 24,260

Bank loans were secured by (i) land and building
with the carrying amount of HK$262,429,000 (2024
HK$237,826,000); (ii) the bank balances of HK$652,000
(2024: HK$582,000); and (iii) the entire equity interest of
certain subsidiary as at 30 June 2025 and 2024.

The abovementioned bank loans are charged at floating
rates of 1 month Tokyo Interbank Offered Rate (“TIBOR")
plus basis point of 0.75%. The effective interest rate is
1.23% per annum (2024: 0.85% per annum).

$R17E FA () BR E B A 262,429,000 7%
JT (ZZ Z P04 : 237,826,000/ 7T) Z
T RAESF (i) ER7T 4552 652,0008 7T
(_7_E$ 582,000/ 7T) : K (i) &

THEBARNR_-_ZE-_AFR_FT_/N
FRH E—I—EIZ R RSCHE (R4

FRSBRITERDIRZEHFEFN X A1E
ARRIRITEZESE ([TIBORJ) #10.75
EERETE - BEFMNERB123E (=
T _PO4F : FFZEQSE)
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HEA®R
The amount included in the consolidated statement of REMBRAKRMEEREERER
financial position in respect of the carrying amounts of HERANFRNESHHSTEAT
lease liabilities and the movements during the year is as
follows:
Land and
buildings
T REF
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 July 2023 R=-ZE-_=%+tH—H -
Lease modification ME BN 679
Interest expenses (note 10) FERMZ (KEE10) 30
Lease payments MER (360)
As at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R-ZBE-MERA=THRK
—E-_MNFEtLHA—H 349
Additions NE 904
Early termination of lease RELILEHEE (236)
Interest expenses (note 10) FERZ (F15E10) 48
Lease payments ME R (399)
As at 30 June 2025 R-ZB-HFXA=1+AH 666
Future lease payments are due as follows: REMENZOEHRBERDOT :
2024
—EF
HK$'000
FHET
Future lease payments due LA T B B 9
KERBERRK
— Within one year ——FR 310 360
— After one year but within — —FREMFA
two years 372 -
— After two years but within — MFRE=FA
three years 30 -
712 360
Less: future interest expenses B RIRFBERX (46) (1)
Present value of lease liabilities HERERE 666 349
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_-_AFA=THIEE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) 27. H5& B »)
The present value of future lease payments are REMENHKBEENDT :
analysed as:
2024
—TF
HK$'000
FHT
Current liabilities mBEE 276 349
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 390 -
666 349
2025 2024
—E-RE T -HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Short term leases expenses HHEERY 511 414
Aggregate undiscounted FHAMH E M R BA IR AR AR R
commitments for short term
leases 398 327
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HE—ZE_RAFAA=THIEFE

28. DEFERRED TAX 28. RIEIRIR
Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences BERBIRAANEBLERERE
under the liability method using applicable tax rates BERsoRTEATER  LAEERE
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group BRrE B E -
operates.
The following is the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) NTRAAREEEBRAZEERLEMNIE
recognised by the Group and their movements: BE/(8f) REZHBFRN
Fair value
adjustment
arising from
business Tax
combination losses Total
¥KE6t
EEXz
ATERE HIEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET
At 1 July 2023 R=-B-=F+H—H (37,803) - (37,803)
Credited to profit or loss FFARFERNEB R
for the year (note 11) (BFEE11) 756 88 844
Exchange realignment bE 5 & 3,907 (©) 3,901

At 30 June 2024 and R-E-ME

1 July 2024 ARA=THR
—E-_MmME+LA—H (33,140) 82 (33,058)
Credited to profit or loss FFARFEANER
for the year (note 11) (FF3E11) 787 1 788
Exchange realignment bE H % (3,898) 11 (3,887)
At 30 June 2025 = S
NA=1H (36,251) 94 (36,157)
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_-_AFA=THIEE

28. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following
is the analysis of deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

28. BRI (&)

RREEMBMRRKREINME & T
ERERAEERBECDEEE - AT
R BRE T T HEET ARG RE
TTE AT

2024
—ZNF

HK$'000
TAET

Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E - =
Deferred tax liabilities RERHIEGE (36,157) (33,058)
(36,157) (33,058)

As at 30 June 2025, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$174,117,000
(2024: HK$174,005,000), subject to the agreement
of Inland Revenue Department, that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits
of the companies in which the losses arose. As at 30
June 2025, the Group has estimated unused tax losses
arising in the PRC amounted to HK$32,941,000 (2024
HK$32,935,000) which are available for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies and will expire
at various dates for a maximum period of five years
from the reporting date. As at 30 June 2025, the Group
has deductible temporary difference of HK$607,000
(2024: HK$579,000) in respect of expected credit loss
and write-down of inventories. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these estimated
unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as these were incurred by the companies that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not probate
that taxable profit will be available against which these
tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF

R-ZEBE_RAFANA=+H ~&£EH
EREBEEZHFARABDAMRES
174,117,000 70 (Z T — U4 -
174,005,0007% 7o) A 4 (R HA F /B 4K 34
BREEEBZ AR RKRERE DM
HEAFRERRAE RZE_AFN
A=1+H AEEEPBHEL 2 GG
R B) AR IE E51832,941,0008 T (=
T P4 : 32,935,000 7T) 1A A
Af(ERAERREBBETRSE) E
W ATRAEREZERR 2 R RER
Faf N —_TE-_HAEA=+8"
AEEREHREERERTEMRAE
AT 2 BB = B 607,000 L (= F
Z Y4 579,000 7T) © AR E) I &
MZEMFTAREBAKIEEE LA
CERERBRELCHBEE  RA
BZEMHFTABDAHERERTEM
BIHEHRGEHEE —BEBZARE

BEZENABBRAIR ERE
ﬁ o
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL

194

Ordinary shares of R-ZE-_MNER
HK$0.05 each at RSN A=ETE
30 June 2024 and 2025 FREEC.OSEITZ

I m AR

Authorised: YaRE £

At 1 July 2023,

R-—B-_=F+tAH—H"

29. =&

Number of
shares
o & B

Amount
R
HK$°000
THETT

‘000
T

30 June 2024 and —E-_WFAXA=1H

1 July 2024 EZ=E-_mE+LH—H 30,000,000 1,500,000
Share consolidation R& 10 & Bt () (29,000,000) =
Share subdivision [% 0 ¥ 48 () 29,000,000 =
At 30 June 2025 R-ZB-HFxXA=1+H 30,000,000 1,500,000

Number of
shares
:&vip - 4=|

‘000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 July 2023,

BEITMERE
R-—B-=Z=F+H—H"

FR

30 June 2024 and —E-_NMFEARNA=1+AH
1 July 2024 E—ZE-_mMFE+A—AH 15,695,532 784,776
Share consolidation f&1n & ot @) (15,172,348) -
Capital reduction A& 2 Bl Rk () - (758,617)
At 30 June 2025 R-ZBE-_HFEXA=1H 523,184 26,159
Notes: ek s
(@)  Pursuant to a special resolution passed in the special general (@ WBEARIR-_ZT-_NF+A+BZ
meeting of the Company on 16 October 2024, every thirty BEFIARGBBNFIRER  §=1
issued and unissued shares of HK$0.05 each were consolidated REBHTRABETHERMEEAR0SE T
into one consolidated share of the Company of HK$1.50 each HRHDEHAERRR—RSREMEA1.50
with effect on 18 October 2024. BITHEHRD  BEZTEZWF+ATN
HAR AR -
(b)  Pursuant to a special resolution passed in the special general by BREARAR-_Z-_MNFE+A+BZ
meeting of the Company on 16 October 2024, the par value RRFHN ARG BBNFIRER - FRE
of each issued consolidated share was reduced from HK$1.50 BATE OFR O EE R SR 1.507% 7T 8l
each to HK$0.05 each with effect on 18 October 2024. AER0SE T BT -_MF+A+N
HAR AR -
(©) Pursuant to a special resolution passed in the special general © WBEARAR-_Z-_MNFE+A+BZ

meeting of the Company on 16 October 2024, each authorised
but unissued consolidated share of par value of HK$1.50 was
subdivided into thirty authorised but unissued consolidated
shares of par value of HK$0.05 each.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FREMBERERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 BHEZZ_-_AFA=THIEE

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30. EEIEW
Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated BZEHREMBRREMIB D FTIF

BEN AEETCERUTEEE
RASEEREERE 2 BT (M E
26) - WEBEZREESTWAT :

financial statements, the Group had pledged the
following assets to secure borrowing facilities granted
(note 26) to the Group. The carrying amounts of these
assets are analysed as follows:

2024
—ZNF

HK$'000
TAET

Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 262,429 237,826

Bank balances RITHE R 652 582

263,081 238,408

31. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 31. X AFIEW
Share  Contributed Accumulated

premium surplus losses Total

R4 RE N RiER @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEL FEL FAT FAT

At 1 July 2023 W-ZE-=f+A-H 1,217,887 414,226 (2,134,694) (502,581)
Loss and total comprenensive  AEREERZERALE

income for the year - - (46,370) (46,370)
At 30 June 2024 and RZB-MEXA=TAHR

1July 2024 ZZ_mELA-H 1,217,887 414,226 (2,181,064) (548,951)

Capital reduction (note 29(b) AR JAL (B 3E 29(0) 758,617 - - 758,617
Profit and total comprehensive ~ AERGH Kk 2B A L5

income for the year - - 38,818 38,818

At 30 June 2025 RZE-REXB=1H 1,976,504 414,226 (2,142,246) 248,484
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For the year ended 30 June 2025 HEZZ_AFA=THIFE

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 32. XA R MK AT
OF THE COMPANY

2025 2024

—E_-RF —ZpuF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

B aE FET FATT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FIREBEE

Property, plant and equipment ¥ % - &= & & # 438 =

Interests in subsidiaries AN IENGIPE 6,687 10,206
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 7,125 10,206
Current assets REBEE

Other receivables H {th jE Uk K18 - 357

Financial assets at fair value BAVEGTAERZ

through profit or loss TREE 166,390 131,326
Deposits in a financial & BhiE 2 73K
institution 101,825 89,780

Bank balances and cash RITERRIRE 2,527 7,519
Total current assets MEEERE 270,742 228,982
Current liabilities HREEE

Other payables and accruals ~ H b fE{ 5018 K BT & A 2,110 2,249

Amounts due to subsidiaries  FEfTHHE A B FIE 1,114 1,114
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 3,224 3,363
Net current assets RBEEFRE 267,518 225,619
Net assets EEFRE 274,643 235,825
EQUITY R

Share capital &N 29 26,159 784,776

Reserves [EER] 31 248,484 (548,951)
Total equity 48R 274,643 235,825

Statement of financial position of the Company was
approved and authorised for issue by the board of

RARBBRARER -_ZT_HFN

A= +EE§%§$AH&&%@HIJ§*
directors on 24 September 2025 and are signed on its WA NIESREEE -

behalf by:

Wong Siu Keung Joe
EIKE

Chi Yin Yin Georgiana
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33. INFORMATION ABOUT PRINCIPAL BP.FREEMBATIZEH
SUBSIDIARIES
Place of Issuedand  Percentage of equity
incorporation/ fully paid  interest attributable  Principal activities and
Name of company establishment share capital to the Company place of operation
NEER HMAY/ /RIS BRORMEZRE ARAEGREGAIE TEEERCEHY
Directly Indirectly
B B
DeTai Finance Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 100%  Money lending in Hong Kong
ERUEERAR &h 187 REBMR
Guofeng Liquor & Wine Business  PRC US$10,000 - 100%  Trading and distribution of
(Sichuan) Ltd.* (note) i 10,0003 liquor and wine in the PRC
EREE () ERAR () REBEERDHEEER
Cambridge Venture Partners Japan JPY10,000 - 100%  Hotel hospitality business
Kabushiki Kaisha (“CVP KK) B 10,0008 in Japan
RAAREEERFER
* The English name is for identification only (3 B B TBEHER
Note: B &E
This subsidiary is registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under B A RIREPEIEEELAINEBELSE -

the law of the PRC.
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34. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34. if 8B &t ERM:E
OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing HREEBMELERECHE
activities:
Lease
Borrowings [ELTES
BE HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEIT FHET
At 1 July 2023 HN=—8=-=%+tA—8H 46,184 =
Changes from financing cash MERSRESE :
flows:
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (6,269) -
Proceeds from borrowings BEEFTSRIE 340 -
Lease payment MERK = (330)
Interest paid A F B (662) (30)
Total changes from financing MERESRESBHARE
cash flows (6,591) (360)
Exchange adjustments ME W A (3,075) -
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 14) HE—FHBAE (HiE14) (12,920) -
Other changes: Hih s :
Lease modification HEEN - 679
Interest expenses BB X 662 30
Total other changes Hih@ )48 %8 662 709
At 30 June 2024 and 1July 2024 AR=-Z_-_NEXA=+HK
—E_E+LHA—H 24,260 349
Changes from financing cash MERSREST !
flows:
Repayment of borrowings EEEE (6,284) -
Lease payment MERK - (351)
Interest paid 2T B (276) (48)
Total changes from financing MERESRELHELE
cash flows (6,560) (399)
Exchange adjustments P 5 F & 2,647 -
Other changes: Hih s :
Addition NE - 904
Early termination of lease EREKRIEHE - (236)
Interest expenses FERX 276 48
Total other changes Hih@# )48 %8 276 716
At 30 June 2025 R-ZBE-HEXA=1+H 20,623 666
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35.

36.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management
personnel

The key management personnel of the Group
comprises all directors of the Company. Details of
their remuneration are disclosed in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns and benefits for
members and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes borrowings less deposits in a financial
institution, pledged bank balances, bank balances and
cash and total equity as disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new share
issues as well as the issue of new debts or redemption
of existing debts.

“TOREER o BRHERKEARAF

35.

36.

FREALRS
FEEE A SR
AEEIEERABGELAARLE
BE-AMRS M HBEREAH
BRI W -

RempRER

AEEESEERGERERAKRESR
RENFERE 1t ARRRE &

KM e WHRFREEERER A
AR E AR

AEECZENGERBRAERE &
TEEEERREREBLER B
HEMRTRG  ROTERERRSUAR
RERA M RN RIKER 2 #4g -

AT I L A —
RoERULBHADSS BREE
BEERIE A 2 & AR RAARER -
EREBE RS AREEERY
FT1AR T T 97 M R L 5 (R -
N R A A -
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e M RERME

For the year ended 30 June 2025 & Z=—

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

FoAFAASHALFE

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as

36.

HeRBER 9
REEPR2EEABLENT ;

follows:
2024
—ZETHF
HK$'000
FHET
Borrowings BE 20,623 24,260
Deposits in a financial institution N4 B ~ 173K (101,825) (89,780)
Pledged bank balances BEHEFIRITAR (652) (582)
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERS (11,996) (26,075)
Net cash REFEE (93,850) (92,177)
Total equity B 490,028 434,043
Net cash to equity ratio MEFRAEERL X (0.19) 0.21)

37.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets
and financial liabilities as recognised as at 30 June 2025
and 2024 may be categorised as follows:

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value

TREE

37.

BRNBSCEMBER &R
REEE

AEBR-_Z-_AFR-F-NFX
A=THEBRZeREEREBEE
FREESHOT

2024
—EF_mEF

HK$'000
TABT

BAFEFABRRZEREE

through profit or loss 166,390 131,326
Financial assets at amortised cost  ZEEK AT E 2 &&= 117,858 123,166
284,248 254,492

Financial liabilities o= =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  IZE R AT E 2 2R B G 24,841 30,006
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Financial Summary
MHE=E

RESULTS E 3

Years ended 30 June
BEAA=TALEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE | ZE_NF —E-=f B Z—E-_—f
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr AT FHL FET FET
Revenue Wiz 34,038 31,266 31,159 41,052 24,092
Profit/(Loss) before FremAEF,/
income tax (B#) 32,832 (71,608) (72,419) (138,305) (47,617)
Income tax credit ERESR 782 837 2,588 2,467 5,841
Profit/(Loss) for the year ~ BERLEK2
from continuing KEREF,/
operations (B#) 33,614 (70,771) (69,831) (135,839) 41,776)
Profit for the year from BRIEREER
discontinued operations  ANF R F - - - - 4,879

Profit/(Loss) for the year A% AEF],/

(BR) 33,614 (70,771) (69,831) (135,838) (36,897)
Profit/(Loss) for the year AT AT EIEARSF
attributable to: RiaF/ (B8 :
Owners of the Company AR RIHAB A 33,614 (70,771) (69,831) (135,838) (35,365)
Non-controlling interests ~ JEHRRR 2% - - = = (1,532)

33,614 (70,771) (69,831) (135,838) (36,897)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
At 30 June
RAB=1+H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“EC-RE ZENF Z—ZT-=F ZZE-_—fF ZZT-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TET TET TExT
Total assets BEMAE 555,733 501,147 620,591 718,848 1,000,454
Total liabilities BfREH (65,705) (67,104) (94,443) (109,275) (197,545)
490,028 434,043 526,148 609,573 802,909
@ The Group had disposed the new energy business during the year — * AEFBERBEE-_Z-—FXA=1THIFE
ended 30 June 2021. HEAEIRETR o
The new energy business has been presented as discontinued FREREBREBEE_ZE-_—FA=1TAHLHF
operations in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended BZREMBRMEPE2INAERIEEER -
30 June 2021.
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